
LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 183

  
  

 1   BEFORE THE ARIZONA POWER PLANT               LS 479
  

 2   AND TRANSMISSION LINE SITING COMMITTEE
  

 3   IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION OF  ) DOCKET NO.
   SOUTHLINE TRANSMISSION, LLC, IN      ) L-00000AAA-16-

 4   CONFORMANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS    ) 0370-00173
   OF ARIZONA REVISED STATUTES 40-360,  )

 5   ET SEQ., FOR A CERTIFICATE OF        )
   ENVIRONMENTAL COMPATIBILITY          )

 6   AUTHORIZING CONSTRUCTION OF THE      )
   NON-WAPA-OWNED ARIZONA PORTIONS OF   )

 7   THE SOUTHLINE TRANSMISSION PROJECT,  )
   INCLUDING A NEW APPROXIMATELY        ) EVIDENTIARY

 8   66-MILE 345-KV TRANSMISSION LINE IN  ) HEARING ON REMAND
   COCHISE COUNTY FROM THE ARIZONA-NEW  )

 9   MEXICO BORDER TO THE PROPOSED        )
   SOUTHLINE APACHE SUBSTATION, THE     )

10   ASSOCIATED FACILITIES TO CONNECT     )
   THE SOUTHLINE APACHE SUBSTATION TO   )

11   THE ADJACENT AEPCO APACHE            )
   SUBSTATION, AND APPROXIMATELY 5      )

12   MILES OF NEW 138-KV AND 230-KV       )
   TRANSMISSION LINES AND ASSOCIATED    )

13   FACILITIES TO CONNECT THE EXISTING   )
   PANTANO, VAIL, DEMOSS PETRIE, AND    )

14   TORTOLITA SUBSTATIONS TO THE         )
   UPGRADED WAPA-OWNED 230-KV           )

15   APACHE-TUCSON AND TUCSON-SAGUARO     )
   TRANSMISSION LINES IN PIMA AND       )

16   PINAL COUNTIES.                      )
   __________________________________   )

17                                        )
  

18   At:       Tucson, Arizona
  

19   Date:     January 13, 2026
  

20   Filed:    January 16, 2026
  

21              REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
  

22                    (Pages 183 through 379)
  

23                          GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC
                 Court Reporting, Video & Videoconferencing

24              1555 East Orangewood Avenue, Phoenix, AZ 85020
                 602.266.6535   admin@glennie-reporting.com

25                        By:  Robin L. B. Osterode, CSR, RPR

                                  Arizona CR No. 50695
      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 184

  
  

 1   VOLUME I      January 12, 2026          Pages 1 to 182
  

 2   VOLUME II     January 13, 2026          Pages 183 to 379
  

 3
  

 4
  

 5                      INDEX TO PROCEEDINGS
  

 6   ITEM                                                PAGE
  

 7   Opening Statement of Ms. Grabel                       7
  

 8   Presentation of Virtual Tours                        91
  

 9   Public Comment Session                              171
  

10   Closing Statement of Ms. Grabel                    WAIVED
  

11   Deliberations                                       353
  

12   Vote CEC-173/ROO                                    376
  

13
  

14
  

15                     INDEX TO EXAMINATIONS
   WITNESSES                                           PAGE

16
   ED BECK, ISAAC PHILLIPS, DOUG PATTERSON,

17   COLIN AGNER - Applicant
  

18        Direct Examination by Ms. Grabel                18
  

19
   ISAAC PHILLIPS, DOUG PATTERSON,

20   COLIN AGNER, Cara BELLAVIA - Applicant
  

21        Direct Examination by Ms. Grabel               189
  

22
   ISAAC PHILLIPS, DOUG PATTERSON,

23   COLIN AGNER - Applicant
  

24        Direct Examination by Ms. Grabel               308
  

25

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 185

  
  

 1   INDEX (Continued):
  

 2                       INDEX TO EXHIBITS
  

 3   NO.         DESCRIPTION              IDENTIFIED  ADMITTED
  

 4   DESCRIPTION
  

 5   SL-1      Application to Amend           19         349
             Decision Nos. 75978 and

 6             77980 on Remand from the
             Arizona Corporation

 7             Commission Certificate of
             Environmental Compatibility

 8             (filed November 21, 2025)
  

 9   SL-2      Map of Proposed Project        11         349
  

10   SL-3      Testimony Summary of Isaac     22         349
             Phillips

11
   SL-4      Testimony Summary of Cara     189         349

12             Bellavia
  

13   SL-5      Testimony Summary of Doug      20         349
             Patterson

14
   SL-6      Testimony Summary of Colin     25         349

15             Agner
  

16   SL-7      Testimony Summary of Ed        23         349
             Beck

17
   SL-8      Witness Presentation           20         349

18
   SL-9      Virtual Tour                   92         349

19
   SL-10     Route Tour and Itinerary      349         349

20
   SL-11     Public Outreach               308         349

21
   SL-12     Southline Transmission, LLC   347         349

22             Ten-Year Plans
  

23   SL-13     Exhibits Regarding Notice     347         349
             Requirements

24
   SL-14     Receipt of Filing Fee         348         349

25

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 186

  
  

 1   INDEX (Continued):
  

 2                       INDEX TO EXHIBITS
  

 3   NO.         DESCRIPTION              IDENTIFIED  ADMITTED
  

 4   DESCRIPTION
  

 5   SL-15     Comment Letter from TEP re    305         349
             Southline Transmission

 6             Project
  

 7   SL-16     Proposed Certificate of       349         349
             Environmental Compatibility

 8             and Recommended Order and
             Opinion

 9
   SL-17     Supplement to Virtual          93         349

10             Tour   Google Earth Tour
  

11   SL-18     Additional Letters of         337         349
             Support

12
   CHM-1     PDF Version of CEC-173        354          FOR

13             and ROO                               REFERENCE
  

14
  

15
  

16
  

17
  

18
  

19
  

20
  

21
  

22
  

23
  

24
  

25

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 187

  
  

 1                 BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled
  

 2   and numbered matter came on regularly to be heard before
  

 3   the Arizona Power Plant and Transmission Line Siting
  

 4   Committee at Tucson Reid Park Doubletree, 445 South
  

 5   Alvernon Way, Tucson, Arizona, commencing at 9:00 a.m. on
  

 6   January 13, 2026.
  

 7
  

 8
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10        LEONARD C. DRAGO, Department of Environmental
             Quality

11        SAL DiCICCIO, Incorporated Cities and Towns
             (Videoconference appearance.)
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        2929 North Central Avenue, 20th Floor
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

 2   record.
  

 3                 Ms. Grabel, I believe you were about to
  

 4   call your second panel.
  

 5                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I am
  

 6   calling my second panel.  This panel, just to remind the
  

 7   committee, is composed of Isaac Phillips, Colin Agner,
  

 8   and Ms. Cara Bellavia is new to the panel, so we'll
  

 9   introduce her.  Ms. -- actually, let's swear had her in.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I was just going to say
  

11   that.  All right.
  

12                 (Cara Bellavia was duly affirmed by the
  

13        Chairman.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please proceed.
  

15                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you.
  

16   //
  

17   //
  

18   //
  

19   //
  

20   //
  

21   //
  

22   //
  

23   //
  

24   //
  

25   //
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 1     ISAAC PHILLIPS, DOUG PATTERSON, COLIN AGNER, and CARA
  

 2                           BELLAVIA,
  

 3   called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
  

 4   having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
  

 5   to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
  

 6   examined and testified as follows:
  

 7
  

 8               D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N
  

 9   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

10       Q.   Ms. Bellavia, please state your name and
  

11   business address for the record.
  

12       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Sure.
  

13            My name is Cara Bellavia.  I'm an employee Grid
  

14   United.  Our business address is 712 Main Street,
  

15   Suite 2500, Houston, Texas 77002.
  

16       Q.   By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
  

17       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) I work for Grid United, and I'm a
  

18   senior director of environmental for Grid United and the
  

19   environmental lead for Southline.
  

20       Q.   And what is your role in this matter?
  

21       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Environmental lead for Southline.
  

22   Apologies.
  

23       Q.   And if you could please turn to SL-4, which is
  

24   the testimony summary of Cara Bellavia.
  

25       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Yes.
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 1       Q.   Was SL-4 prepared by you or under your direction
  

 2   and control?
  

 3       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Yes.
  

 4       Q.   Are the contents of SL-4 true and correct to the
  

 5   best of your knowledge?
  

 6       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Yes.
  

 7       Q.   And do you have any changes you would make to
  

 8   SL-4?
  

 9       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) I do not.
  

10       Q.   Thank you.
  

11            Please go ahead and tell us about yourself.
  

12       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Great.
  

13            As stated, my name is Cara Bellavia.  I have a
  

14   bachelor's of arts in anthropology and a master's of
  

15   urban and environmental planning, both from Arizona State
  

16   University.  As I noted, I'm a senior director of
  

17   environmental for Grid United.  I have, unbelievably,
  

18   almost 30 years of environmental consulting experience in
  

19   Arizona and the Southwest in general.  I have managed or
  

20   participated on hundreds environmental permitting
  

21   processes, either managed or contributed as an expert.
  

22            I was the original project manager for the
  

23   Southline Environmental Impact Statement in a previous
  

24   life as a consultant.  So I was the project manager on
  

25   the EIS from 2011 to 2016.  And then I was also the
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 1   project manager for case 173, the original CEC for this
  

 2   project, and the subsequent amendment in 2020 for Vail to
  

 3   Tortolita, so I have been on this project a while.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.  Can you get a
  

 5   little closer to the microphone, please?
  

 6                 MS. BELLAVIA:  You bet.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 8                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's my background.  Do we
  

 9   want to go over anything else or any questions?
  

10   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

11       Q.   Please continue with your presentation.
  

12       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Great.
  

13       Q.   Thank you.
  

14       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Okay.  Can you hear me okay?  I'm
  

15   a little closer to the mic.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.
  

17                 MS. BELLAVIA:  More?  Okay.  Great.  Okay.
  

18                 So between myself, Mr. Agner, and
  

19   Mr. Phillips, we'll review the analysis as in the
  

20   application of the environmental factors.  The
  

21   application itself was -- does rely, to some degree, on
  

22   the analysis in the EIS that was finalized in 2015, but
  

23   in general, the actual application amendment is a
  

24   refreshed and updated analysis done in 2025, and that is
  

25   what you see in SL-1.  So when we are talking about most
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 1   of these environmental factors, you'll hear contemporary
  

 2   information.
  

 3                 I'll cover land use and recreation, as in
  

 4   Exhibits A, B, H, and F, also cultural resources as an
  

 5   Exhibit E.  Mr. Agner will cover biological resources and
  

 6   visual resources -- excuse me -- as in Exhibit C, D, E,
  

 7   and G, and then Mr. Phillips will cover noise and
  

 8   interference as Exhibit I.
  

 9                 One thing I wanted to mention, in the
  

10   application and in our conversation today or testimony,
  

11   at times we'll refer to the study area, which in general
  

12   is one mile around the corridor, except for cultural
  

13   resources, it's slightly smaller.  But we'll make sure
  

14   we're clear when we're talking about study area versus
  

15   corridor.  So I just wanted to kind of make that note
  

16   before we head into this discussion.
  

17                 I think I'm good.  Excuse me.
  

18                 I -- we have some information here in the
  

19   next few slides about land jurisdiction and ownership.  A
  

20   lot of this you might recall from our not one but two
  

21   tours yesterday, so I might not spend a ton of time on
  

22   some of the existing land use information, however, if
  

23   you would like me to stop and cover any of those details,
  

24   I will, but just since I think we got a pretty good look
  

25   yesterday I'll try to keep it focused.
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 1                 We have three jurisdictions that the
  

 2   corridor is within, unincorporated Cochise County,
  

 3   unincorporated Pima County, and then within the city
  

 4   limits of Benson and Tucson.  I think the -- about
  

 5   50 percent of the project is in Cochise County and the
  

 6   rest in Pima, so really kind of half and half.
  

 7                 Mr. Phillips touched on some of this a
  

 8   couple times yesterday with regard to land ownership.
  

 9   Arizona State Trust Land is most of the project area or
  

10   dominates at 57.3 percent.  That's about 33 miles of the
  

11   57-mile corridor.  And then the rest, you can see here,
  

12   private land and then some small pockets of Pima
  

13   County-owned land, the Coronado National Forest segment
  

14   and the BLM segment.  That's for the corridor itself, for
  

15   the study area it's consistent with those -- those land
  

16   ownership, land managers, again, private, BLM, Forest
  

17   Service, et cetera.
  

18                 On slide 78 on the screen on the right, I
  

19   just want to draw your attention to, this is just the
  

20   first of a 29-page map set that is in SL-1 as Exhibit
  

21   A-1.  And this exhibit in these series of maps show the
  

22   land ownership in more detail across the route, if you're
  

23   interested.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  (No audible response.)
  

 2                 THE REPORTER:  She's on mute.  Can't hear
  

 3   her.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You're on mute, Member
  

 5   Little, you bumped your microphone or something.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Apologies.  I'm curious
  

 7   what the little cross area is in that circle of the
  

 8   railroad.  What -- what is going to be the center line?
  

 9   What is going to be the actual line that's going to be
  

10   built?
  

11                 MS. BELLAVIA:  She's asking --
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, thank you.
  

13                 MS. BELLAVIA:  She's asking about the --
  

14                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can answer that
  

15   question.  So this is the point at which the WAPA 230
  

16   circuit terminates into the Apache Substation, and the
  

17   345 circuit from Southline continues on into New Mexico.
  

18   So what you're seeing here is one circuit separating --
  

19   the two circuits separating at the individual poles.  One
  

20   terminating into the substation, which is the one that
  

21   goes up and over.  And then the one that cuts immediately
  

22   south will actually connect to the 345 new build CEC
  

23   corridor and continue onward.
  

24                 And that's in coordination with the
  

25   AEPCO -- with AEPCO, who owns this whole parcel, and
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 1   we're getting final kind of approval from them on that
  

 2   exact configuration, because it's within their coal plant
  

 3   parcel, so we're working around their existing
  

 4   infrastructure, but the two -- the end of the WAPA
  

 5   corridor is here, and then from the little leg that kind
  

 6   of ends will continue on to the new-build CEC corridor.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

 8                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Okay.  Any other questions?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Great.  Again, I won't spend
  

11   a ton of time here because I think you got a good view of
  

12   this yesterday on our tours, but as you may recall,
  

13   within the one-mile study area and in the CEC corridor,
  

14   it's long stretches of sort of rural, undeveloped areas,
  

15   and then some pockets of residential, a few urban areas,
  

16   such as Benson, and then some of that existing
  

17   infrastructure, i.e., the other existing high-voltage
  

18   lines, gas lines, et cetera.
  

19                 One thing I wanted to note here, this was a
  

20   correction we actually made yesterday to Davis from David
  

21   Dam, but this is a bit of history of the line -- the
  

22   existing WAPA line itself that we're talking about
  

23   upgrading, is that it was built by Reclamation as part of
  

24   the Davis Dam Project in the 19- -- in 1950, and
  

25   connected to the existing system.
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 1                 Originally it only extended about 80 miles
  

 2   and then was expanded to Apache Substation in 1964.  But
  

 3   the transmission line itself came under WAPA's control in
  

 4   1977.  I always find that just kind of an interesting
  

 5   tidbit about this line we're talking about being so
  

 6   dated, so --
  

 7                 And then here on slide 80 on the screen on
  

 8   the right, similar to Exhibit A-1, this is Exhibit A-2,
  

 9   as in Exhibit SL-1, the amendment application.  And here
  

10   again, there is the first, I think this one is 28 pages,
  

11   showing some of the existing land uses, and that's based
  

12   on the National Lands Cover Database, NLCD is the
  

13   acronym, and so that's kind of showing some of those
  

14   existing uses based on modeling and some other
  

15   photogrammetry.  So, again, if you would like to refer to
  

16   any of those maps in detail, they're Exhibit A-1 to the
  

17   application.
  

18                 So move on to the next one, Colin.  Thank
  

19   you.
  

20                 In terms of planned land uses, there are
  

21   four plans that kind of oversee strategic future land use
  

22   in this area, one is the Cochise County Comprehensive
  

23   Plan, the other Pima County Comprehensive Plan, then two
  

24   general plans for the cities, City of Benson and City of
  

25   Tucson.  Again, these plans provide kind of strategic
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 1   future land use goals for these areas and, in general,
  

 2   obviously these plans were dated and developed, rather,
  

 3   after the existing WAPA line was built.  And in our
  

 4   review of those, their future land uses are considering
  

 5   the existing line in their plans.
  

 6                 Similarly, on slide 82, the screen on the
  

 7   right, this is Exhibit A-3 of the application SL-1, and
  

 8   again, you can see here this -- this is a map set, this
  

 9   one, 29 pages.  This is the easternmost end of the Apache
  

10   Substation.  And here you can see, again, if you'd like
  

11   some of the details on those planned land uses as in
  

12   those plans, they're detailed in this map set.  And this
  

13   is an example here where the whole area is categorized as
  

14   rural, however, you can see the existing Apache
  

15   Substation is there, the infrastructure, et cetera, and
  

16   then the line we would like to upgrade.
  

17                 The general kind of categories that you
  

18   might see in terms of the planned land uses in this area
  

19   are, again, rural, no surprise considering our review
  

20   yesterday, a small neighborhood conservation area in
  

21   Cochise County, some agriculture green space, low-density
  

22   residential in the city of Benson, the
  

23   municipal/institutional, I believe that's the golf
  

24   course.  The environmental sensitive -- the
  

25   environmentally sensitive area here you see for the city
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 1   of Benson is an overlay of the San Pedro River.
  

 2                 In Pima County, similar, you have rural,
  

 3   resource sensitive, and resource conservation areas, and
  

 4   then industrial on the west end of the Pima County
  

 5   portion of the line and urban industrial in the city of
  

 6   Tucson limits.
  

 7                 In addition to reviewing the comprehensive
  

 8   and general plans that I just mentioned, we also sent a
  

 9   letter to about 90 different jurisdictions and
  

10   stakeholders requesting information about existing and
  

11   planned uses, essentially requesting information that
  

12   might not be clear from their general plans or
  

13   comprehensive plans.  From those 90 different letters
  

14   that we sent out, those were sent on October 3rd -- an
  

15   example of that letter, by the way, is on slide 84 on the
  

16   right and also in Exhibit H of the application.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you have a
  

18   question?
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, thank
  

20   you.
  

21                 I'm -- I'm sorry, I'm lagging a little
  

22   behind here, but I do have some questions about -- about
  

23   the maps that show land ownership and some deviation from
  

24   the WAPA center line at Adams Substation, and then also
  

25   the next map over.  I'm looking at pages 9 and 10 of 29
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 1   in the land ownership maps.  I don't know if that helps
  

 2   you to know where I'm at here or --
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that to the -- is that
  

 4   to the application?
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, in the application.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 7                 MR. AGNER:  Give us one second, Member
  

 8   Little.  We're flipping to those pages on our side.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

10                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So on page 9 of 29, at the
  

11   Adams Tap Substation, what's being depicted is the
  

12   separation of the 230 and 345 circuit.  So, as mentioned
  

13   yesterday in the route tour, the Adams Tap Substation is
  

14   an existing tap on the 115 line that serves the Douglas,
  

15   Arizona load pocket.  The 230 upgrade will connect into
  

16   that Adams Tap Substation, but the 345 circuit on the
  

17   upgraded line will not.  And so what's being depicted is
  

18   the 230 circuit dropping into that tap and the 345
  

19   progressing right around it, so there will be a
  

20   separation of the two circuits where one taps into that
  

21   existing Adams Tap Substation and the 345 continues past
  

22   it without connecting into it.
  

23                 And so, typically, for a substation you
  

24   don't want to run the wire right over the top of it, so
  

25   it will be just on the north side of the property, which
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 1   is all State Land there and hence the request for the
  

 2   extended route on State Land to allow for some siting.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  So what isn't shown
  

 4   there is the existing 115-kV substation, which is --
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- kind of directly under
  

 7   the -- I mean, it's right under or adjacent to the
  

 8   existing 115-kV line?
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  We didn't -- we
  

10   didn't clarify the boundaries of that, but there's the
  

11   tapping equipment is directly underneath the line, and
  

12   then the actual switching station is a little bit to the
  

13   south where that -- the existing substation diagram is,
  

14   but we didn't circle the boundaries there.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  I recall that now
  

16   from yesterday's flyover.  Thank you.
  

17                 And on the next page, there's some
  

18   deviation of the center line from the corridor.  It
  

19   deviates, hard for me to tell, from the existing WAPA
  

20   center line, and I'm wondering what that's about.
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can speak to that.
  

22   So this is page 10 of 29 of the land ownership maps,
  

23   A-12.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So that WAPA center line is
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 1   the actual kind of center line portion, so as we're doing
  

 2   detail design and respotting a few poles, the actual
  

 3   center line kind of linear shape, it may shift very
  

 4   slightly within the WAPA existing right-of-way, so what I
  

 5   think we're depicting here is that there's just a slight
  

 6   shift at one of the angle poles, which is creating a
  

 7   slight misalignment in the two lines, but it's all within
  

 8   the WAPA right-of-way.
  

 9                 And that's just detail design happening
  

10   based on on-site, in State Trust Land, but based on, you
  

11   know, on-site conditions.  So there -- you know, as we
  

12   mentioned, because we are removing, potentially, 30-plus
  

13   or more poles, there will be some shifts in the actual
  

14   poles between the actual center line down the
  

15   right-of-way might shift slightly within that
  

16   right-of-way, which is being depicted but not, you know,
  

17   a whole shift of the right-of-way itself.
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Well, it's not that
  

19   big a deal as long as it's within the right-of-way.
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, and that's -- to the
  

21   point about the State Land right-of-way as well, looking
  

22   to work with State Land to extend it an additional 50
  

23   feet, you know, to allow for those sorts of design
  

24   shifts, would be beneficial just from a detail design
  

25   perspective.  It helps us minimize impacts when we can do
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 1   really detailed routing based on the existing ground
  

 2   conditions that we find when we survey.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 4                 Now, if you'd go to page 29 of 29 of the
  

 5   land ownership maps in the CEC application.  My
  

 6   question -- are you there?
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  One second.
  

 8                 Yes.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm a little curious about
  

10   all of that.  Looks like the upgrade route center line
  

11   terminates in the blue box, but the substation is
  

12   adjacent to that.  Is that a part of the substation?  Is
  

13   that an extension of the substation?
  

14                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That's a great question.  So
  

15   one of the challenges with the Vail Substation is that it
  

16   is such significant interconnection point for a number of
  

17   lines that TEP is constantly evaluating and upgrading,
  

18   that the exact approach angle changes over time, and so
  

19   what this is showing effectively is us requesting just
  

20   additional approval area for us to site a kind of
  

21   dead-end structure, if necessary, if that angle is the
  

22   final angle that gets determined to be necessary based on
  

23   TEP's construction within its own substation.
  

24                 Generally, the 2021 approval amendment gave
  

25   us approval over all of the hatched area -- the
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 1   cross-hatched area, the Vail-Tortolita upgrade route
  

 2   corridor, which gives us the majority of approach angles
  

 3   to Vail Substation.  The purpose of the blue box was
  

 4   effectively to allow the placement of one final pole, if
  

 5   necessary, to allow us to drop into the Vail Substation
  

 6   from a different angle, just because there's so much work
  

 7   going on at Vail, and so many other transmission lines
  

 8   approaching it, the design right around that segment is
  

 9   incredibly complex and will be beholden to TEP's ongoing
  

10   management plans of those -- that substation so, you
  

11   know, depending on the timing of our construction, it
  

12   could shift slightly within either the Vail-Tortolita
  

13   upgrade route corridor, which is already approved or
  

14   we're hoping to get this blue box approved as well for a
  

15   final structure, if necessary.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  All that makes
  

17   sense, but so we are being asked to approve the blue box
  

18   area also, then, not the -- not the section that is part
  

19   of the Vail to Tortolita, but from the end of that
  

20   corridor into the substation is a part of this
  

21   proceeding?
  

22                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  And just
  

23   transmission, not a sub- -- we're not proposing a
  

24   substation expansion here --
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, I understand that.
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  -- it's simply a kind of
  

 2   final structure.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Because it doesn't
  

 4   show -- I mean, there's a space there between the end of
  

 5   the corridor that was approved in that amendment, the
  

 6   existing amendment, and where the blue box is, so --
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Confusing.
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Understood, yeah.  I think
  

10   it might be that the box was created around the single
  

11   pole location, so it's not quite lining up in the
  

12   mapping, but the intention would be it's a connected
  

13   point to the -- to the route.
  

14                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Corridor.
  

15                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Corridor.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Okay.  Okay.  I
  

17   think -- I'm just kind of looking at the rest of the
  

18   little handy maps.  Apologies, but I'm all caught up now.
  

19   Thank you.
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.
  

21                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Pass the binder.
  

22                 Okay.  Any other questions before I get
  

23   back into the stakeholder outreach on land use planning?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please proceed.
  

25                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Thank you.
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 1                 As noted, we sent the letter to about 90
  

 2   stakeholders.  We did have responses from five.  And I'll
  

 3   walk through those.  Those are also, those responses
  

 4   themselves on slide 86 screenshots that are not legible
  

 5   at this scale but are legible in the application, those
  

 6   are on pages 8 -- sorry, H-10 through H-15 in Exhibit H
  

 7   of SL-1.
  

 8                 In general, the response from the Army
  

 9   Corps, you know, again, our letter was asking, hey, do
  

10   you have any future land use plans we should know about?
  

11   Their response was really not addressing that question
  

12   specifically, but more in the space of when will you be
  

13   submitting your 404 permit application?  And so we
  

14   responded to them.  We have been working with them on
  

15   some of the jurisdictional wash identification, but
  

16   essentially, that was their response was around if we
  

17   have jurisdictional waters, we will need a 404 permit and
  

18   would need to coordinate with them, to which we replied
  

19   yes, we will.  So -- and that is to say yes, we will
  

20   coordinate with them.
  

21                 We still are in the process of
  

22   understanding if we have Waters of the U.S. in the
  

23   upgrade.  Right now there's four inter- -- or sorry --
  

24   five intermittent washes that may possess those
  

25   characteristics.  And if they do, we would likely acquire
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 1   a Nationwide Permit 14, since it's really going to be
  

 2   about road use through those washes, rather than pole
  

 3   placement, because we can move the poles more than we can
  

 4   move roads.  In short, the Army Corps response again was
  

 5   around permitting under Section 404 of the Clean Water
  

 6   Act.
  

 7                 We did also receive a response from the
  

 8   Forest Service from the Coronado National Forest.  In
  

 9   their response they said you'll need a Special Use Permit
  

10   for your right-of-way.  We have had some back and forth
  

11   with them just indicating that WAPA does hold an existing
  

12   Special Use Permit for their current right-of-way across
  

13   the tip of the Coronado National Forest, which you saw
  

14   yesterday in Mr. Phillips' tour.  We do not have anything
  

15   scheduled yet, but have been discussing setting up a
  

16   meeting with them, just to make sure we're able to
  

17   clarify any of the sort of right-of-way and use
  

18   permitting requirements with the Coronado.  Again, it's
  

19   about .4 miles that was analyzed in the EIS, the Forest
  

20   participated in that process at the time and we'll
  

21   continue to coordinate with them on those needs.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  A question about that
  

25   Special Use Permit under the Forest Service.
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 1                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Uh-huh.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Obviously, Special Use
  

 3   Permits, you always get special instructions.  Obviously,
  

 4   then, because WAPA built their line through, they
  

 5   complied with everything --
  

 6                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Uh-huh.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  -- does the fact that
  

 8   you're changing the wires and the poles give Southline
  

 9   now a handful of new restrictions, and if so, what are
  

10   they?
  

11                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's a great question.
  

12   The truth is I don't actually have -- we haven't seen
  

13   WAPA's actual Special Use Permit with the Forest, so I
  

14   think it will be a discussion between WAPA and what they
  

15   believe their current rights are with regard to that
  

16   right-of-way and what the Forest would like.  It is
  

17   possible that that permit might need to be amended in
  

18   some fashion, and that additional measures might be
  

19   added.  We just don't know what those are now or if an
  

20   amendment is even necessary.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  But you said that
  

22   that would be a discussion between Forest Service and
  

23   WAPA.
  

24                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes, well, we'll participate
  

25   in that discussion, obviously, because we have potential
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 1   interest in constructing the project.  So it really --
  

 2   it's a land right, that right-of-way, and so we have to
  

 3   kind of honor the land right agreement between WAPA and
  

 4   the Forest Service.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  But you have not seen that
  

 6   as yet and you don't know -- you've kind of got a black
  

 7   box hanging over your head?
  

 8                 MS. BELLAVIA:  It's part of this meeting we
  

 9   plan to have with the Forest Service this month to sort
  

10   of understand that in more detail.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And they're going to
  

13   provide that permit to you in advance of this meeting so
  

14   you can prepare to discuss what it currently allows and
  

15   what it needs to be changed, potentially?
  

16                 MS. BELLAVIA:  The -- that WAPA provide the
  

17   Forest Special Use Permit?  I mean, we can ask for it.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I mean, it seems like --
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Seems like they'd want it.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, it seems like that's
  

21   the relevant document that determines what the rights are
  

22   and whether you need to amendment it or not.
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yeah.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's kind of need to see
  

25   that to begin the discussions, otherwise you're
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 1   just -- it doesn't seem like a point to it, so --
  

 2                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yeah.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, you had a
  

 4   question?
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 6                 Minor point.  That small Forest parcel --
  

 7   National Forest parcel, does that have trees on it or is
  

 8   it an open parcel?
  

 9                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's a good question.  Let
  

10   me look at the land use map.  Hold a moment.
  

11                 I know there are four poles.  I can answer
  

12   that question, which isn't the one you asked.  Hold on a
  

13   second, I just found it.
  

14                 I'm looking at page A-6 of Exhibit A-1 to
  

15   answer your question.  It looks like there's maybe some
  

16   scrub desert, but I don't see that there's like a
  

17   riparian area, for example, similar to the San Pedro.
  

18   And I don't recall that -- I'm just looking a little
  

19   closer.  Hold on, please.  Oh, Isaac has the Camzi.  That
  

20   looks like spotty vegetation --
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Desert scrub.
  

22                 MS. BELLAVIA:  -- desert scrub.  It looks
  

23   like we would have very limited need to clear vegetation.
  

24                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And one point of
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 1   clarification as well, when it comes to the Special Use
  

 2   Permit and the rest of the right-of-way, so the intention
  

 3   as we coordinate with WAPA, WAPA will maintain ownership
  

 4   of all of its right-of-way, the underlying right-of-way
  

 5   so that they will be the long-term owner of the actual
  

 6   right-of-way agreements.  And, you know, will act in a
  

 7   lead role in a lot of the coordination directly with
  

 8   right-of-way owners and we'll be partnering with them to
  

 9   manage construction.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  A follow-up question, then,
  

13   to that, Mr. Phillips.  So, essentially, and I must have
  

14   missed this when you covered it yesterday, essentially,
  

15   you're obtaining from WAPA clear documentation on all of
  

16   their -- their right-of-way, which it would include
  

17   accessing them, getting the poles out, getting the new
  

18   pole in, dragging the lines, blah, blah, blah, so they're
  

19   guaranteeing to you that it will all fit together and
  

20   everybody will be happy and clap their hands.
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  They will be
  

22   providing -- you know, still under kind of a negotiation
  

23   of the exact participation agreement, but in similar
  

24   formats what they've done is provide an outgrant
  

25   agreement to the entity that they're coordinating with
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 1   and partnering with that allows them to take certain
  

 2   actions like construct, own, operate on existing WAPA
  

 3   right-of-way.
  

 4                 We will have our own internal diligence and
  

 5   are completing our own internal diligence on all
  

 6   documentation.  Some of the more nuanced will just
  

 7   require WAPA to be in the room, like the Special Use
  

 8   Permit or coordination to BLM, they will be involved in
  

 9   discussing that with the counter-parties.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  But it's up to them to make
  

11   sure that everybody's happy?
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

14                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And we have our own
  

15   obligations, public engagement, you know, coordination
  

16   relating to our activities on the ground, so I would say
  

17   it's not only up to WAPA, yup.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Thank you so much.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

21                 I'm a little confused about the -- the
  

22   coordination, if you will, or the nexus between the
  

23   federal work that was done -- excuse me -- and the
  

24   permits that WAPA holds and you guys.  If you're going to
  

25   build and operate this line, but WAPA holds the
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 1   right-of-ways, I don't understand how that's going to
  

 2   work.  You know, with a CEC, if you sell the line to
  

 3   somebody else, then the CEC gets transferred to them
  

 4   under the same conditions.
  

 5                 Is that not the case with what -- what WAPA
  

 6   has as far as right-of-ways and permits and all of the,
  

 7   you know, I'm not real knowledgeable about how all the
  

 8   federal processes go, and it's confusing to me?
  

 9                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I can answer the part --
  

10   Member Little, I can answer the part about what, let's
  

11   say, the original EIS analyzed and what the decisions
  

12   were with regard to the federal government, and then
  

13   maybe Isaac can elaborate on kind of the roles part of
  

14   that question.  So the basics of the original EIS were
  

15   BLM had a decision to make about the -- our request for
  

16   right-of-way application, so that was their decision to
  

17   approve, deny, or approve with modifications our request
  

18   for right-of-way.
  

19                 WAPA's decision was really about would they
  

20   let Southline participate in the upgrade of the 115 line.
  

21   So really that's how WAPA's and BLM's decisions were --
  

22   that was their decision space and that was kind of what
  

23   was analyzed in the EIS.  Now, the whole line was
  

24   analyzed, but basically it was BLM deciding about the
  

25   right-of-way -- their right-of-way on BLM land and WAPA
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 1   deciding whether or not to allow us to upgrade the line,
  

 2   and that's not your full question, but I just wanted to
  

 3   sort of clarify that was the federal decision space, but
  

 4   maybe Isaac, you can --
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, the other part of the
  

 6   question, I think it's worth noting, we're not actually
  

 7   taking ownership of any federal assets.  So they're not
  

 8   transferring ownership of their right-of-way, they're not
  

 9   transferring ownership of the existing structures, you
  

10   know, that's being rebuilt.  And then they will maintain
  

11   ownership of a circuit and we will maintain ownership of
  

12   a circuit, and the remaining infrastructure is still
  

13   under discussion.
  

14                 So there's not a transfer in ownership
  

15   between WAPA and Southline of the existing assets, it's a
  

16   partnership where we're taking on scope within that
  

17   right-of-way.  I would say that we will be securing any
  

18   necessary approvals for construction in coordination with
  

19   WAPA, but any new approvals for interstate crossings or,
  

20   you know, other encumbrances that are identified through
  

21   our process we have to secure, in addition to what WAPA
  

22   has already done for the existing right-of-way and
  

23   project.
  

24                 So thinking about the coordination that
  

25   we're doing with the local jurisdictions, you know,
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 1   building permits, et cetera, that are typically
  

 2   preconstruction, we are resecuring those, as necessary,
  

 3   for any construction activities.  The underlying
  

 4   right-of-way is not transferring an ownership, it's more
  

 5   so that, you know, WAPA maintains it, secures any
  

 6   additional changes necessary, and then we are provided,
  

 7   you know, an outgrant so that we can perform the work
  

 8   that's agreed to with WAPA.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That brings up a question
  

10   in my mind, you know, the private landowners, they're --
  

11   the right-of-way that they granted to WAPA 75 years ago,
  

12   under what's happening now, I mean, if WAPA were to
  

13   upgrade their line the way it was originally envisioned,
  

14   it seems to me, and I'm not a lawyer, I'm an engineer,
  

15   but it seems to me that the right-of-way would still be
  

16   in -- in force, if WAPA rebuilt the line, because the
  

17   right-of-way was granted to WAPA.
  

18                 The fact that you guys are going to rebuild
  

19   the line, it still seems kind of mushy to me, do those
  

20   landowners have any rights to say, wait a minute, my, you
  

21   know, the right-of-way grant that I -- that this land is
  

22   was with WAPA, not with Southline.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So I'll say I'm not a land
  

24   attorney, so we'll just qualify what I can answer today,
  

25   and then we might need to come back with additional
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 1   questions, but the underlying grant is not changing in
  

 2   ownership.  And we are performing work in partnership
  

 3   with WAPA.  So all the restrictions within those
  

 4   easements are -- will be followed, you know, if any and
  

 5   all restrictions within easements are followed, and then,
  

 6   you know, WAPA provides only the approvals that they are
  

 7   allowed to under those underlying agreements.  So we do
  

 8   have to follow existing easements and have the necessary
  

 9   land rights to perform this, but this is a structure that
  

10   has been utilized for other projects kind of consistently
  

11   around the West.  It's being utilized currently for Vail
  

12   to Tortolita.  It's something that has been in practice
  

13   for a while, so that's -- that's what I can say without
  

14   additional feedback.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I guess --
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- kind of in that same
  

18   vein, so the right-of-way that WAPA holds, the easements
  

19   across the private property, you're not privy to the
  

20   terms of those easements yet, are you?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We are receiving them, but
  

22   in double-checking, but generally, easements for this
  

23   sort of infrastructure are relatively flexible for
  

24   long-term upgrades, you know, improvements on the line,
  

25   et cetera, especially those from 75 years ago, which the
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 1   technology was a little less specific, I would say, than
  

 2   the more modern easements, but provided a lot of leeway,
  

 3   especially for the federal government when they were
  

 4   executing these.
  

 5                 And, frankly, there wasn't a lot of
  

 6   development 75 years ago.  So a lot of these easements
  

 7   are from old state transfers to the federal land that
  

 8   have now been given to private landowners that have been
  

 9   built on top of the existing easements.  So it's, you
  

10   know, a complicated history, land history out here, but
  

11   WAPA was one of the earliest, you know, land rights
  

12   owners out here, so these easements do go back a long
  

13   time, and are being utilized in this way across kind of a
  

14   wide span of WAPA's right-of-way, like on other segments
  

15   of their system.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So from WAPA's
  

17   perspective, building the double circuit 230/245-kV [sic]
  

18   line, that complies with the terms of all the easements
  

19   they have crossed for the extent of this line, correct?
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I can't speak for WAPA, but,
  

21   you know, we can't do any work that's not approve -- that
  

22   we don't have the legal right to do.  So WAPA is not
  

23   granting us a right to do anything that they don't have
  

24   the right to do.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  So it seems that --
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 1   well, I guess -- I guess, to Member Little's question, I
  

 2   guess yours is more about the terms of the easement, what
  

 3   rights the property owners have to say when they -- when
  

 4   they change what the line is, is that kind of what you
  

 5   were getting at?
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.  Thank you.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 8                 MS. GRABEL:  And if I can jump in.
  

 9       Q.   Mr. Phillips, isn't it the case that WAPA
  

10   retains its right-of-way, they're not conveying the
  

11   right-of-way to you, correct?
  

12       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS)  Correct.  Correct.
  

13       Q.   And all of the actions that you were doing was
  

14   in coordination with WAPA --
  

15       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS)  Correct.
  

16       Q.   -- and it's really WAPA's management of its own
  

17   right-of-way with the private property owners, correct?
  

18       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Correct.
  

19       Q.   All right.  Thank you.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  So you're almost
  

21   like a sublessee or something?
  

22                 MS. GRABEL:  Something like that.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's not what it is, but
  

24   it's -- the arrangement is similar because it's their
  

25   right to do it, and they're allowing you to --
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  There will be no
  

 2   transfer in ownership of the right-of-way.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Member Fant, you
  

 4   have a question?
  

 5                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

 6                 Do you have a written agreement allocating
  

 7   liability between yourself and Western on the dual
  

 8   circuit portion of the line?  In other words, if the line
  

 9   falls down and lands on someone's prized horse, who pays
  

10   for the horse?
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  The partnership agreement
  

12   between WAPA and Southline is still under negotiation and
  

13   pending kind of a lot of the engineering, et cetera, work
  

14   that's been managed over time, but all of those items
  

15   would be covered under those participation agreements,
  

16   and similar structure to participation agreements that
  

17   were created for the Vail to Tortolita segment, which was
  

18   being constructed currently, we're aiming to follow that
  

19   exact kind of structure with the split in
  

20   responsibilities in ownership.
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  The -- the same agreement
  

22   you're negotiating, will it have an assignment clause, so
  

23   you're able to a assign your rights, your portion, not
  

24   Western's rights, to a third party, even your own
  

25   subsidiary?
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Typically, there are
  

 2   assignments, I would say that -- I can't speak to the
  

 3   exact specifications about what those will be and what
  

 4   will be agreed to by Western, but I also will note that
  

 5   Western is very careful in their partnerships and
  

 6   ensuring that the infrastructure is sound and can support
  

 7   their, you know, customers long term, so they're not
  

 8   going to be allowing, you know, parties that they don't
  

 9   trust to enter partnership with them.
  

10                 MEMBER FANT:  And the reason I ask that is
  

11   if you go to assign your CEC to a third party, whatever
  

12   rights and obligations you negotiated with Western, are
  

13   those assumable by the new third party if the CEC gets
  

14   transferred?  And you can't answer that yet, because you
  

15   haven't negotiated it, but --
  

16                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I would assume any
  

17   obligations, responsibilities, or requirements that we
  

18   are bound to will be transferred to any long-term owner.
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, just -- just thinking
  

20   out loud -- thinking out loud as an attorney, something
  

21   you might want to have in there is the ability to assign
  

22   all your rights under that partnership agreement to a
  

23   third party, if only to assign your rights to a
  

24   subsidiary of your own corporate entity, you know, your
  

25   own chosen entity.
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.
  

 2                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So tell me if I'm wrong,
  

 4   but my recollection of your testimony was that WAPA's
  

 5   going to own a circuit, Southline's going to own a
  

 6   circuit, but the rest of the equipment was still under
  

 7   discussion, under negotiation, so that's the poles,
  

 8   right?  It hasn't been decided yet who is going to
  

 9   physically own the poles?
  

10                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Making sure I wasn't
  

12   missing something there.  All right.  Thanks.
  

13                 Member Kryder?
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  This is a really great
  

15   discussion.  So my question goes up another hundred feet
  

16   or so, and that is, is there agreement in place for the
  

17   entire length, not just the portion for this CEC, but the
  

18   entire length from wherever it begins in New Mexico all
  

19   the way to its far end, is that in place or is it still
  

20   being negotiated between WAPA and Southline?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So the scope of the
  

22   coordination between WAPA and Southline is limited to the
  

23   upgrade segment.  So WAPA's engagement and involvement in
  

24   the process, outside of the NEPA process, which they were
  

25   a co-lead on the NEPA, but from a land rights
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 1   construction perspective, WAPA's responsibilities and
  

 2   engagement in the process are from between Vail and
  

 3   Apache, not including Vail-Tortolita, which they were
  

 4   involved in as well, but now it's between TEP and WAPA.
  

 5                 So that is where their involvement in the
  

 6   process -- in the project ends is the Apache Substation
  

 7   in Cochise County, and that is the agreement.  So we do
  

 8   have, you know, a development agreement in place with
  

 9   WAPA and a cost reimbursement agreement in place with
  

10   WAPA.  We're negotiating the final arrangement relating
  

11   to the long-term participation agreement of the final
  

12   project.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  I'll just have to
  

14   think about that.  Thank you.
  

15                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Any other questions?
  

16                 (No response.)
  

17                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Okay.  All right.  I touched
  

18   on the Army Corps and the Forest Service.  You can see
  

19   here, and also in the Exhibit H letters, we did receive a
  

20   great email from Pima County.  They did provide some
  

21   comments, which were incidentally consistent with some
  

22   comments we received from the County at multiple stages
  

23   during the NEPA process.
  

24                 In short, their concerns were about the
  

25   proximity of poles to the Arizona Trail, which we saw
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 1   yesterday, disturbance to, outside of, rather, the WAPA
  

 2   right-of-way within Bar V Ranch or, rather, requesting
  

 3   that we not expand the right-of-way within Bar V Ranch.
  

 4   Again, that was consistent with comments in the EIS in
  

 5   which was submitted to by the BLM and Western through
  

 6   their Records of Decision.
  

 7                 They also asked that if we are using gates
  

 8   on Bar V Ranch that we would coordinate with them.  And
  

 9   then that we give one-month notice prior to construction,
  

10   in general, and then also regarding the trail to place
  

11   poles as far away from the trail as possible.
  

12                 We did reply to that email, just indicating
  

13   we would like to work with them as we're working on the
  

14   design and pole placement, and in the intervening time
  

15   we've also met with multiple departments within the
  

16   County, such as floodplain, planning, and zoning, and
  

17   facilities, and will continue to work with the County to
  

18   make sure their requirements for work within the
  

19   right-of-way or outside of the right-of-way are
  

20   coordinated.
  

21                 Moving on, we also sent a letter to Arizona
  

22   Game & Fish.  I understand it's common for Arizona Game &
  

23   Fish Department to reply to letters of inquiry and in
  

24   this case, they really didn't -- they indicated they did
  

25   not have any comments for the project.  As you may
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 1   remember from Mr. Phillips' testimony yesterday, we are
  

 2   working with Arizona Game & Fish on the Willcox Playa
  

 3   Wildlife Area Enhancement Project.  They were an active
  

 4   cooperating agency during the EIS, and are an active
  

 5   partner now through our coordination with them on the
  

 6   wildlife area enhancement.
  

 7                 And then, finally, we did receive a letter
  

 8   from TEP, and their response was just that they had no
  

 9   objections to the -- our request to amend Decision 75978
  

10   and 77980.
  

11                 Moving on, unless there's questions.  Okay.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please proceed.
  

13                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I'll touch on these briefly.
  

14   Many of these, again, you saw in both of our tours
  

15   yesterday, there are a handful of sort of what we'll call
  

16   formally identified recreation areas in the CEC corridor
  

17   and study area.  You saw the Pima County Fairgrounds,
  

18   they're near the Vail Substation.  We do cross the
  

19   Arizona National Scenic Trial, as we mentioned.  That's
  

20   east of State Route 83 and I-10.  The Bar V Ranch, those
  

21   are conservation lands acquired by Pima County, I think
  

22   around 2004 or 2005, and the right-of-way is within the
  

23   boundaries of Bar V Ranch.  And then Cienega Creek
  

24   Natural Preserve, we do not cross that, but it is about
  

25   .85 miles north of the CEC corridor and within the study
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 1   area.
  

 2                 Within sort of the city of Benson area,
  

 3   there's two City parks, they're both south of I-10, not
  

 4   within the CEC corridor, but are within the CEC study
  

 5   area.  The San Pedro River, of course we talked about
  

 6   that yesterday, I'm sure we'll have questions today.  We
  

 7   do cross the San Pedro River, the existing right-of-way
  

 8   does, and then we cross the San Pedro Golf Course, which
  

 9   is just on the west side of the river.
  

10                 And those are sort of the formally
  

11   designated areas, you know, I say more broadly on Arizona
  

12   state lands on the Coronado National Forest and on area
  

13   of BLM lands, there generally is sort of dispersed
  

14   recreation, such as hiking, biking, camping, et cetera.
  

15                 I-10 and SR-83, you know, we probably are
  

16   the primary access routes to those sort of recreational
  

17   opportunities in the area.  And I believe, as we
  

18   mentioned yesterday, our sort of construction access
  

19   planning is in progress.  I imagine we'll need to make
  

20   use of those highways in some fashion, but we'll have to
  

21   coordinate with Arizona Department of Transportation, of
  

22   course.  And also don't expect to sort of impact access
  

23   to these resources as a result of construction.
  

24                 And then, finally, I believe it's in the
  

25   factor language and the regulations, but we don't have
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 1   any plans to sort of manage recreational uses within this
  

 2   CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, sir.
  

 6                 Going back to the top of slide 87 there,
  

 7   Pima County Fairgrounds, yesterday we saw in the virtual
  

 8   visits that there were some racetracks and such involved.
  

 9   Is that all Pima County Fairground or is it all County
  

10   land that is -- includes a fairground and a racetrack,
  

11   and a firing range and such?
  

12                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I'll have to follow-up that
  

13   question, I don't know specifically.  I think I do, but I
  

14   don't want to guess.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Because I was
  

16   referring back mentally to your statement that your study
  

17   area was much broader than the corridor.  And there was
  

18   no mention made of the firing range, which is just to the
  

19   northwest of the fairgrounds, and yet, I think it would
  

20   probably be within your one mile of the center line, I
  

21   don't know, but I was wondering if that had been
  

22   considered at all?
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  It looks like the firing
  

24   range is within the fairgrounds complex, so I think we
  

25   were, in this case and to your question, considering the
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 1   firing range as part of the County fairgrounds complex.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  As a part of the complex,
  

 3   okay.
  

 4                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Is it within the one-mile
  

 6   of your center line?
  

 7                 MR. AGNER:  Generally, the Pima County
  

 8   Fairgrounds is within -- excuse me -- the one-mile study
  

 9   area where the shooting range is specifically within the
  

10   complex, I can't say for sure, but the fairgrounds
  

11   complex is within the study area, yes.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  It is actually about
  

13   1/10 of a mile north, and immediately to the west.
  

14                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I'm doing a quick
  

15   measurement currently.  It looks like it is -- the
  

16   shooting range is just outside of the one-mile buffer,
  

17   it's close, a couple hundred feet.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Within a shot, huh?
  

19   Thanks.
  

20                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Okay.  The discussion we
  

21   just had was really about the sort of existing conditions
  

22   with regard to land use and recreation, and we kind of
  

23   look at the expected impacts, potentially, to land use,
  

24   as I'm sure you heard us say many times, this line
  

25   predates most of the uses in the corridor and study area.
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 1   When we did a review of the zoning categories for the,
  

 2   again, Cochise County and Pima County and cities of
  

 3   Benson and City of Tucson, those are on slide 90 here.
  

 4   You can see the detail of the types of zones within the
  

 5   corridor in this case, I believe.  And through our
  

 6   review, transmission is an allowable use within these
  

 7   corridors.
  

 8                 As I mentioned we have been meeting with
  

 9   Pima County.  Our lands team has been meeting with
  

10   Cochise County.  We continue to coordinate with the
  

11   cities to ensure there are no other use planning needs,
  

12   and at this time it does not look like we will need any
  

13   kind of use permits.
  

14                 You want to advance.
  

15                 Again, looking at the general and
  

16   comprehensive plans for the two cities and the two
  

17   counties, as we've talked about, the project, the
  

18   corridor is within, you know, crosses a lot of rural
  

19   land, some are low-density and residential planned uses.
  

20   Those plans, again, provide sort of strategic future uses
  

21   for the area, for the area they're managing, and consider
  

22   the existing WAPA line in those plans.  And, really, in
  

23   the review of their plans we know the existing
  

24   transmission line or upgrading it as we propose, does not
  

25   preclude those future uses because they're considering
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 1   the line in those plans.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you have a
  

 3   question?
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Thank
  

 5   you.
  

 6                 I'm just curious, on some of the maps you
  

 7   show planned use of the category neighborhood
  

 8   conservation and resource sensitive.  Can you tell me
  

 9   what those are?
  

10                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes.  I think I know where
  

11   the neighborhood conservation is.  I think it's Mescal.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

13                 MS. BELLAVIA:  We're looking.  Hold a
  

14   moment.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mescal is the neighborhood
  

16   conservation --
  

17                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes.
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- and then the resource
  

19   sensitive is on beyond that or to the west of that.
  

20                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Looking
  

21   at -- I think you're looking at the maps and I'm going to
  

22   refer to some text in Exhibit B-4 -- sorry, Exhibit B, on
  

23   page B-4, which does provide a bit of a definition for
  

24   neighborhood conservation, and that's based on the
  

25   Cochise County Comprehensive Plan and it states,
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 1   neighborhood conservation is "an area having an
  

 2   established character, which is primarily residential and
  

 3   which needs special rezoning protections to maintain the
  

 4   character of land use that occurs."
  

 5                 Again, because the line predates that
  

 6   community, the transmission line is an allowable use, if
  

 7   that's your question.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  The existing transmission
  

 9   line is an allowable use, but changing it is allowed?
  

10                 MR. AGNER:  Member Little, I can generally
  

11   speak to that question.  So transmission uses usually
  

12   within zoning here in Arizona, it does not normally
  

13   restrict, like, the voltage of the lines or the upgrading
  

14   of the line.  Normally if it's an allowable use it, by
  

15   inherently being allowed, you're also allowed to upgrade
  

16   the line as well without needing to seek permission to
  

17   change the zoning or do anything underlying to the
  

18   established zone with the jurisdiction that it's under.
  

19   Normally if it's just allowed you're also allowed to make
  

20   upgrades to the transmission line as well.
  

21                 And I think to what Cara said, just to
  

22   briefly touch on it, that neighborhood conservation
  

23   mentioned rezoning.  Just to clarify, we do not need to
  

24   rezone any of the zones that we cross for the CEC Apache
  

25   to Vail upgrade route, so the mention of being careful
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 1   about rezoning would not necessarily apply here, because
  

 2   rezoning does not need to occur.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.  Answers my
  

 4   question.  And just for curiosity sake, then, what is
  

 5   "resource sensitive"?
  

 6                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's in Pima County, B-6.
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Apologies.  I guess I
  

 8   should have found that in my reading.
  

 9                 MS. BELLAVIA:  No, it's a good question.
  

10   Member Little, do you have the map that you're looking at
  

11   in the exhibit?
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It is 17 of 29 in the
  

13   planned land use.
  

14                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Thank you.  That's helpful.
  

15   I can keep hunting.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It says, "Pima County
  

17   General Plan."
  

18                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes.  Oh, yes, thank you.  I
  

19   was just looking ahead at a few maps, just to make sure I
  

20   understood the full context of that.  That resource
  

21   sensitive area depicted, as you mentioned, on page 19
  

22   extends to page 21.  That looks like it is consistent
  

23   with the boundaries of the Bar V Ranch, which are, I
  

24   think I mentioned just a bit ago, the conservation and
  

25   lands acquired by Pima County.  While there are some
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 1   private lands that were acquired in 2004 and 2005, about
  

 2   1,700 acres, and the remainder of those conservation
  

 3   lands are, I believe, under lease to the State, so it's
  

 4   about a 20,000 acre area called Bar V Ranch that is a
  

 5   conservation area managed by Pima County.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  And that's not -- obviously
  

 7   not an issue or you guys would have told us, right, to
  

 8   put transmission there?
  

 9                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes, they're -- yes, the
  

10   Pima County did comment during the NEPA process, and I
  

11   believe there is an actual mitigation measure I can pull
  

12   up in a moment that essentially the County's comments
  

13   then and even in their letter in response to our letter H
  

14   were essentially asking that we not expand the
  

15   right-of-way or disturb during construction of the
  

16   transmission line, you know, outside of the current
  

17   right-of-way in Bar V Ranch, because they are
  

18   conservation lands.  And the BLM and Western's response
  

19   to that request was correct, we won't expand the
  

20   right-of-way or create disturbance, you know, in Bar V
  

21   Ranch.  So, really, that's been kind of the conversation,
  

22   was, again, their original comments during the NEPA
  

23   process and in some of our current coordination is just
  

24   ensuring that the construction and the transmission
  

25   structures are limited to the current right-of-way.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

 2                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes.
  

 3                 I'm good.
  

 4   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 5       Q.   Please continue.
  

 6       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Thank you.
  

 7            I think, in summary, what I'll say about the
  

 8   information on slides 91 and 92 and also outlined in the
  

 9   Exhibits A, B, and H and in the application with regard
  

10   to land use, in general, because this line exists, these
  

11   planned land uses, zones, et cetera, have kind of been
  

12   developed around the existence of this line and, as
  

13   Colin, Mr. Agner, mentioned, zoning in Arizona sort of
  

14   allows for -- isn't voltage restricted, we believe that
  

15   the proposed upgrade of the line is consistent with
  

16   planned land uses and existing zoning in these areas.
  

17            Move on.  Colin is my PowerPoint guy, so --
  

18            That concludes the sort of summary of land use
  

19   and recreation, if there are no other questions, I'll
  

20   hand it off to Mr. Agner to discuss biological resources.
  

21       Q.   Please proceed.
  

22       A.   (MR. AGNER) Okay.  Thank you, Cara.
  

23            I'll start by just providing a little bit of
  

24   background for the committee.  As mentioned previously,
  

25   the project has gone through the NEPA process, including
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 1   the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route.  As part of the
  

 2   NEPA process, the BLM and WAPA extensively analyzed the
  

 3   existing conditions of biological resources and the
  

 4   potential impacts that the project would have to
  

 5   biological resources, including the CEC Apache to Vail
  

 6   upgrade route.  And the existing conditions and the
  

 7   potential impacts are documented within the project EIS.
  

 8            So just all that to say that a detailed
  

 9   biological review was conducted for the project,
  

10   including the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route, as part
  

11   of the NEPA process.  Additionally, I do want to note
  

12   that, as part of the Section 7 Consultation process, BLM
  

13   and WAPA for federally protected species consulted with
  

14   the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and that resulted in
  

15   a biological opinion.  And that largely concurred with
  

16   BLM and WAPA's analysis on biological resources, and that
  

17   biological opinion included required conservation
  

18   measures that are now in the proponent-committed
  

19   environmental measures or PCEMs, for short.
  

20            And just to let the committee know, as part of a
  

21   condition of the CEC, the PCEMs are required to be
  

22   followed already as a condition of the CEC, and should
  

23   the CEC be approved, that condition would carry over for
  

24   the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route.  So the PCEMs would
  

25   need to be followed for this particular portion of the
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 1   route.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And do those PCEMs require
  

 3   bird diverters in the crossing of the San Pedro?
  

 4                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes, they do.  I looked into
  

 5   that yesterday to confirm, and it does -- what it asks
  

 6   for in the PCEMs is line-marking devices and it lists a
  

 7   number of options that we would determine in coordination
  

 8   with Fish and Wildlife.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

10                 MR. AGNER:  And then, as Cara mentioned in
  

11   her testimony, we reviewed the biological resource study
  

12   that was done as part of the NEPA process, and updated it
  

13   to contemporary standards.  And the way that we did that
  

14   is we consulted desktop data sources, including the U.S.
  

15   Fish and Wildlife Information for Planning and
  

16   Consultation or IPaC tool, as well as the Arizona Game &
  

17   Fish Department Online Environmental Review Tool.  We
  

18   also looked at other desktop sources, including land
  

19   cover, elevational data, as well as consulting species
  

20   information from a variety of trusted sources.
  

21                 We also -- SWCA has done numerous previous
  

22   surveys for the project, including the CEC Apache to Vail
  

23   upgrade route, and have ongoing studies currently
  

24   happening as well for the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

25   route, and those informed our analysis that are included
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 1   in Exhibits C and D of the application.
  

 2                 So the first place I want to start with is
  

 3   areas of biological wealth.  So to set the stage for the
  

 4   committee, SWCA defines an area of biological wealth as
  

 5   any habitat, feature, or location that might serve to
  

 6   provide important, unique, or concentrated resources for
  

 7   biological resources in a broader landscaped context.
  

 8                 And so with that definition, we identified
  

 9   nine areas of biological wealth, including two Endangered
  

10   Species Act designated critical habitats, three
  

11   conservation opportunity areas or COAs, and four wildlife
  

12   linkage and connectivity areas.
  

13                 And there on slide 98, you can see the
  

14   three COAs and the four wildlife linkage and connectivity
  

15   areas.  The designated critical habitat map will be shown
  

16   on slide 100, which I'll get to next.  Although nine
  

17   areas of biological wealth were identified, we wanted to
  

18   focus on the two ESA-designated critical habitats, as
  

19   those are the most sensitive areas and also are
  

20   regulated, so we wanted to cover those for the committee.
  

21                 So as I mentioned, there are designated
  

22   critical habitats within the study area for two species.
  

23   The first species I'll go over is the Northern Mexican
  

24   gardener [sic] snake.  The designated critical habitat,
  

25   as you can see on the left-hand portion of slide 100, is
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 1   the filled blue area, and roughly follows Cienega Creek.
  

 2   And as you can see on the map on the left-hand portion of
  

 3   slide 100, the CEC corridor for the CEC Apache to Vail
  

 4   upgrade route does cross that designated critical
  

 5   habitat.
  

 6                 The second designated critical habitat is
  

 7   for yellow-billed cuckoo.  And, as you can see on the
  

 8   left-hand portion of slide 100, there is designated
  

 9   critical habitat for yellow-billed cuckoo, associated
  

10   with the Cienega Creek, however, that designated critical
  

11   habitat is only within the study area.  The CEC corridor
  

12   for the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route for that
  

13   particular portion of designated critical habitat does
  

14   not cross the habitat for yellow-billed cuckoo.  And then
  

15   you can see on the right-hand portion of slide 100, the
  

16   CEC corridor for the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route
  

17   does cross the designated critical habitat for
  

18   yellow-billed cuckoo when it's associated with the San
  

19   Pedro River.
  

20                 I do want to note for the committee that
  

21   both of these designated critical habitats are already
  

22   crossed by the existing WAPA 100-kV transmission
  

23   right-of-way, as well as letting the committee know that
  

24   the impacts to these designated critical habitats were
  

25   considered with consultation with the U.S. Fish and

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 237

  

 1   Wildlife Service, as part of the biological opinion.  And
  

 2   that did include specific conservation measures related
  

 3   to this designated critical habitat.  And, again, those
  

 4   are PCEMs, which would be required to be followed as a
  

 5   condition of the CEC.
  

 6                 However, though, in general, just to let
  

 7   the committee know, some ways that we would avoid impacts
  

 8   to this designated critical habitat would include things
  

 9   such as project siting, i.e., placing poles outside of
  

10   the designated critical habitat where possible,
  

11   constructing outside of the breeding season, particularly
  

12   for yellow-billed cuckoo, as well as limiting ground
  

13   disturbance and vegetation removal within these areas.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

16                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Are these all
  

17   of -- sorry -- are all of these mitigation measures that
  

18   are listed on this, on slide 99, included in the original
  

19   CEC?
  

20                 MR. AGNER:  That's a great question, Member
  

21   Little.  So my understanding of the CEC, as written, is a
  

22   condition requires the applicant to follow the Proponent
  

23   Committed Environmental Measures that were included as
  

24   part of the EIS.  And as part of this CEC that would then
  

25   transfer over to being required for the CEC Apache to
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 1   Vail upgrade route.  And so my understanding is the PCEMs
  

 2   are required to be followed by incorporation of
  

 3   reference.  They're not necessarily directly included in
  

 4   the CEC itself.  They're just being referenced as being
  

 5   required to be followed.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's good to know.  Thank
  

 7   you.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What is the -- what does
  

 9   "PCEM" stand for again?
  

10                 MR. AGNER:  Proponent Committed
  

11   Environmental Measures.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Now, are those included in
  

13   the -- looking at the existing conditions of the CEC, and
  

14   I don't see that acronym, so I'm -- what are they covered
  

15   by -- what acronym describes them, is it the -- is it the
  

16   PA --
  

17                 MR. AGNER:  I believe, Chairman Stafford, I
  

18   don't have the CEC in front of me, but I believe offhand,
  

19   from what I recall in the slides --
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, there it is.  I found
  

21   it.  Its in Condition 11.  There it is.  Okay.  Never
  

22   mind.
  

23                 (Cross-talk.)
  

24                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I just wanted to add a
  

25   little bit of clarity as well.  The PCEMs, a little bit
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 1   of a hand -- mouthful, are really the result of --
  

 2   they're a combination of design features, as originally
  

 3   envisioned by Southline, conservation measures, for
  

 4   example, from Fish and Wildlife with regard to the
  

 5   Section 7 Consultation, as well as a variety of other
  

 6   mitigation that came up during the NEPA process.
  

 7                 In the end, the agencies asked that
  

 8   Southline commit to all of those measures because
  

 9   sometimes mitigation can be discretionary.  And so that's
  

10   really the evolution of that name.  It was a way of
  

11   Southline stating or avowing that all of those measures
  

12   would be complied with.  That's why they are Proponent
  

13   Committed Environmental Measures, even though the history
  

14   and the collection of them is sort of a variety of
  

15   sources.  So just to characterize those measures, they
  

16   are because we committed to them.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And so the EIS, that
  

18   was -- that was undertaken, that was for the entirety of
  

19   the line, not just the upgrade section, correct?
  

20                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Correct.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That includes the portion
  

22   that's now owned by TEP?
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Yes.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And is that going to
  

25   be required to be updated now that -- because, like, the
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 1   original EIS was done for a double-circuit 230, correct?
  

 2                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Correct.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so the addition of the
  

 4   245 that was made, I believe, in the last Commission's
  

 5   decision, correct, not the one that referred it to us?
  

 6   I'm looking at Ms. Grabel.
  

 7                 MS. GRABEL:  Do you mean the double-circuit
  

 8   230-kV, is that what you're referring to?
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, because, like, there's
  

10   now -- it's 230/345, when did the 345 get added?
  

11                 MS. GRABEL:  I believe that's this
  

12   amendment, isn't that correct --
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right, you sent it to us.
  

14                 (Cross-talk.)
  

15                 MS. GRABEL:  -- Ms. Bellavia?
  

16                 Correct.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I guess my question is
  

18   that, does the EIS that was currently done that's been
  

19   completed, does that -- what's the difference between a
  

20   double-circuit 230, and a 230/245 -- 345, excuse me?  Is
  

21   there -- is there an additional analysis that has to take
  

22   place by the federal agencies for that?
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's a good question.
  

24                 The BLM -- we submitted our construction
  

25   plan of development in July.  And as part of that review,
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 1   and we're sort of still in the back and forth of that
  

 2   review with BLM, but in that plan development is where we
  

 3   articulated the design change and we had been discussing
  

 4   with them verbally, we meet with them frequently.  As
  

 5   part of their contemplation of approving that plan of
  

 6   development, which they'll be required to do or rather
  

 7   will be required to get their approval and they'll issue
  

 8   us a Notice to Proceed, as part of that they'll need to
  

 9   determine if the original NEPA analysis is adequate, it's
  

10   literally called a determination of NEPA adequacy.  That
  

11   review is still ongoing.  And so we've provided the
  

12   information, we've provided our own analysis.  You know,
  

13   in our applicant assessment of the changes, we believe
  

14   it's consistent with the original analysis, and some of
  

15   that is based on the actual work done in this application
  

16   where we sort of refined the analysis and re-looked at it
  

17   in 2025 terms.  So from our perspective, we believe the
  

18   design is consistent with the original analysis in terms
  

19   of scope of impacts, but ultimately, that is the agency's
  

20   decision and not ours, and that is still in process.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So and that's going
  

22   to be BLM and the Forest Service that are reviewing that?
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Primarily BLM.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  What about WAPA,
  

25   they're not --
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 1                 MS. BELLAVIA:  So WAPA has a different
  

 2   process.  BLM's process is specifically called that
  

 3   determination of NEPA adequacy, or DNA.  WAPA has a
  

 4   different process under their regulations called a
  

 5   supplement analysis, which I believe they did for Vail to
  

 6   Tortolita.  And in the same fashion is this project
  

 7   substantially different or do we believe the
  

 8   circumstances have changed?  The supplement analysis is
  

 9   kind of the first step of that.  In the case of Vail to
  

10   Tortolita that supplement analysis found that there
  

11   wasn't much of a difference in term of scope of impacts,
  

12   even with the design adjustment or role change in the
  

13   case of TEP.
  

14                 So that would be WAPA's process.  And,
  

15   again, that we're sort of in the midst of that, in part,
  

16   as Mr. Phillips mentioned, we're still finalizing
  

17   engineering and design, which feeds into a lot of those
  

18   decisions from those agencies.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So WAPA's still
  

20   evaluating the expan- -- what's it called?
  

21                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Upgrade.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The upgrade section that
  

23   we're looking at today, WAPA's still evaluating whether
  

24   that needs a supplemental NEPA analysis?
  

25                 MS. BELLAVIA:  They'll probably -- my
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 1   understanding is WAPA will do a supplement analysis no
  

 2   matter what, and it's just -- that's their decision
  

 3   evaluation tool, but it could be brief, two pages, or it
  

 4   could end up in something more detailed if they believe
  

 5   there's more analysis needed.  It's really up to WAPA,
  

 6   but yes, that is still in process.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 8                 Member Fant, you had a question?
  

 9                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

10                 Just a quick question on Cienega Creek.  Is
  

11   Cienega Creek a perennial water flow or just an
  

12   intermittent water flow?
  

13                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I looked at this yesterday.
  

14   That's a good question.  I looked at that for this area
  

15   of the San Pedro we crossed, but I did not look for
  

16   Cienega Creek.
  

17                 Do you know, Mr. Agner?
  

18                 Okay.  We'll have to look into that.
  

19                 MR. AGNER:  Yeah, we'll look into that,
  

20   Member Fant, and get back to you.
  

21                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  My question is about those
  

24   supplemental analyses that will be done by WAPA and BLM.
  

25   What opportunities will the public have for comment,
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 1   intervention, notification will they get.  One of the
  

 2   things that we hear so often is from the public is we
  

 3   didn't know about this until we got notification about
  

 4   the CEC hearing, and clearly, whatever notification is
  

 5   being done prior to that is not particularly effective.
  

 6   I'm just wondering if we can give some of that
  

 7   information to the public.
  

 8                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I, unfortunately, we do not
  

 9   know what BLM and WAPA's decisions would be with regard
  

10   to public outreach.  I really -- I don't know.  And we
  

11   haven't -- they have not made mention of what their plans
  

12   might be.  I think some of it depends on a level of that
  

13   supplement analysis, but I just don't know.  Those -- and
  

14   mainly we don't know because they are somewhat
  

15   discretionary choices by the agencies and it just depends
  

16   on what they choose to do.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm wondering whether the
  

18   applicant might consider some taking the initiative and
  

19   perhaps notifying the public about some of these
  

20   opportunities for them to have input on their own.  Thank
  

21   you.  Consider that, perhaps.
  

22                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Thank you.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, you had a
  

24   question?  Or your hand is just still raised from last
  

25   time.
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 1                 All right.  Please proceed.
  

 2                 MR. AGNER:  Thank you.
  

 3                 Now that we've gone over areas of
  

 4   biological wealth, I'll turn to ESA federally listed
  

 5   species.  So what SWCA found is that of the ESA species
  

 6   identified that could potentially occur within the study
  

 7   area, we identified two where we are within the
  

 8   geographic or elevational range or there may be habitat
  

 9   for two of those species.  And that includes jaguar,
  

10   which is currently listed as endangered, as well as the
  

11   Monarch butterfly, which is currently only proposed for
  

12   listing as threatened, so it is currently not listed
  

13   under the Endangered Species Act.
  

14                 Again, just as a reminder to the committee,
  

15   there was a biological opinion prepared for the project
  

16   that concluded that the project was not likely to
  

17   jeopardize the continued existence of listed species that
  

18   are likely to be present within the study area.
  

19                 Additionally, just to let the committee
  

20   know, the BLM and WAPA are currently reinitiating Section
  

21   7 Consultation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
  

22   regarding the expanded range of jaguar.  So that
  

23   consultation with Fish and Wildlife Service regarding
  

24   jaguar is ongoing through a Section 7 Consultation.
  

25                 So the first species I'll go over is
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 1   Monarch butterfly.  Again, as I mentioned, it is
  

 2   currently not listed under the Endangered Species Act, it
  

 3   is only currently proposed for listing as threatened, and
  

 4   there is no timeline by the Fish and Wildlife Service to
  

 5   list the species.  It is only currently listed as a
  

 6   long-term action.  So as of today, of this hearing it is
  

 7   currently not protected under the Endangered Species Act.
  

 8                 Overall, what we found is that the Monarch
  

 9   butterfly may be present within the study area for
  

10   breeding if milkweed are present.  However, we did find
  

11   also that Monarchs could overwinter within the riparian
  

12   habitat that was within the study area, mainly along
  

13   Cienega Creek and the San Pedro River.
  

14                 Although there is some overwintering
  

15   habitat available within the study area, we found that
  

16   the impacts to that habitat would be minor, given the
  

17   total amount of foraging habitat that is available within
  

18   the vicinity in the study area, and the overall low
  

19   amount of suitable dispersal or foraging habitat that
  

20   would be lost as a result of the CEC Apache to Vail
  

21   upgrade route.
  

22                 And, again, just to let the committee know,
  

23   at this time the BLM and WAPA are not expected to consult
  

24   with the Fish and Wildlife Service regarding Monarch,
  

25   because it's only proposed for listing as threatened, and
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 1   there is no timeline associated with it.  Additionally,
  

 2   we do not anticipate that the project will jeopardize the
  

 3   continued existence of the species.
  

 4                 The next species I'll cover is jaguar.  So
  

 5   jaguar is currently listed as endangered under the
  

 6   Endangered Species Act, with designated critical habitat
  

 7   approximately 2.5 miles south of the study area, which is
  

 8   why we did not cover it whenever we were going over
  

 9   designated critical habitat is because it's currently
  

10   outside the study area.
  

11                 In general, I'll just say that jaguars have
  

12   been documented here multiple times in Southern Arizona
  

13   moving between mountain ranges, and really, they use
  

14   mountain ranges as their primary area, so the study area
  

15   itself would only be used briefly for dispersal or
  

16   foraging.  And because of that, we do not anticipate any
  

17   injuries or mortalities to jaguar as a result of the CEC
  

18   Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

19                 Jaguars, if they were present, they would
  

20   experience only minor effects due to the presence of
  

21   noise and human disturbance during construction and
  

22   maintenance activities, and we anticipate that any
  

23   effects to jaguar would only be limited to behavioral
  

24   changes.
  

25                 Jaguars, if they are present, they may
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 1   change the pace at which they move through the area or
  

 2   they may shift their use to another suitable patch of
  

 3   habitat.  However, because the project is relatively
  

 4   linear, we anticipate that jaguars would be able to
  

 5   easily shift their use to another suitable patch or they
  

 6   would be able to move through the CEC Apache to Vail
  

 7   upgrade route relatively easily because of its linear
  

 8   nature.
  

 9                 And, again, just to let the committee know,
  

10   the additional Section 7 Consultation that is ongoing is
  

11   likely to result in additional conservation measures that
  

12   are designed to protect jaguar and minimize impacts to
  

13   it, however, again, the project itself is not anticipated
  

14   to jeopardize the continued existence of the species.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

16                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

17                 I generally agree with your conclusions
  

18   here.  My question is the two and a half miles, so is
  

19   that more the Santa Rita Mountains or is it the Whetstone
  

20   Mountains where we have occurrences?  And I only ask
  

21   because the -- I agree with your conclusions, the linear
  

22   nature of the project and the existing infrastructure,
  

23   they'll move through that area, but I do recall having,
  

24   several years ago, reviewed wildlife corridors in Pima
  

25   County that lots of -- there is the expectation that
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 1   between the Whetstone Mountains and the Rincon Mountains,
  

 2   there will be a lot of movement of wildlife.
  

 3                 MR. AGNER:  So, Member Hill, to answer your
  

 4   question, the designated critical habitat is associated
  

 5   with the Whetstone Mountains and our analysis would
  

 6   generally agree with your findings that the study area
  

 7   and, more specifically, the CEC corridor could be used by
  

 8   jaguar, as we mentioned, primarily for dispersal or maybe
  

 9   foraging, if the suitable habitat is present, to move
  

10   through those areas, and to your point we would expect
  

11   jaguars would move between those two mountain ranges and
  

12   that's what the CEC corridor would be used for is to move
  

13   between those two mountain ranges.
  

14                 But, again, given the linear nature of the
  

15   project, we -- and the fact that it's just pole placement
  

16   with wires strung, we anticipate the jaguars would be
  

17   able to move through the CEC corridor relatively easily,
  

18   just given its permeable nature for jaguars.
  

19                 MEMBER HILL:  And it's -- it's really a
  

20   narrow corridor as well, which is, I think, helpful for
  

21   habitat disturbance.  I think the bigger challenge for
  

22   the jaguars is movement across the proposed border walls.
  

23   I think that's going to be the bigger problem for the
  

24   survival of that species.
  

25                 Thanks.
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 1                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I just want to add regarding
  

 2   those conservation measures.  They're undetermined yet
  

 3   because we're still actively in sort of that supplemental
  

 4   consultation phase; however, as sort of our preliminary
  

 5   workshopping of those with BLM and Fish and Wildlife has
  

 6   been relying largely on some of our existing measures,
  

 7   such as just driving slower in some of those areas,
  

 8   mainly to ensure -- mitigate, not ensure -- collision.
  

 9                 And then the other one we kind of talked
  

10   about is just reporting if one is seen, either by a
  

11   construction crew, O&M crew, et cetera, so it -- right
  

12   now, and again, those aren't finalized, but it's looking
  

13   like we'll be able to -- like some of our existing
  

14   measures should offset potential impacts on their own
  

15   without a lot of addition, so TBD.
  

16                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you.  Yeah.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, you had a
  

18   question?
  

19                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

20                 You know what might be a low-budget public
  

21   project is to put a couple cameras on a couple of the
  

22   towers and just have a wireless signal to them and allow
  

23   the kids in the local school to monitor cameras and
  

24   monitor the -- what comes and goes through there.  That's
  

25   a dual-edged sword, of course, if a jaguar actually comes
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 1   through there.  But just an idea that would be user
  

 2   friendly and linked to the children and cheap.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  Member Fant, I love citizen
  

 4   science, so thank you for that suggestion.  I was kind of
  

 5   thinking the same thing.  But also, like, kind of outside
  

 6   of our purview, but I love citizen science.
  

 7                 MEMBER FANT:  Okay.  I'll shut up -- I'll
  

 8   shut up, then.
  

 9                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I'm not a child, most of the
  

10   time, but I also watch a lot of wildlife cam, so big fan.
  

11   I think in that case, I know you might -- it's an
  

12   interesting idea, I'm sure we would have to consult with
  

13   WAPA on whether they would like that or not, but not mad
  

14   at the idea.
  

15                 MR. AGNER:  Okay.  So moving on from
  

16   jaguar, I'll now cover bald and golden eagles, which are
  

17   protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act.
  

18                 So, overall, what we found is for bald
  

19   eagle there is no suitable nesting habitat for bald
  

20   eagles within the CEC corridor or the study area, as well
  

21   as no tall trees or cliffs have been identified that is
  

22   suitable for eagle perching within the study area.  The
  

23   study area is also outside the breeding range for bald
  

24   eagle, but there may be some suitable habitat present.
  

25   Suitable foraging habitat present, excuse me.
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 1                 For golden eagle, we did identify that
  

 2   there may be suitable breeding habitat for golden eagle
  

 3   within the study area; however, the surveys that SWCA has
  

 4   completed to date, we have not identified any active
  

 5   nests within the CEC corridor or its vicinity.
  

 6                 And, really, any possible nesting habitat
  

 7   would be around the San Pedro Valley corridor and the
  

 8   Dragoon Mountains, but, again, we have not observed any
  

 9   active nests to date.  And similar to bald eagle, there
  

10   may be some suitable foraging habitat for golden eagle
  

11   present within the study area; however, again, there
  

12   being a relatively minor amount of foraging habitat lost
  

13   for both bald and golden eagle and its abundance within
  

14   the wider study area, we anticipate that any impacts to
  

15   bald and golden eagles would be minor.
  

16                 The next topic I want to cover is
  

17   State-protected native plant species.  So there are
  

18   species here in Arizona, that are protected under the
  

19   Arizona Native Plant Law, and that regulates the harvest,
  

20   salvage.  And transport of plants on non-federal lands.
  

21   To date, SWCA has identified six Arizona Native Plant Law
  

22   protected plants in the study area, however, we do want
  

23   to note that there likely are numerous other plant
  

24   species protected under the Arizona Native Plant Law that
  

25   have not been documented that are likely present and that
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 1   surveys for these plants are currently ongoing.
  

 2                 Some potential effects to these species
  

 3   could include direct removal during vegetation clearing
  

 4   activities, as well as potential crushing of
  

 5   these -- this vegetation by heavy equipment and vehicles.
  

 6   Any plant species that are protected under the Arizona
  

 7   Native Plant Law could be removed in accordance with the
  

 8   applicable laws during the vegetation clearing
  

 9   activities, however, the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route
  

10   itself occupies a relatively small corridor that already
  

11   has prior disturbances, so any loss of vegetation would
  

12   be minor, compared to the amount of protected native
  

13   plants that are within the study area, and the applicant
  

14   will follow all state requirements relative to native
  

15   plants within the CEC corridor.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Agner, we are coming up
  

17   on about 90 minutes.  I think it's a good time if we
  

18   start getting into what the PCEMs are, we take an
  

19   approximately 15-minute break.
  

20                 We stand in recess.
  

21                 (Recessed from 10:28 a.m. until 10:51 a.m.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

23   record.
  

24                 Mr. Agner, you're about to talk about the
  

25   Proponent Committed Environmental Measures.
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 1                 MR. AGNER:  Yes, I was.  We've -- we've
  

 2   touched on this before, but just to briefly reemphasize,
  

 3   Southline has committed to over 350 PCEMs, and those
  

 4   really are all geared towards design adjustments, as well
  

 5   as other measures to minimize environmental impacts of
  

 6   the project.
  

 7                 These measures are found in each of the
  

 8   agencies' Records of Decision, as well as the project EIS
  

 9   itself.  And, again, just as a brief reminder, Condition
  

10   Number 11 in the CEC, which would now become subject as
  

11   part of the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route, requires
  

12   the applicant to follow all those PCEMs.
  

13                 So, overall, based on our analysis, we have
  

14   concluded that areas of biological wealth and biological
  

15   resources, any impacts can be avoided or mitigated,
  

16   especially through the implementation of the PCEMs.  Any
  

17   areas of biological wealth will be minimally impacted.
  

18   Any impacts to ESA-protected species were either
  

19   addressed as part of Section 7 Consultation or are
  

20   currently being addressed through the reinitiation of
  

21   Section 7 Consultation.
  

22                 And any impacts to bald and golden eagles
  

23   can be mitigated through the implementation of those
  

24   PCEMs and then Cara touched upon this briefly, but the
  

25   Arizona Game & Fish Department did not provide any
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 1   additional comment or request for additional mitigation
  

 2   measures beyond those that are included in the PCEMs.
  

 3                 So overall, SWCA concluded that the CEC
  

 4   Apache to Vail upgrade route is environmentally
  

 5   compatible with biological resources.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

 7                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

 8                 A couple of -- a question and an
  

 9   observation.  I noticed in the application that SWCA's
  

10   report on the biological aspects is not -- is
  

11   under -- isn't finished yet, is that -- is it complete
  

12   now, or --
  

13                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Sorry, Member Little, your
  

14   question is -- is that better, by the way, Robin?  Great.
  

15   I was advised to speak into the mic a bit more.
  

16                 The biological resource reporting in
  

17   general is still in progress, in large part because if
  

18   you look at a number of those PCEMs, they require sort
  

19   of, like, multiple field deployments that might be
  

20   seasonally dependent or other.  So those reports are
  

21   really going to be in progress through and up until we're
  

22   at construction.  And, frankly, some of those surveys
  

23   will continue through construction, but I would say
  

24   those -- many of those, like the general biological
  

25   reports, which are essentially summarizing field survey
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 1   results are going to be in progress for some time.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That makes sense.  Thank
  

 3   you.
  

 4                 The observation I would like to make for
  

 5   the record is that I now am tying things together that I
  

 6   read in the application, and there are several PCEMs that
  

 7   are listed in the application that are particularly
  

 8   applicable to this section.  And I noticed that there are
  

 9   a whole lot of could it be taken into consideration, and
  

10   could be considered in those -- those PCEMs, which my
  

11   experience is that that language does not require the
  

12   applicant to do anything.  And that is concerning to me,
  

13   and I understand that there's not anything we can do
  

14   about that at this point, but I would just like that to
  

15   be on the record.  Thank you.
  

16                 MR. AGNER:  If there are no other questions
  

17   or comments, I'll go ahead and move on to visual
  

18   resources.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please.
  

20                 MR. AGNER:  Oh, yes.  Cara just reminded me
  

21   that to Member Fant's question earlier about Cienega
  

22   Creek, before I move on to visual resources, we did look
  

23   into the flow pattern of Cienega Creek and the National
  

24   Hydrography Dataset lists Cienega Creek as being
  

25   intermittent.  So it's not perennial, it's just
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 1   intermittent flow.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 3                 MR. AGNER:  So for visual resources, just
  

 4   to kind of tie things together for the committee, we went
  

 5   through all of the KOPs yesterday during SWCA's virtual
  

 6   tour, so these KOPs, as I go through them, will look
  

 7   familiar from the virtual tour yesterday.  So I'll go
  

 8   through them, but in a relatively brief fashion, but feel
  

 9   free to stop me or if you have any questions about the
  

10   KOPs, I'm more than happy to go through them.
  

11                 But to just briefly touch upon our analysis
  

12   approach to visual resources in the CEC application, SWCA
  

13   starts by identifying a visual resource study area, which
  

14   is that one-mile buffer that Cara described previously.
  

15                 Once we have identified that visual
  

16   resource study area, we perform a desktop review that
  

17   includes inventorying scenic areas, identifying existing
  

18   and future land uses, as well as assessing aerial imagery
  

19   within that study area.
  

20                 Once we've done all of that, we then begin
  

21   to form and describe the affected environment for visual
  

22   resources in that study area, and that includes assessing
  

23   all those desktop resources, as well as at a high level
  

24   conceptually beginning to understand what the imposition
  

25   of the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route into that
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 1   affected environment would look like.
  

 2                 Once we've started to form all that, we can
  

 3   then identify some key observation points, or KOPs, for
  

 4   the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route, and we will perform
  

 5   field surveys at each of those KOPs.  That includes
  

 6   taking high-resolution photography to perform our visual
  

 7   stimulations, as well as documenting the existing
  

 8   landscape characteristics at each KOP.
  

 9                 We then prepare visual simulations for each
  

10   KOP, and that includes using the design that is provided
  

11   by the applicant, and we will superimpose that design
  

12   into the photography that we've taken at each KOP.  Once
  

13   we've done that, we assess the potential for visual
  

14   impacts by comparing the existing conditions and our
  

15   visual simulations, and we are then able to describe and
  

16   analyze the impacts to visual resources for each KOP.
  

17                 And as you can see there on slide 116 is a
  

18   map of the KOPs that were identified for the CEC Apache
  

19   to Vail upgrade route.  There are ten KOPs, however, I'll
  

20   be stepping through what we felt are the most important
  

21   ones to discuss for the committee, and I'll be stepping
  

22   through each of those; however, all of the KOPs are
  

23   analyzed in Exhibit E, and all ten KOP simulations,
  

24   including the weathering steel and the dull galvanized
  

25   steel finishes are included in Exhibit G.
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 1                 Before I get into the KOP analysis, I just
  

 2   want to briefly touch on some land management objectives
  

 3   as it relates to visual resources.  So, as described
  

 4   yesterday, we do cross federal lands and federal lands
  

 5   typically have some sort of visual resource objective
  

 6   associated with them, and so we wanted to provide that
  

 7   information to the committee and our conformance with
  

 8   those visual resource management objectives.
  

 9                 And so for the BLM lands, we cross visual
  

10   resource management Class IV, and for the committee's
  

11   benefit, that is the lowest visual resource management
  

12   class, it goes from Class I to Class IV, with Class IV
  

13   being the lowest for visual resource management and
  

14   objectives.  And so because of that, the CEC Apache to
  

15   Vail upgrade route was determined to be consistent with
  

16   that VRM, and no plan amendment to the appropriate
  

17   Resource Management Plan, or RMP, was required.
  

18                 For the U.S. Forest Service lands, we
  

19   crossed scenic integrity objective score of high.  And
  

20   although we do cross that objective score of high, the
  

21   Forest Service evaluated the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

22   route, and because for that particular portion, the CEC
  

23   Apache to Vail upgrade route solely involves the
  

24   upgrading of an existing transmission line, and because
  

25   it is staying within the existing WAPA right-of-way, the
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 1   Forest Service determined that it was in conformance with
  

 2   the scenic integrity objective score of high and no plan
  

 3   amendment was required.  So when the CEC Apache to Vail
  

 4   upgrade route crosses those federal lands with visual
  

 5   resource management objectives, we are in conformance
  

 6   with those visual resource objectives.
  

 7                 For the Arizona National Scenic Trail, the
  

 8   existing WAPA transmission line already crosses the
  

 9   Arizona National Trail, and a comprehensive plan was
  

10   adopted fairly recently in June 2025, and that plan
  

11   acknowledges the development of these types of projects,
  

12   and I quote, it says, "Development such as high-voltage
  

13   transmission line and associated access roads, large
  

14   industrial mines, communication towers, and wind towers
  

15   are often visible from long distances, especially in
  

16   western landscapes."  So the comprehensive plan that was
  

17   adopted for the Arizona National Scenic Trail
  

18   acknowledges this type of development occurring in and
  

19   nearby the Arizona Trail, so we believe we are in
  

20   conformance with it because the plan acknowledges this
  

21   type of development occurring.
  

22                 So I'll start by describing our inventory
  

23   results as it relates to the existing landscape
  

24   characteristics out there.  So overall, we found that the
  

25   scenic quality varies from low to high quality, which is
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 1   something that is common, given the distance of the CEC
  

 2   Apache to Vail upgrade route, it would be expected that
  

 3   you would find a range of scenic quality.
  

 4                 Some examples of high-quality area, just
  

 5   for the committee's benefit, would include areas like the
  

 6   Cienega Creek basin, the San Pedro River, as well as
  

 7   Dragoon -- the Dragoon Mountains.  Whereas areas of
  

 8   relatively lower scenic quality could include relatively
  

 9   flat plane portions, including mountain bajadas, as well
  

10   as the Sulphur Springs Valley.
  

11                 We also found that sensitivity level
  

12   ratings also vary from low to high, with lower
  

13   sensitivity areas being more rural areas where there are
  

14   few to no sensitive viewers to view the CEC Apache to
  

15   Vail upgrade route, whereas higher areas would be more
  

16   clustered residential development.  And along those
  

17   lines, we found that the level of development within the
  

18   study area ranges from more rural areas to more clustered
  

19   residential areas, which we described and showed the
  

20   committee during our virtual tours yesterday.  And,
  

21   again, just to reemphasize, the existing WAPA
  

22   transmission line, as well as other high-voltage
  

23   transmission lines are already highly visible in the
  

24   landscape today.
  

25                 So, as I mentioned previously, we
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 1   identified ten key observation points, five of those key
  

 2   observation points represent residential viewers, and
  

 3   include more rural residential areas to more clustered
  

 4   residential areas, including areas such as Mescal and
  

 5   Southeast Tucson.
  

 6                 We identified three travel route viewer key
  

 7   observation points, and those are meant to be
  

 8   representative of more local roadway travelers, as well
  

 9   as travel route viewers along Interstate 10.  And then we
  

10   identified two recreational viewers, one being associated
  

11   with the Arizona National Scenic Trail, and the other
  

12   being associated with the Lamar Cobb Memorial.
  

13                 Like I said, all ten key observation points
  

14   are included, analyzed, and documented in the CEC
  

15   application, but we'll be going over five of those KOPs
  

16   that we feel are the most representative of the CEC
  

17   Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

18                 So the first key observation point I want
  

19   to start with is KOP Number 1.  KOP Number 1 is
  

20   representative of residential viewers located near the
  

21   southeast portion of Tucson, associated with the Santa
  

22   Rita development, and this is a view that is facing
  

23   southeast towards the Vail Substation.  Overall, we found
  

24   here that viewers will have a partially obstructed view
  

25   of the project, primarily due to the fact that there are
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 1   intervening existing high-voltage transmission lines that
  

 2   are already within the existing landscape, and so that
  

 3   partially obstructs their view when looking at the CEC
  

 4   Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

 5                 Overall, we found that the lines, forms,
  

 6   and textures will be similar to those of the existing
  

 7   transmission lines that are already visible in the
  

 8   landscape.  And so we, therefore, found that the changes
  

 9   to the landscape would result in a weak degree of
  

10   contrast with negligible impact.  And at this particular
  

11   KOP, we determined that the selection of either dull
  

12   galvanized or weathering steel is not a significant
  

13   factor, because there is negligible impact.
  

14                 And just to let the committee know, as
  

15   we've described yesterday, at this time the applicant,
  

16   from community feedback, has heard that the proposed
  

17   weathering steel is the preferred finish for the poles,
  

18   so as you'll see on the right-hand screen and in this
  

19   case slide 124, we'll only be showing the proposed
  

20   weathering steel, because that is the preferred finish at
  

21   this time; however, both the pre- -- the dull galvanized
  

22   and the weathering steel finishes are included in the CEC
  

23   application.  And any differences between those finishes
  

24   at each of the KOPs I'll go through, I'll describe those
  

25   differences for the committee.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.  Member Little,
  

 2   you have a question?
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

 4                 I'm just curious, I know that the -- that
  

 5   community that was going to be an intervenor, their
  

 6   preference was weathering steel in their area.  I'm
  

 7   wondering whether you got feedback from -- from anybody
  

 8   else, because I am in agreement with Member Mercer that
  

 9   the poles that are seen at a distance seem to kind of
  

10   blend in better if they're the dull galvanized, at least
  

11   from the pictures.  And I appreciate what was said
  

12   yesterday about depending on how the sun is shining, and
  

13   all we really have to go on is what the pictures say.
  

14                 But close up, I think the weathering steel
  

15   would be my personal preference, but at a distance, the
  

16   galvanized would be.  And I'm just curious whether or not
  

17   you had input from -- you know, what other input you had
  

18   besides just from the people that live in that one
  

19   neighborhood?  Thank you.
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you very much for the
  

21   question.  So we, kind of as an informal part of our
  

22   hearings that we -- or, excuse me, public open houses
  

23   that we held in November and December, we did show a wide
  

24   range of KOPs and visualizations, including weathering
  

25   steel and galvanized steel -- and the dull galvanized
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 1   steel.  And I wouldn't say that we did a formal survey,
  

 2   but we were asking participants that attended those
  

 3   meetings what their preference was, not just the one
  

 4   Mountainview Ranch, Windmill Ridge developer, but, you
  

 5   know, folks that attended those meetings what their
  

 6   typical preference was, and based on my personal
  

 7   experience, I got universal the weathering was preferred.
  

 8                 We've also had some coordination and
  

 9   discussion with local utilities in the area.  I think
  

10   Mr. Beck testified yesterday that TEP had run a study on
  

11   this, and had a formal review that determined weathering
  

12   as well.  So we're pulling information from those
  

13   conversations with landowners directly at our open
  

14   houses, the coordination with the Windmill Ridge
  

15   developer, the publicly available information for the
  

16   regional utilities, and then the coordination with BLM
  

17   and WAPA on preferred tower type finish type.
  

18                 And so that is the information that we're
  

19   pulling together for that recommendation of weathering.
  

20   And so far it has seemed to be really overwhelmingly in
  

21   favor of the weathering, but understand the position,
  

22   and, you know, the visual sims show what they show.  So
  

23   that's just providing you the feedback that we've
  

24   received.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.  And that's all
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 1   good information.  I appreciate it.
  

 2                 MR. AGNER:  And I would just add to Member
  

 3   Little's point, I think as was said yesterday by Member
  

 4   Mercer, in general our visual analysis did kind of
  

 5   confirm what was being stated yesterday.  If dull
  

 6   galvanized steel is used, it does tend to bleed into the
  

 7   landscape more than the weathering steel structures;
  

 8   however, the weathering steel structures more closely
  

 9   match the existing color of the existing WAPA structures,
  

10   so the use of weathering steel tends to remove color
  

11   contrast, whereas the use of dull galvanized steel would
  

12   introduce a color contrast, because it more sharply -- is
  

13   more sharply different than the existing WAPA structures.
  

14   So there's kind of a pro and con to using each finish.
  

15   There's not a clear win-win structure finish.  There are
  

16   upsides and downsides to each one.
  

17                 So the next KOP I'd like to go over is KOP
  

18   Number 2.  KOP Number 2 is located near the Pima County
  

19   Fairgrounds, and is representative of travel route
  

20   viewers, specifically travel route viewers along local
  

21   roadways and in this case it would be Houghton Road.
  

22   This is currently a view that is facing south.
  

23                 Overall we found that viewers will have an
  

24   unobstructed to partially obstructed view, and that's
  

25   because of the intervention of distribution and
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 1   transmission lines that will be present within the
  

 2   landscape.  We found that the lines, forms, and textures
  

 3   of the project will be similar to those of the existing
  

 4   WAPA transmission line; however, it will be at a greater
  

 5   scale, and that's as a result of the structures being
  

 6   taller.
  

 7                 Because of that, we found that the changes
  

 8   to the landscape will result in a moderate degree of
  

 9   contrast with overall moderate impacts.  And, as I said
  

10   previously, the use of dull galvanized monopoles would
  

11   introduce a color contrast, however, the brown weathering
  

12   steel structures would remove this contrast.
  

13                 So, just to clarify, this is transportation
  

14   route, travel route viewers.  I've been told sometimes I
  

15   don't enunciate and it comes off as "tribal," it is not
  

16   tribal route viewers, "travel route transportation."
  

17                 So the next KOP I'd like to go over is KOP
  

18   Number 4.  KOP 4 is representative of recreational
  

19   viewers, and is associated with the Arizona National
  

20   Scenic Trail.  And this is currently a view that is
  

21   facing northwest.  As you can see in the existing
  

22   condition, viewers will have an unobstructed view of the
  

23   landscape, and that's mainly due to the flat topography.
  

24   As you can see in the existing condition, you have a
  

25   relatively unobstructed view of the landscape.
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 1                 Overall, we found that the upgrade of the
  

 2   existing WAPA line will increase the overall prominence
  

 3   of the project, and because of that, the changes to the
  

 4   landscape will result in a moderate to strong degree of
  

 5   contrast, with moderate to high impacts.
  

 6                 Again, if dull galvanized steel is used, a
  

 7   color contrast is introduced, but if a brown weathering
  

 8   steel finish is used that color contrast is removed;
  

 9   however, they would be visible over greater distances.
  

10   Again, as I mentioned previously, we found that the dull
  

11   galvanized tends -- dull galvanized finish tends to bleed
  

12   into the landscape and fade away, whereas the brown
  

13   weathering steel finish tends to be a little bit more
  

14   prominent and doesn't fade as easily into the landscape.
  

15                 The next KOP I'd like to go over is KOP
  

16   Number 6.  KOP Number 6 is also representative of
  

17   residential viewers and is associated with the cluster
  

18   development of Mescal that we described previously.  This
  

19   is currently a view that is facing east and is just when
  

20   the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route is starting to enter
  

21   into the community of Mescal, and it will continue to
  

22   travel east into that community.
  

23                 Again, we found that the lines, forms, and
  

24   textures will be similar to the existing WAPA
  

25   transmission line, but again, it will be at a greater
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 1   scale because of the taller structures.  Because of that,
  

 2   we found the changes to the landscape will result in a
  

 3   moderate to strong degree of contrast with moderate to
  

 4   high impacts.  And, again, as I mentioned previously, we
  

 5   found the dull galvanized monopoles would introduce a
  

 6   color contrast, however, the selection of the weathering
  

 7   steel would remove that color -- that color contrast.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Agner, I seem to recall
  

 9   prior testimony that the person that occupies this
  

10   dwelling in slide 130, they -- you reached out to them,
  

11   but they did not respond, is that -- was my recollection
  

12   correct?
  

13                 MR. AGNER:  That is correct, Chairman
  

14   Stafford.  We were able to verify that the landowner
  

15   associated with that structure has received all the
  

16   notification letters, including both open house
  

17   invitations, as well as the letter associated with this
  

18   hearing.  We have not received comment from that
  

19   landowner in any of the means that we've provided to
  

20   provide comment nor have they attended the in-person open
  

21   houses that we held.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And the members of the
  

23   public that gave comment yesterday, they are located in a
  

24   different place, correct?
  

25                 MR. AGNER:  That is correct, Chairman
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 1   Stafford.  The individuals that provided comment, my
  

 2   understanding is they are associated with the
  

 3   Mountainview Ranch, Sonoita Ranch area, which is further
  

 4   west along the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route.  It's
  

 5   more closer to the Vail Substation, and as you start to
  

 6   work your way east out of the Vail Substation, it's the
  

 7   first clustered residential area you encounter as you
  

 8   move east.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Have we got to that KOP
  

10   yet?
  

11                 MR. AGNER:  That KOP is not included in our
  

12   testimony, however, KOP 6 is meant to be representative
  

13   of the types of views that would be seen by residential
  

14   development, and so while KOP Number 6 itself is not
  

15   within that community, we would anticipate that the
  

16   impacts described for KOP 6 would be similar to those
  

17   that are experienced within the Mountainview Ranch
  

18   community as well.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That was the one where
  

20   there was a number of houses that ran parallel, ran
  

21   across their front yards, is that what it was, or their
  

22   side yards?
  

23                 MR. AGNER:  I believe there are -- there
  

24   are wires within the Mountainview Ranch that do cross the
  

25   front yard of individuals' properties, yes.
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 1   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 2       Q.   Mr. Agner, it's not Mountainview Ranch, correct,
  

 3   it's Sonoita Hills, I believe?
  

 4       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) That's correct.
  

 5       Q.   Thank you.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And so -- but the
  

 7   poles are not located on their property?
  

 8                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Within Sonoita Hills Ranch,
  

 9   I believe one property owner has a pole -- existing pole.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Now, with the
  

11   upgrade, are you going to -- I guess, it will depend on
  

12   whether or not you put the new pole to replace the
  

13   existing pole or they could be further away to span that
  

14   neighborhood if it's feasible, I guess, right?
  

15                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes, that's correct.  So the
  

16   existing neighborhood with the parcels that have the
  

17   wires across their front yard are currently spanned by
  

18   poles.  You know, we are -- we will take all effort to
  

19   minimize additional impacts, and if that means pushing
  

20   those poles further out that we can and span further,
  

21   we're happy to support that.
  

22                 Currently trying to look at siting pole for
  

23   pole just because there's an existing pole on a specific
  

24   landowner's property and potentially moving it to an
  

25   alternative landowner's property creates a new impact.
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 1   But happy to take feedback from the community and adjust,
  

 2   as we did with the Windmill Ridge developer, who is
  

 3   adjacent to this, right across the street from this.  We
  

 4   took their feedback on pole spotting and adjusted based
  

 5   on, you know, what they were looking for on the route,
  

 6   and had our engineers take a look as what was feasible,
  

 7   adjusted pole locations and got their agreement.
  

 8                 We're happy to do that sort of thing.  And
  

 9   there's an existing CEC condition, I think 14, that
  

10   requires us to take feedback from the community that we
  

11   continue to follow.  So if we get feedback from the
  

12   community that there's alternative pole locations along
  

13   the right-of-way that are engineered -- that are feasible
  

14   from an engineering and code perspective, we're happy to
  

15   make adjustments to minimize impacts.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Because what I'm
  

17   looking at is more not moving the pole location from one
  

18   landowner's property to another landowner's, but moving
  

19   it on the same landowner's property so when they look out
  

20   their front door, there's not a pole right there.
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, and we had multiple
  

22   points of feedback from community members during our open
  

23   houses that once we have detailed pole location design,
  

24   to reapproach because, you know, the WAPA current pole
  

25   sits right outside of their back porch, you know, is
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 1   there an opportunity to move it 100 feet?  We're happy to
  

 2   evaluate that.  And if the engineering requirement codes
  

 3   allow it, we're happy to make shifts.
  

 4                 And I'll note to -- I think the closest KOP
  

 5   that we have to the area in question is KOP 3, which is
  

 6   the Lamar Cobb Memorial on Arizona Route 83, and that's
  

 7   in the application and that is within the -- it's kind of
  

 8   between the Sonoita Ranch and Mountainview Ranch
  

 9   locations.  It sits right in the middle of those two.  If
  

10   you remember from the route view yesterday I paused
  

11   there, it sits right between the new housing development
  

12   and the existing one.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that's -- they have
  

14   State Land on either side of those areas, don't they?
  

15                 MR. PHILLIPS:  At a distance, yes, so it's
  

16   a private land pocket, so there is State Land on both
  

17   sides, the east and west, but it is a relatively broad
  

18   private land parcel or section.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So it's not too broad to
  

20   span the entire --
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  Yeah.  So, you
  

22   know, when we look at the development, it's kind of
  

23   broken into a few different phases, so there are a number
  

24   of poles within that whole private land segment, it's not
  

25   just one or two, it's, you know, Mountainview Ranch I
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 1   think -- or Windmill Ridge had four or five on their
  

 2   parcels.  Sonoita Ranch has one or two in the original,
  

 3   kind of in the one loop, and then there's additional
  

 4   private land on the western side that has a few more
  

 5   poles.  So kind of evaluating all of those poles for
  

 6   micro-siting is something we are doing, and trying to
  

 7   minimize, and if we can move them away from homes, we can
  

 8   move them to less visually impactful areas, we're happy
  

 9   to evaluate that based on the public input.  And so
  

10   something we have been doing by evidence of the
  

11   coordination with Windmill Ridge.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Thank you.
  

13                 Member Little?
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

15                 I'm curious -- excuse me -- I'm curious
  

16   about why you did not choose a KOP from within a
  

17   neighborhood.  I understand that you wanted to choose
  

18   KOPs so that they represented as many sensitive viewers
  

19   as possible, each KOP.  But I'm just, you know, I look at
  

20   them sometimes and I just think, well, why didn't you
  

21   choose one that really reflects the impacts on all the
  

22   people in the neighborhood, for example.
  

23                 And my second question is if relocating,
  

24   for example, when we were looking at the -- the flyover
  

25   yesterday, it looked like an opportunity to relocate that
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 1   one section of land -- or of circumstance -- of circuit
  

 2   that goes across those front yards to the backyard might
  

 3   be much more -- they might be much more agreeable to
  

 4   having it in their backyard than the front yard.  If it
  

 5   would require getting different rights-of-way to make
  

 6   more of the people in a neighborhood happy, would this --
  

 7   would the applicant be open to that?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So maybe I'll respond to the
  

 9   question in part, firstly on the KOP selection.  The
  

10   Lamar Cobb Memorial area, there's a KOP Number 3 that's
  

11   in the application is in the direction of that
  

12   neighborhood, so it looks along the line at the
  

13   neighborhood direction from a very nearby reference
  

14   point.  So that is relatively close to that community.
  

15                 From a routing perspective, this is where,
  

16   you know, we have to coordinate with WAPA and they
  

17   coordinate with the landowners as well, given the
  

18   discussion we had on the WAPA right-of-way, and we are
  

19   happy to support that.  I want to acknowledge that there
  

20   are some subsurface, you know, pipeline and other
  

21   challenges on the south side that I had noted in our
  

22   flyover.  And, additionally, there are a large number of
  

23   residences to the south as well that are currently not
  

24   experiencing direct impacts that are shifting toward
  

25   could potentially.
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 1                 So I guess to your question, we are happy
  

 2   to coordinate.  We are not able to bind WAPA, but we'll
  

 3   support coordination between WAPA and its landowners, and
  

 4   happy to design around that coordination as well.  But
  

 5   our -- you know, the alternatives that were not analyzed
  

 6   by BLM and WAPA and the impact shifting, we have to be
  

 7   careful about the shifting onto new landowners to the
  

 8   south that don't already have an impact.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Thanks, Mr. Chair.
  

12                 I appreciate working with landowners.  I
  

13   think everyone has their different preferences.  I'll say
  

14   right now that I would rather have it in my front yard.
  

15   My backyard is kind of my sanctuary, and so -- so I don't
  

16   want to assume any of that, so I think the coordination
  

17   is the more important thing that we're talking about.
  

18   And I realize that you're at a disadvantage because
  

19   WAPA's process was dated, it was a long time ago, there's
  

20   new landowners, you've had some challenges, but I want to
  

21   encourage you to work with the landowners on both the
  

22   finish and the location of poles, to the extent that you
  

23   can, and not assume that anyone wants it in the front
  

24   yard or in the backyard, like, I just want to caution
  

25   that.
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.  And I think from
  

 2   our, you know, the existing CEC conditions, which we know
  

 3   don't cover this segment, but we kind of treat it like it
  

 4   does, you know, require us to continue coordination
  

 5   through development and to construction with landowners,
  

 6   and so I think that's something we are -- we're trying to
  

 7   show that we're actively doing by our coordination with
  

 8   Windmill Ridge and others, taking additional feedback
  

 9   through our public meetings and through our info inbox.
  

10   But, as I mentioned, like, we're happy to adjust where we
  

11   can and where it's reasonable, and, you know, we don't
  

12   want to create new impacts, and we also want to minimize
  

13   the impacts that kind of where -- of the existing line,
  

14   et cetera.  So we're happy to hear feedback that can be
  

15   incorporated.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I've never sat in your
  

19   chair, but when I hear you talking about the
  

20   coordinating, and I'm just thinking now about those three
  

21   or four houses that we saw in the flyover yesterday, and
  

22   the comment that Member Hill made a moment ago that some
  

23   would prefer the pole in the backyard and some in the
  

24   front yard.  And the comment by Member Mercer next to me
  

25   about some would prefer the galvanized and some would
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 1   prefer the Corten, golly, how many quarters do you have
  

 2   to flip in the air on that?
  

 3                 And so I'm posing that background to the
  

 4   following question: Suppose of the four houses, house
  

 5   number one said, golly, this is closest to my house, I
  

 6   get to choose the color of the pole, so I want the
  

 7   galvanized, but the people up the line and down the line
  

 8   all wanted the Corten.  Do you -- does everybody get
  

 9   Corten or does everybody get -- or do you pick and choose
  

10   and so on and so on.  I -- I don't think I'd want your
  

11   job for a whole lot of money.
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Appreciate that.  It is an
  

13   interesting challenge.  We also have to be aware that
  

14   creating -- switching poles back and forth creates an
  

15   adverse cumulative impact as well.  So it's something we
  

16   have to balance the feedback from individuals, feedback
  

17   from community, and then feedback from jurisdictions as
  

18   well.
  

19                 And so partially is making adjustments
  

20   where we can that are reasonable without invalidating the
  

21   larger scale impacts to the community.  And then the
  

22   other aspect of it is coordinating with WAPA.  So we'll
  

23   mention again that this WAPA easement was in place prior
  

24   to the housing development, you know, it was built around
  

25   it.  And, you know, we just have to be cognizant of, you
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 1   know, WAPA has its own processes as well.  So we're kind
  

 2   of creating a part- -- creating a connection here between
  

 3   the community through our outreach and WAPA that we're
  

 4   trying to marry to an effort, but it is a complicated one
  

 5   and one that I think is ever evolving, like, the point of
  

 6   the work that Black Forest Partners did from 2008 all the
  

 7   way to when we joined in 2022, and then from then until
  

 8   now and then now until construction is going to be a
  

 9   process in which we're continuing to solicit feedback.
  

10   And, unfortunately, I don't think you can ever make
  

11   100 percent of people happy, but hopefully we can get
  

12   enough incorporated and enough, you know, tweaks made
  

13   based on the local feedback that we kind of have a
  

14   project that does the most good and is the least
  

15   impactful.
  

16                 So that's kind of the target, but again, we
  

17   have to be careful about acquiescing to every request,
  

18   given that there could be outsized impacts of individual,
  

19   you know, requests, so it's something that we have to
  

20   balance, so it's a challenge.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  And, by the way, my house
  

22   is on the market, and the pending purchaser wants the
  

23   other color.
  

24                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Exactly.
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.
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 1                 MR. AGNER:  So the last KOP I want to cover
  

 2   is KOP Number 9.  KOP Number 9 is representative of
  

 3   travel route viewers along Interstate 10, and is a view
  

 4   that is facing west, westbound traffic.  Here viewers
  

 5   will have an unobstructed view, which makes sense, we are
  

 6   along the highway, and there really should not be any
  

 7   obstructed views when you're traveling along the highway
  

 8   at fast speeds.
  

 9                 Overall, we found that the lines, forms,
  

10   and textures will be similar to those of the existing
  

11   WAPA transmission line, but again, at a greater scale
  

12   because the structures are taller.  Because of that, the
  

13   changes to the landscape will result in a weak to
  

14   moderate degree of contrast with low to moderate impacts.
  

15   And, again, the use of dull galvanized monopoles would
  

16   introduce color contrast, but it would blend into the
  

17   landscape more smoothly, as has been described previously
  

18   by other committee members; however, the brown weathering
  

19   steel structure finish would remove the color contrast.
  

20                 So I'll end the visual resource section by
  

21   just saying I think a theme that you may have sensed
  

22   throughout all the KOPs is that overall we found that the
  

23   CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route will be similar in form
  

24   and line, but it may vary in color and scale, relative to
  

25   the multiple instances of transmission line
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 1   infrastructure that is present within the study area.
  

 2   And that overall, based on our analysis of the CEC Apache
  

 3   to Vail upgrade route, it will have a low to
  

 4   moderate-high visual impact on sensitive viewers.
  

 5                 And, as described previously, for federal
  

 6   lands, for both BLM and Forest Service lands, the project
  

 7   has been determined to be in compliance with the
  

 8   appropriate visual resource management objectives, and
  

 9   that no Resource Management Plan amendment was required
  

10   for the appropriate BLM or U.S. Forest Service plans.
  

11                 So overall, based on all this information,
  

12   we have determined that the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

13   route is compatible with visual resources.
  

14                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Okay.  I'll move on to
  

15   cultural resources, if there's no other questions on
  

16   visual.
  

17                 (No response.)
  

18                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Great.  Okay.  As
  

19   background, you've heard us mention several times that
  

20   there was a federal environmental process, and as part of
  

21   that BLM and WAPA consulted with stakeholders and tribal
  

22   nations to develop a Programmatic Agreement.  The
  

23   development of that Programmatic Agreement, or PA,
  

24   started around 2012, which was when the EIS was
  

25   initiated, and was finalized and signed around 2015.  It
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 1   is an attachment to BLM and WAPA's Records of Decision.
  

 2                 And that Programmatic Agreement,
  

 3   essentially is an agreement between parties with
  

 4   jurisdiction in the project and tribal nations that
  

 5   outlines all of our preconstruction obligations and
  

 6   requirements, how mitigation, avoidance, and/or treatment
  

 7   of identified cultural resources will be handled, et
  

 8   cetera.  So the PA is really the framework for
  

 9   consultation with tribes and stakeholders, inventory of
  

10   the right-of-way and project facilities, development of
  

11   treatment options, et cetera, that PA is the framework
  

12   for that, and is in place, and we continue to -- that PA
  

13   will be in place, frankly, through decommissioning and
  

14   applies to preconstruction, construction, and operation
  

15   and maintenance and decommissioning.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, sir.
  

19                 Just looking at slide 137 here, the second
  

20   point.  "As well as 21 tribal nations," within this
  

21   project there are 21 tribal nations that you had to touch
  

22   or in the whole package?
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's a good question.
  

24                 It's -- the BLM and WAPA consulted with 21
  

25   tribes across the whole of the project, some have
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 1   ancestral ties in New Mexico, some in Arizona, but it's a
  

 2   bit of a mix.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  That's what I
  

 4   assumed, but I didn't -- thank you for the clarification.
  

 5                 MS. BELLAVIA:  You bet.  Good question.
  

 6                 As I mentioned, that Programmatic Agreement
  

 7   is in place, and it requires that we complete
  

 8   comprehensive Class III Cultural Resource Surveys, that
  

 9   we have send those reports -- and, rather, I should say,
  

10   WAPA and BLM send those reports to the consulting
  

11   parties, again, including the tribes.  We have completed
  

12   a Class III survey of 99 percent of the route.  There's
  

13   one small area, which I'll touch on.  But in general our
  

14   inventory of the route is complete, and the reports have
  

15   been sort of segmented.  So we have one report, for
  

16   example, for New Mexico, one inventory report for Arizona
  

17   new build, and then a separate report for Arizona
  

18   upgrade.  This would be the Arizona upgrade.
  

19                 That report was -- the first version of it
  

20   was finalized late in 2025, and it was distributed to the
  

21   consulting parties, including all of those tribes in late
  

22   2025.  I believe we have finished the first review cycle
  

23   of that report, the Programmatic Agreement requires two,
  

24   and, you know, we received comments or, rather, BLM and
  

25   WAPA do.  The report is revised, sent back out, et
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 1   cetera.  But the inventory report of this portion of the
  

 2   project has been completed, and is in consultation
  

 3   currently.
  

 4                 So looking at the application here, we
  

 5   really relied on the completed Class I and Class III
  

 6   reports that, again, are required by the federal
  

 7   government, and we -- as I mentioned before, the study
  

 8   area for the application was -- is one mile, the
  

 9   exception actually here being we used .25 miles, in part
  

10   because there's an extraordinary amount of cultural
  

11   resources within a mile, but also the Programmatic
  

12   Agreement defines sort of the APE in a specific way, and
  

13   we're attempting to be consistent with that.  So we
  

14   really looked at the corridor and this quarter mile
  

15   radius buffer study area for the application.
  

16                 As part of the PA, the Arizona State Land
  

17   Department, Arizona State Historic Preservation Office,
  

18   and Pima County are recipients of the reports that are
  

19   sent out, again, such as the inventory report.  And we
  

20   have completed 100 percent survey of the WAPA
  

21   right-of-way.  The one little pocket, I mentioned we have
  

22   a small area that is not surveyed, it's that -- really
  

23   kind of that blue box that Member Little noticed up by
  

24   the Vail Substation, that sort of completes the potential
  

25   north end of our corridor.  That one little area is on, I
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 1   think State Land, and we still have to finish the survey
  

 2   of that.  It's sort of a come up as part of this process
  

 3   and we will survey that, report on it, and it will be
  

 4   sent to SHPO, et cetera.  So that is one little gap we
  

 5   have, but it is in progress.
  

 6                 Okay.  So looking at the CEC corridor,
  

 7   there are -- and this is just for the Apache to Vail
  

 8   upgrade corridor -- there are 60 archaeological sites
  

 9   documented within the -- sorry -- within the study area,
  

10   27 of those are in the corridor.  So, again, 60 in the
  

11   broader area, 27 within the corridor.  Of those 27, 14
  

12   are eligible, either determined or suggested eligible for
  

13   inclusion in the National or State Register of Historic
  

14   Places.  Eleven of those have been determined or
  

15   recommended not eligible for those national and state
  

16   registers, and two sites eligibility just has not yet
  

17   been determined.
  

18                 30 of the sites in the study area,
  

19   including 13 sites in the corridor are associated with
  

20   indigenous or prehistoric use of the area.  And then 26
  

21   of the sites in the study area, including 15 within the
  

22   corridor, are basically a variety of late historic era
  

23   activities in-use structures.
  

24                 In reviewing the historic age structures,
  

25   we say here 26 in-use historic era structures in the
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 1   study area, 22 in the corridor, those in-use structures
  

 2   are basically transmission lines, railroad, roads, and
  

 3   gas pipelines.  So they're not standing structures such
  

 4   as like an historic barn, they are transmission, roads,
  

 5   railroad, et cetera.
  

 6                 There is one historic district in the study
  

 7   area, just south of and adjacent to the CEC corridor,
  

 8   that's the Empirita Ranch Rural Historic District.  That
  

 9   is listed on the National Register; however, the
  

10   footprint of the project, i.e., the corridor, is not
  

11   within that district, adjacent to it.
  

12                 In terms of the potential physical impacts
  

13   of the project, i.e., when we construct the project and
  

14   there are the sites in the CEC corridor or WAPA
  

15   right-of-way, 20 of the resources are eligible or
  

16   unevaluated for the National Register, 16 -- there are 16
  

17   archaeological sites and four in-use linear features.
  

18                 Where we can, we are looking at disturbance
  

19   planning such as, like, temporary use areas, et cetera,
  

20   to avoid or span as many of those resources as possible.
  

21   In some cases, it will be difficult to extend a span long
  

22   enough to avoid a resource altogether or we might have to
  

23   weigh other requests or requirements for spanning, but in
  

24   general, our approach is to span and avoid as many
  

25   resources as possible.  The Programmatic Agreement really
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 1   lays out if we cannot avoid impacts to resources what
  

 2   we'll have to do.  That will be documented in an historic
  

 3   properties treatment plan.  That's sort of the next step
  

 4   after the inventory process is complete.  And so we do
  

 5   not have the HPTP, I'll call it, Historic Property
  

 6   Treatment Plan, that is not yet drafted, but will be
  

 7   drafted in consultation and coordination with WAPA and
  

 8   BLM.  And, similar to the inventory reports, will also be
  

 9   sent out to the consulting parties for review and input.
  

10                 The PA also requires that there is a
  

11   meeting of the consulting parties during the development
  

12   of the historic properties treatment plan, so not only is
  

13   the report sent out for review and comment, BLM and WAPA
  

14   will host a meeting with those parties to discuss the
  

15   treatment of resources and discuss options so that
  

16   process is -- will be ongoing, but again, those steps are
  

17   really articulated in our PA.
  

18                 And similar, in terms of visual effects,
  

19   there are ten resources in the CEC corridor that are
  

20   potentially visually sensitive.  They are similar in
  

21   nature to the ones I talked about in terms of the
  

22   physical effects.  There's Old Sonoita Highway, a
  

23   railroad, one historic canal, State Route 83, Empirita
  

24   Road.  There are four prehistoric sites, they're really
  

25   rock alignment features that might be visually sensitive.
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 1   Those will all -- the visual effects of the project are
  

 2   also required to be considered by BLM and WAPA, as part
  

 3   of their consultation.
  

 4                 There's a Visual Resources Inventory Report
  

 5   specific to the cultural resources of the project that is
  

 6   required and in development, like, the same process for
  

 7   that as with the field survey.  So the inventory phase of
  

 8   the project is fairly complete.  The design, as we've
  

 9   mentioned, is in progress, design will determine a lot of
  

10   the need for mitigation, as well as the consultation
  

11   process, we'll lay that out.  But again, all of that is
  

12   required and outlined in our PA in some fashion in
  

13   progress.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

17                 I know that there's a shroud of
  

18   protectivity around these cultural sites, and so I
  

19   certainly don't want to violate that, but my question
  

20   went toward I was not aware of the little obelisk
  

21   commemorating the first --
  

22                 MS. BELLAVIA:  State engineer.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  -- superintendent of
  

24   highways in Arizona, Mr. Cobb.  Would something like that
  

25   be a qualified cultural resource?
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 1                 MS. BELLAVIA:  That's a good question.
  

 2                 In general, a cultural resource is
  

 3   protected by the State or National Register would have to
  

 4   be at least 50 years old.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  How many?
  

 6                 MS. BELLAVIA:  50.  So not commemorating --
  

 7   not that the person is over 50, that would be me, but
  

 8   whether the memorial itself is.  I don't know the age of
  

 9   that memorial but it has not come up as historic.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It was put in in about
  

11   1918.
  

12                 MS. BELLAVIA:  The memorial itself?
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Uh-huh.  By the first
  

14   governor, Governor Hunt.  I'm not sure of the 1918, but
  

15   it was relatively in the very early 1920s, so it would
  

16   probably fit under your category.  I didn't know if -- I
  

17   didn't know what a cultural resource was.  I've got an
  

18   idea, but I think it's probably about 45 percent wrong,
  

19   so --
  

20                 MS. BELLAVIA:  I'll double-check that one,
  

21   it did not come up in our inventory for the CEC, but I
  

22   can certainly check into it, but I think -- if it is plus
  

23   50 years, in general --
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  No, don't worry about it.
  

25                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Okay.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  -- I was -- I just thought
  

 2   maybe off the top of your head you would know and what
  

 3   you gave me is addition to my 45 percent error, I'm now
  

 4   down to 44 percent.
  

 5                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Well done.  Okay.
  

 6                 Okay.  I think we can move on.
  

 7                 We, as part of the ACC SHPO consultation
  

 8   checklist for compliance, we did send a letter to the
  

 9   State Historic Preservation Office.  That letter was sent
  

10   September 29th.  We did receive a response from the SHPO
  

11   on October 31st.  On slide 144, you can see a snapshot of
  

12   the letter that was sent, which is included in Exhibit E.
  

13   And then SHPO's response is also included here on slide
  

14   144.  The short of their response was they agree with the
  

15   approach for the project, and noted, as I mentioned, that
  

16   there is a 14.5-acre parcel that still needs survey,
  

17   which we acknowledge.  And that we will need to complete
  

18   that survey and continue to consult with SHPO, which we
  

19   will do.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It was 1927.
  

23                 MS. BELLAVIA:  Thank you, sir.
  

24                 Moving on.
  

25                 In conclusion, with regard to cultural
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 1   resources, we will continue to consult and coordinate
  

 2   with SHPO.  Really the federal process led by BLM and
  

 3   WAPA will drive a lot of that, as does the Programmatic
  

 4   Agreement.  The -- this statement here, "The applicant
  

 5   will share the results of any Class IIIs associated with
  

 6   the upgrade route."  As I mentioned, they did receive the
  

 7   first version of that inventory report for the full line
  

 8   late in 2025, and when we complete that 14.5-acre survey
  

 9   they will receive that as well.  We are avoiding sites as
  

10   much as possible by spanning and avoidance, in general,
  

11   and then where we cannot, those treatment needs will be
  

12   outlined in our HPTP once drafted.
  

13                 Are you good, Robin?
  

14                 Okay.  I wanted to touch on some of the
  

15   tribal outreach efforts.  Some of this is outlined and
  

16   articulated in Exhibit J, which is kind of more broadly
  

17   about public outreach, but I wanted to focus on the
  

18   tribal portion of that here.  As I walk through this, I
  

19   kind of have it broken into two parts.  There's the
  

20   tribal outreach that's required by the federal
  

21   government, the details of this are in Exhibit J -- it's
  

22   contagious, Robin -- and then I will go over also some of
  

23   the outreach that Southline has undertaken, which is
  

24   separate from the federal process.
  

25                 In short, BLM and is re- -- BLM and WAPA
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 1   are required to and they did initiate
  

 2   government-to-government consultation with tribes that
  

 3   have interest in the project area.  They initiated that
  

 4   in 2012, again, as part of the NEPA process.  Tribes were
  

 5   invited to participate as cooperating agencies if they so
  

 6   chose.  They were provided information, such as scoping
  

 7   reports, asked to participate in development of
  

 8   alternatives, et cetera.  They were provided copies of
  

 9   the EIS.
  

10                 So, really, BLM tried to be consistent and
  

11   coordinate with tribes throughout the NEPA process just
  

12   regarding the EIS.  They're also the sort of
  

13   government-to-government and Section 106 coordination and
  

14   obligations, which they also completed.  The details of
  

15   the government's outreach to tribes is summarized in
  

16   Table J-9, in Exhibit J of the application.  What I can
  

17   say about what's in Table J-9 is that those are the
  

18   communications that we're aware of.  There may be others
  

19   between the government and the tribes that we do not know
  

20   about, but at least as far as communications that
  

21   Southline was either copied on or made aware of, those
  

22   are summarized in Table J-9.
  

23                 Member Kryder asked about the 21 tribes,
  

24   these are all 21 here on slide 151.  I won't go through
  

25   these, but as you can see there, a mix of tribes based in
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 1   Arizona and New Mexico.  And others not based in Arizona
  

 2   and New Mexico, but that have ancestral claims, for
  

 3   example, the Ft. Sill Apache Tribe of Oklahoma are listed
  

 4   here, as are the Kiowa and Comanche.  They're not based
  

 5   in Arizona or New Mexico, but those three tribes, in
  

 6   particular, have ancestral ties, more in New Mexico than
  

 7   in Arizona.  But these are the tribes that the BLM and
  

 8   WAPA consulted with, and -- initially during the NEPA
  

 9   process and who they continue to consult with.  These
  

10   tribes receive the reports, and they're on any
  

11   communication from BLM about cultural resources.
  

12                 That is kind of a quick summary of the
  

13   federal government outreach, but I want to talk you
  

14   through a little bit of our own sort of separate
  

15   engagement with tribes.  Really, in 2025, we hired a
  

16   dedicated tribal lead.  She's a consultant to Southline,
  

17   and she is Comache herself, and she is supporting a few
  

18   of our other projects, but is very dedicated and focused
  

19   to our work on Southline.  So she -- we essentially took
  

20   a look at the tribes that the government was consulting
  

21   with, those 21, revisited some of the guiding
  

22   consultation things, such as there's the Arizona State
  

23   Historic Preservation Office Tribal Toolkit.  And then
  

24   the State of New Mexico has something similar.  So we did
  

25   refer to those two just to make sure ancestral ties to
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 1   lands in the project area haven't changed in some
  

 2   fashion.  For example, that we might inadvertently not
  

 3   include a tribe that had tribal interest and it -- our
  

 4   research in 2025 shows that it's the same tribes.
  

 5                 So through our tribal lead, we have sent
  

 6   emails with project information, requests to meet,
  

 7   offering information that they requested.  You know, in
  

 8   many cases, many of the tribal historic preservation
  

 9   officers were not on -- in their roles back in 2012,
  

10   2015, when the NEPA process started, and so they
  

11   may -- we're finding that they may not have access to the
  

12   long history of inventory reports and consultation, and
  

13   we have a sort of library of those that we're able to
  

14   offer when they need it.  And so it's been very helpful
  

15   to make these connections.  We've had meetings with, I
  

16   think the slide here says 9 of the 21, I believe that
  

17   number is up to 12 now.  But I think you heard
  

18   Mr. Phillips mention that we went and presented in
  

19   December to the Four Southern Tribes working group, and
  

20   presented about the project, kind of discussed our
  

21   overall plan and answered any questions, offered to come
  

22   meet individually with any of the tribes or conduct field
  

23   visits if they so desired.  So, in general, we've had
  

24   very strong engagement from the tribes.
  

25                 As I said, we've sent many emails, our
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 1   tribal liaison, Terra Argo, follows up with phone calls
  

 2   if we don't get responses, and we've had contact with 19
  

 3   of the 21 tribes.  Only two so far we just haven't been
  

 4   able to get a response from.  And those two are the,
  

 5   which I wrote down, of course I can't find it easily --
  

 6   oh, sorry, the Tonto Apache, which are in Arizona, and
  

 7   then the Pueblo Tesuque, which is in New Mexico.  We'll
  

 8   continue to try to connect with them.  Those are just two
  

 9   that we haven't had contact with yet.  But everybody else
  

10   has either responded to an email, answered the phone,
  

11   invited us to present, et cetera.
  

12                 I'd say, in general, the kind of questions
  

13   we're getting are about when are we going to start
  

14   construction, what does construction look like, where is
  

15   the -- when is the HPTP going to be ready for their
  

16   review.  And then I think the other thing we've heard and
  

17   are very open to is there is an interest in tribes
  

18   providing their own tribal monitors during construction.
  

19                 That is, you know, not a request that is
  

20   out of range for us.  We're happy to entertain that and
  

21   have told them as much, and we'll continue to coordinate
  

22   with tribes that express that interest to make sure we
  

23   can provide opportunities for them to monitor.
  

24                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.
  

25                 Can I have the clicker.  Thank you.
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 1                 I'll present on noise and signal
  

 2   interference.  So the existing ambient background sound
  

 3   levels for this kind of rural area there have been
  

 4   estimated at 40 dBA during the day and 34 dBA at night.
  

 5   We have a sound kind of table here to help put that in
  

 6   context of where that falls.  I'll note that that's kind
  

 7   of a summary of the conditions across the full line.  We
  

 8   didn't do on-site averaging.  And as with the proximity
  

 9   of I-10, I'd say that this is a little bit of an atypical
  

10   rural area, where we have a lot of the line adjacent to
  

11   or nearby I-10, which is a pretty significant noise
  

12   creation.  So this is more of a typical rural
  

13   environment.
  

14                 So we compared that to the expected and
  

15   modeled corona noise in a fair weather condition for the
  

16   double-circuit line.  I'll note that a few stages here.
  

17   Firstly, we wanted to look at construction noise, which
  

18   is typically the largest impact from a noise perspective
  

19   of transmission development, with construction equipment
  

20   being in the 70 to 90 dBA limit, which is -- would
  

21   qualify as loud, consistent with heavy machinery.
  

22                 Generally, local community members
  

23   experience protection from that due to limited
  

24   construction hours, so we're not constructing during
  

25   quiet time hours at night, but in typical cases, and
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 1   focused on trying to minimize the time in which
  

 2   construction activity happens.  And the duration of that
  

 3   construction activity near to residences.  And so that's
  

 4   a limited impact associated with just construction
  

 5   activities when on-site at a pole location.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you had a
  

 7   question?
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

 9                 I'm curious, a physics question here, are
  

10   these noises cumulative?  I mean, do they add, so if
  

11   you've got an estimated ambient noise of 40 decibels, and
  

12   then you build a transmission line, does that, if there
  

13   is some corona noise from the transmission line, does
  

14   that add to the estimated ambient noise or is it just not
  

15   discernible, because it's less than the ambient noise?
  

16                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So I believe that the -- it
  

17   is not additive, it is whether it is discernible compared
  

18   to the ambient noise.  I'm getting a nod from my expert
  

19   in the background.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Excellent.  Thank you.
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So construction noise was
  

22   articulated in the FEIS analysis -- or the EIS and NEPA
  

23   analysis and the current planned construction is
  

24   consistent with that band of impact and, again, you know,
  

25   working through normal working hours to minimize that
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 1   impact of construction noise at quiet times, specifically
  

 2   at night, when you have a much lower ambient noise.
  

 3                 When you look at the corona noise of the
  

 4   230 and 345 circuit, we've modeled it here, the estimated
  

 5   corona noise of the 230 circuit is 25 dBA at the 100-foot
  

 6   right-of-way edge, and 20.7 dBA at the 150-foot
  

 7   right-of-way edge.  And that would be state lands where
  

 8   we assume that there could be expansions to 150 feet, but
  

 9   for private lands we're sticking within the 100-foot
  

10   right-of-way.
  

11                 With the 345 circuit, as modeled, 28 dBA at
  

12   100-foot right-of-way edge, and 26.5 dBA at 150-foot
  

13   right-of-way edge.  Again, these are during fair weather
  

14   conditions.  So I'll note that typically the engineers
  

15   look at worst-case conditions, which is poor weather, so
  

16   rain creates a potential for higher corona noise, but the
  

17   ambient doesn't take into account that.  So ambient noise
  

18   during rain is significantly higher than ambient noise
  

19   without poor weather conditions.
  

20                 And so, you know, comparing the worst-case
  

21   during fair weather is not really -- it's apples and
  

22   oranges, when comparing against the ambient noise level.
  

23   But, of note, the FEIS evaluated corona noise impacts as
  

24   high as 52.4 dBA in worst-case conditions at right-of-way
  

25   edge, and the 230/345 fall below that, even at worst-case
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 1   conditions during poor weather.  So it is consistent with
  

 2   the analysis that was performed.
  

 3                 And we have modeled all that here on the --
  

 4   the, you know, the ambient conditions and the estimated
  

 5   corona noise in fair weather and then the temporary
  

 6   construction noise and note it's limited to avoid quiet
  

 7   hours here on the sound graph.
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, sir.
  

11                 Mr. Phillips, I was just monitoring at
  

12   least the kind of play toy monitor that I have on my
  

13   phone, and you were running between 45.2 and 55.1, so
  

14   placing that on your scale, you see that it folds in very
  

15   nicely your corona would not blow either end off of that.
  

16                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, based on the model
  

17   values, correct.
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  I just want to suggest that
  

19   the applicant maybe even just put that on the description
  

20   next time, so when you're in front of us again you can
  

21   just remind us that there's field with insects and quiet
  

22   rural area, and we fall right between.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I'm probably on the higher
  

24   end; Cara may be on the lower end of it.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you very much for the
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 1   analysis here.  This is -- this is very cool.
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I do have one more question
  

 6   about this area.  There are some graphs in the
  

 7   application that show the 230-kV line and the 345-kV line
  

 8   anticipated noise relative to the distance from the
  

 9   transmission line, and I'm wondering whether those are
  

10   additive.  If you've got the 230-kV line and the 345-kV
  

11   line, are we looking at the sum of the two, so more in
  

12   the 45- to 50-decibel range?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So I can address that.  So
  

14   there is a slight additive nature, but it's not adding
  

15   them on top of each other, so they would still fall below
  

16   the values expected.  It's more so that you may see
  

17   slight increases, I think maybe -- we can work on getting
  

18   you the specific number, but it's definitely not adding
  

19   those two numbers together.
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Being an engineer,
  

21   I'd love to see a formula or something, if you can find
  

22   one.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Will do.
  

24                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Signal interference and EMF,
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 1   just to note that the project design will adhere and
  

 2   ensure that the electric magnetic fields, the noise
  

 3   generation, the TV and radio interference are all within
  

 4   acceptable industry standards and state and federal
  

 5   regulations.  Of note, we've applied the Tucson Electric
  

 6   standard to the majority of our design to ensure that we
  

 7   are consistent with the regional utilities in the area,
  

 8   and also incorporate WAPA standards as well into design.
  

 9                 So all of those are included as we have
  

10   been working to design the project, to ensure that we
  

11   adhere to the regional protections that the typical local
  

12   utilities adhere to.
  

13                 One thing I should have mentioned on the,
  

14   just the noise on the 115, the existing 115 line.  And
  

15   this goes for EMF and signal interference as well, the
  

16   existing line is aged.  It -- typically, with the older
  

17   equipment, that hasn't been experiencing, you know,
  

18   weather and degradation impacts over time, you get,
  

19   quote-unquote, what engineers call "noisy lines," and
  

20   that could be noisy from a literal corona noise
  

21   perspective and from an electrical magnetic interference
  

22   perspective when you have abrasions and deviations from
  

23   an unclean piece of equipment, you get a particularly
  

24   noisy line.
  

25                 So one of the benefits of the design
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 1   changes, both from a noise and signal interference and
  

 2   EMF perspective is with the taller towers, with a higher
  

 3   clearance from receptors, plus with newer equipment that
  

 4   is designed to current specs and is going to be installed
  

 5   brand-new without degradation, you're going to have a
  

 6   marked improvement of just the performance of the line.
  

 7                 Now, with the higher voltage you do
  

 8   potentially have higher impacts, but partially offset by
  

 9   the fact that the existing line is particularly old
  

10   compared to some of the others that you would compare it
  

11   to.
  

12                 So from an electromagnetic field
  

13   perspective, our modeling shows that the 230/345 from a
  

14   maximum perspective would actually generate lower
  

15   magnetic fields than the 115.  And that's, you know, when
  

16   you look at the same kind of typical graphs on
  

17   right-of-way, you're higher off the ground and more
  

18   efficient equipment, and then the -- it would generate
  

19   higher electric fields than the 115 line, but consistent
  

20   with energy standards in the area.
  

21                 And then we've included some industry EMF
  

22   guidelines just as a reference, and then some of the
  

23   typical household EMF sources you're exposed to everyday,
  

24   just to put it in context, because I know there is
  

25   sometimes some community concern about what these lines
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 1   do, and so we just like to put that in perspective for
  

 2   folks and talk about what the real impacts could
  

 3   potentially be.
  

 4                 Thank you.
  

 5                 MR. AGNER:  So just summarizing everything
  

 6   that we went through this morning, and thank you for the
  

 7   committee for listening to our environmental
  

 8   compatibility, based on the factors that are set forth
  

 9   within the Arizona Revised Statute, in my opinion, I feel
  

10   that the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route is
  

11   environmentally compatible.
  

12                 As we testified to this morning, we looked
  

13   at existing and future planned land uses and found that
  

14   the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route is consistent with
  

15   any underlying zoning, as well as any comprehensive plans
  

16   with jurisdictions that we cross.  Any biological impacts
  

17   will either be minimal or will be greatly reduced through
  

18   the implementation of the PCEMs that we described
  

19   earlier.  Any visual impacts that we have will be
  

20   relatively limited and will stay within the existing WAPA
  

21   transmission line, which is already visible within the
  

22   landscape, as well as other numerous high-voltage
  

23   transmission lines.
  

24                 As Cara described previously, there is a
  

25   Programmatic Agreement in place and there is ongoing
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 1   Section 106 Consultation with SHPO that helps avoid,
  

 2   minimize, and mitigate any impacts to archaeological
  

 3   resources that are within the CEC corridor, and the
  

 4   applicant is continuing to engage with SHPO and the
  

 5   relevant tribal contacts regarding archaeological
  

 6   resources.
  

 7                 We did not identify any recreational
  

 8   opportunities in our CEC corridor that would be
  

 9   significantly impacted nor would we impact any access to
  

10   those recreational opportunities as a result of the CEC
  

11   Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

12                 And then, finally, as Isaac just testified
  

13   to a moment ago, we do not anticipate any significant
  

14   impacts to noise or signal interference, and the impacts
  

15   that we do describe are within the limits that were
  

16   disclosed in the original FEIS.  So, again, taking
  

17   that -- all those factors into consideration, in my
  

18   opinion, I found that the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

19   route is environmentally compatible.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.  Looks like
  

21   that's going to conclude the testimony from panel two.
  

22   Do the members have any questions?
  

23                 (No response.)
  

24                 MS. GRABEL:  Actually, Mr. Chairman, before
  

25   we conclude, I'd like to ask one question of
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 1   Ms. Bellavia.
  

 2       Q.   We haven't rehearsed this so watch this, just
  

 3   say "yes."  So if you can just turn to Exhibit SL-15.
  

 4       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Just say yes she said.  Yes.
  

 5       Q.   Whenever your lawyer asks you a question, just
  

 6   say yes.
  

 7       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Got it.
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  15?
  

 9   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

10       Q.   15.  SL-15.
  

11       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Yes.
  

12       Q.   Have you seen this document before?
  

13       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) Yes.
  

14       Q.   What is this document?
  

15       A.   (MS. BELLAVIA) This is a letter from TEP.  It
  

16   was actually referenced in my testimony in response to
  

17   the Exhibit H letter.  It's essentially a letter from TEP
  

18   stating thank you for the opportunity to comment.  We
  

19   have no objections to this notification or these proposed
  

20   amendments.
  

21       Q.   Thank you.  No further questions.
  

22            That wraps up panel two.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Any questions
  

24   from members?
  

25                 (No response.)
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, I think
  

 2   this is a good stopping point for lunch and we can come
  

 3   back at 1:00 with -- you can introduce panel three.
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm sorry to -- but I do
  

 7   have one further question.
  

 8                 I notice in the application that it says,
  

 9   "The project is compatible with the existing Cochise
  

10   County, City of Benson, Pima County, and City of Tucson
  

11   zoning districts and land use designations upon approval
  

12   of a Conditional Use Permit for Pima County for Zone
  

13   GR-1."
  

14                 I didn't hear any mention of that.  I'm
  

15   wondering if that's been obtained or what the status of
  

16   that is.  It's on page B-7 of the application, that
  

17   statement.
  

18                 MR. AGNER:  Member Little, I believe that
  

19   statement is in error.  I -- that may have been an
  

20   initial finding, but upon further review and consultation
  

21   with Pima County, it was determined that this particular
  

22   project is compatible with the general rural zoning
  

23   district, and that there would be no Conditional Use
  

24   Permit.  So good catch, and apologies that that statement
  

25   is still in there, however, I believe at this time that
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 1   that statement is no longer accurate.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Any other questions from
  

 4   members?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  With that we
  

 7   stand in recess.
  

 8                 (Recessed from 12:09 p.m. until 1:03 p.m.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's go back
  

10   on the record.
  

11                 Ms. Grabel, I believe you were about to
  

12   call your third panel.
  

13                 MS. GRABEL:  Indeed I was, Mr. Chairman.
  

14   We'll go to panel number three, in which we'll talk about
  

15   public outreach and notice.  And on this panel are
  

16   Mr. Phillips, Mr. Patterson, and Mr. Agner.  They have
  

17   all been sworn in already.
  

18                 Do you want to remind them of anything
  

19   or --
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.  I remind you all
  

21   you're still under oath.
  

22   //
  

23   //
  

24   //
  

25   //
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 1        ISAAC PHILLIPS, DOUG PATTERSON, and COLIN AGNER,
  

 2   called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
  

 3   having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
  

 4   to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
  

 5   examined and testified as follows:
  

 6
  

 7               D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N
  

 8   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 9       Q.   Okay.  And before we continue with the
  

10   presentation, starting on slide, I believe, 165, I do
  

11   have a couple of exhibits that I'd like to lay a
  

12   foundation for.
  

13            So with that, Mr. Patterson, if you can please
  

14   turn to Exhibit SL-11A, which is the summary of the
  

15   public outreach that was conducted for this project.
  

16       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I'm there.
  

17       Q.   Have you seen this document before?
  

18       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I have.
  

19       Q.   Was it prepared by you or under your direction
  

20   and control?
  

21       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it was.
  

22       Q.   And was this document provided in response to
  

23   paragraph 16 of the Chairman's Procedural Order in this
  

24   matter?
  

25       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it was.
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 1       Q.   Does this summary accurately convey the public
  

 2   outreach performed by Southline?
  

 3       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) It does.
  

 4       Q.   Thank you.
  

 5            And if you'll please turn to Exhibit SL-11B?
  

 6       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I'm there.
  

 7       Q.   What is this document?
  

 8       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) This is a public outreach
  

 9   summary supplement.
  

10       Q.   And, specifically, this is the supplement to
  

11   Exhibit J to the application, which is Exhibit SL-1, to
  

12   add updated outreach since filing the application?
  

13       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Correct.
  

14       Q.   Was this document prepared by you or under your
  

15   direction and control?
  

16       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it was.
  

17       Q.   And is it accurate?
  

18       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) It is.
  

19       Q.   Thank you.
  

20            Please go ahead and continue with the
  

21   presentation.
  

22       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Great.  Thank you.
  

23            So I'm going to back up and give a little
  

24   history and overview of the outreach, and then
  

25   Mr. Phillips will talk about our current outreach for
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 1   this process.  And I guess just to set the stage, we've
  

 2   talked a little bit about this, but I think it's
  

 3   important to start with the project and really where we
  

 4   started, and before we ever even had a project, Bill Kipp
  

 5   and I, we had an idea, and really a philosophy, and it
  

 6   was basically based on looking for ways to maximize
  

 7   benefits and minimize impacts.  That was the philosophy,
  

 8   and we really had an approach that we wanted to really
  

 9   start with stakeholders to try to frame that and to
  

10   figure out the best way to do that.
  

11            And so this idea really, you know, started, this
  

12   journey started in really 2008, 2009 time period, one
  

13   aspect we haven't talked much about yet in these
  

14   proceedings is we really started coming to the -- working
  

15   with the regional utilities, that was really kind of our
  

16   starting point, frankly, because we knew there was this
  

17   need for transmission, we started coming to the
  

18   WestConnect meetings that Member Little is very familiar
  

19   with, I'm sure.  And trying to talk to people who were,
  

20   you know, much more experienced than we were, people like
  

21   Mr. Beck and others who had had decades evaluating the
  

22   system trying to think about where was the real needs and
  

23   opportunities, and where could there be some way to add
  

24   value.
  

25            That's what really helped frame the concept of
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 1   really trying to connect the New Mexico and El Paso
  

 2   system with the Southern Arizona system.  And so that was
  

 3   the kind of big picture framing.  But we had this
  

 4   philosophy that could we do this in a way that would
  

 5   minimize impacts.  And that's where we started just
  

 6   having these iterative conversations in the -- you know,
  

 7   well before any permitting, this is in this period before
  

 8   we started off any permitting.  And we just started
  

 9   talking to people, frankly, and tried to listen.  And
  

10   just get feedback and, you know, back then, we started
  

11   setting up meetings before the official permitting
  

12   started.  A lot of people thought actually we were kind
  

13   of it crazy.  And -- but we got a lot of good feedback.
  

14            And we kept hearing consistent messages about
  

15   try to utilize existing infrastructure, parallel the
  

16   infrastructure if you can, and -- and so that really
  

17   helped us frame the concepts that we took into looking
  

18   for routing, and that led us to a routing study that
  

19   helped us kind of frame how could we kind of meet the
  

20   needs of what we were trying to solve, and it was a
  

21   little different in the New Mexico portion than the
  

22   Arizona portion, where New Mexico a lot more open space,
  

23   you know, existing corridors, but less -- less populated
  

24   areas, less, you know, fewer sensitive areas, at least in
  

25   the region where we were looking.
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 1            But in Arizona, where, you know, I think the
  

 2   state has something like it's only 20 percent private
  

 3   land or something, someone could correct me.  But, you
  

 4   know, there's a lot of public lands, tribal lands, all
  

 5   kinds of lands that have sensitivities.  And so when we
  

 6   thought about what would be a way that could, you know,
  

 7   meet that -- that kind of goal that we were trying to
  

 8   meet over combining really with the fundamental objective
  

 9   of working with the utilities, how could we improve the
  

10   system, that really led us to thinking about could we
  

11   upgrade where there were older lines.
  

12            And -- and that was really where what was
  

13   helpful from the working with the utilities was learning
  

14   about the system, you know, Member Little and others
  

15   might recall, and I think Mr. Beck mentioned it in
  

16   previous testimony, but part of the Southern Arizona
  

17   system, you know, didn't have a lot of connectivity,
  

18   there had been challenges in operating that system over
  

19   time.
  

20            When we kind of came on the scene, there was a
  

21   study group that had evaluated the Arizona system and had
  

22   really identified this old WAPA line, which as we've
  

23   talked about a lot was built, you know, in the 1950s, it
  

24   was really the weak link in the area.  And so there was
  

25   this electrical or system reason to focus on the WAPA
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 1   line.  And -- and so upgrading that line really became
  

 2   the central focus.
  

 3            But it wasn't the only idea, and I know there's
  

 4   been some comments and, you know, first I would said
  

 5   we've had some great comments that have come in and all
  

 6   feedback is good feedback and helps you understand maybe
  

 7   where, you know, blind spots or where we could improve,
  

 8   but the -- I would just say that there were different
  

 9   options that had been considered over time and, you know,
  

10   still thinking about this, you know, pre-NEPA and into
  

11   the NEPA process, there were a couple different lines
  

12   that we evaluated.
  

13            In addition to the WAPA line, there was an AEPCO
  

14   line that was evaluated for potential upgrades, but that
  

15   one had a number of quite challenging constraints,
  

16   including going through a national monument.  And some
  

17   other constraints that really did not really seem like
  

18   that would be viable, plus it really didn't meet the
  

19   electrical need that we were focused on.
  

20            And so long winded intro, but I think it's
  

21   important, because, you know, at that point, as we kind
  

22   of headed to NEPA, really, the -- in order to meet our
  

23   objectives which was to improve the system in a way that
  

24   didn't have, you know, impacts to other sensitive areas,
  

25   which I would just mention part of that pre-NEPA

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 314

  

 1   feedback, you know, and it's come through in
  

 2   environmental panel or others, but we were getting pretty
  

 3   consistent feedback in this Southern Arizona area, you
  

 4   know, whether it was from folks focused on the
  

 5   environment and the sensitivity of kind of the San Pedro
  

 6   Valley, for example, or tribal, you know, comments and
  

 7   concerns which Ms. Bellavia mentioned.  But also the
  

 8   military where Ft. Huachuca has a very important
  

 9   electronics testing range that operates in this area.
  

10            And all of those entities expressed, look, no
  

11   one really wants new infrastructure, but if you're going
  

12   to build it, if you could keep it in existing corridors
  

13   or, even better, improve or upgrade existing -- existing
  

14   infrastructure, that was the pretty clear consensus of a
  

15   lot of stakeholders.  And so that really helped us, by
  

16   the time we got to, you know, thinking about really
  

17   taking this into permitting and by that point we felt
  

18   like we had a strategy that -- that made sense from the
  

19   technical and utility perspective, but also, you know,
  

20   this potential strategy of permitting, that's really what
  

21   we took into NEPA, and that really led to the -- to our
  

22   submission of our right-of-way application and really
  

23   started kicking off the formal federal process.
  

24            That process -- so we started with kind of our
  

25   own just applicant outreach.  We had lots of meetings,
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 1   you know, I've touched on it a little bit in this kind of
  

 2   pre-NEPA time period that helped lead into the formal
  

 3   NEPA outreach that really started, you know, around in
  

 4   2012.  And there were official scoping meetings, that
  

 5   process really started -- that outreach was really led by
  

 6   the agencies, BLM and WAPA, and we were a part of that,
  

 7   but the way that they brought that to the public and the
  

 8   way it was noticed and communicated, they took the lead
  

 9   and we tried to amplify that and follow up and do
  

10   everything we could to get the word out and follow up and
  

11   communicate, but we really needed to follow their lead as
  

12   that process worked its way through.
  

13            And then following that federal process, that's
  

14   when we came first, you know, to the State process, first
  

15   with Arizona and submitted our initial CEC application in
  

16   2016.  And then we've talked through kind of the
  

17   subsequent amendment with Vail to Tortolita and where we
  

18   are today.  But there's been multiple rounds of public
  

19   meetings in Arizona, I think at least seven.  I know when
  

20   we were recently in Willcox, I think I counted -- I've
  

21   been personally to at least nine different meetings over
  

22   the last five -- 15 years, public meetings that we've
  

23   hosted in Willcox alone.  And so it's been critical and a
  

24   key part of our, you know, just of our strategy, of our
  

25   belief system, frankly, and so it's been a very critical
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 1   part and -- of how we do everything.
  

 2            As we moved into the -- in the pre-NEPA -- I've
  

 3   touched on some of this, but we had, you know, meetings
  

 4   both with jurisdictional entities to help frame
  

 5   opportunities, as well as public meetings along the route
  

 6   for the whole project, but specifically here in Arizona,
  

 7   Willcox, Benson, Tucson, Marana, back when it was for the
  

 8   full upgrade section, this is just an example of some of
  

 9   the entities that -- that -- that were consulted with and
  

10   engaged with over that time period.
  

11            When we got into the -- into the federal EIS
  

12   process, the goal really was to inform the public of the
  

13   proposed project, again, really, this was Agency led and
  

14   Southline supported, but we tried to answer any
  

15   questions, take in feedback, and really kind of
  

16   communicate and amplify what was going on.  There was a
  

17   formal -- formally noticed communication of this effort
  

18   that BLM and WAPA led, and in comment periods and as a
  

19   whole series of public meetings, as shown on slide 174.
  

20            And so I guess just to kind of recap the -- and
  

21   then carrying that forward, we've just continuously
  

22   looked to solicit feedback, we still do, we will to the
  

23   day that this project is put in service and beyond.  And,
  

24   you know, we -- we focus on trying to have as many
  

25   personal interactions as we can, which is why you can see
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 1   such a, you know, strong, good team that we bring to
  

 2   these events and host these meetings that we have.  It's
  

 3   important to us.  You know, thankfully we found a partner
  

 4   in Grid United who has a shared, you know, philosophy and
  

 5   commitment to this type of effort.  And, you know, it's
  

 6   led us -- and I will credit the Grid United team as
  

 7   well -- into thinking -- looking for other ways where we
  

 8   can have a positive benefit.
  

 9            You know, the best thing is if you can avoid
  

10   some type of impact.  Sometimes, you know, we have to try
  

11   to minimize it, like with upgrading a line, and, you
  

12   know, there may be some impacts that -- there will always
  

13   be some impacts, and so we do recognize that.  You know,
  

14   this project will be hosted in communities and that's one
  

15   of the reasons that we've really focused on a community
  

16   investment program, in addition to the other efforts that
  

17   we lead.  And, you know, no one better than Isaac and his
  

18   team to kind of talk through this, since they've really
  

19   captained this and done a great job, and but maybe I'll
  

20   hand it over to Mr. Phillips to kind of take it into our
  

21   current out reach.
  

22       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Sure.  Thank you, Doug.
  

23            You know, I covered this on the first day
  

24   relating to the public engagement, direct community
  

25   benefit program, investment program that we work on, so
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 1   just the same information that we, outside of the
  

 2   formalized stakeholder approach associated with
  

 3   permitting a regulatory requirements, we do make an
  

 4   effort outside of that with direct communications with
  

 5   stakeholders and landowners, and other jurisdictions to
  

 6   figure out ways that we can provide value.  To Doug's
  

 7   point, you know, every project has its impacts, so how
  

 8   can we minimize them, how can we mitigate them, how can
  

 9   we bring value.
  

10            I will talk a little bit about the outreach that
  

11   we've done in 2025, but I'll just highlight the images
  

12   that we see on 178, Benson Lantern Festival in 2024, I
  

13   took that photo.  Arizona Game & Fish Department, we had
  

14   a site visit outside of the Willcox Playa to discuss
  

15   impacts in 2025, you've got the back of my head right
  

16   there.  And then we actually were the prize pig buyer at
  

17   the Hidalgo County Fair, I think that's Hidalgo County
  

18   Fair, in 2025, so that's our team with the prize pig this
  

19   year.
  

20            So an interesting, like, we get a lot of
  

21   interesting requests for participation, you know, things
  

22   like the Deming Duck Race in New Mexico, like, very
  

23   interesting local events, in addition to -- where we can,
  

24   you know, show up, answer questions, participate, but
  

25   also in addition to larger infrastructural investments
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 1   that we also work on with communities.
  

 2            So following the completion of NEPA and the CEC
  

 3   processes and the amendment of the CEC in 2021, you know,
  

 4   as Doug mentioned, Southline primarily coordinated
  

 5   through WAPA who was the lead on the upgrade segment for
  

 6   stakeholder engagement and the management of their
  

 7   right-of-way as a lead on the project and not under the
  

 8   CEC.
  

 9            When it became kind of more clear and the roles
  

10   and responsibilities adjusted in 2025 as we worked on
  

11   design, we moved forward with this amendment and the
  

12   enhanced public engagement that we performed in 2025, to
  

13   ensure that the community was getting the additional
  

14   information relating to the proposed project changes and
  

15   getting additional communication relating to the project
  

16   as a whole in this segment, which WAPA had previously
  

17   managed.  So in support of that, I'll talk through a
  

18   variety of public engagement mechanisms that we have
  

19   utilized to support both the CEC and then generally to
  

20   solicit public feedback on the information that we
  

21   provided yesterday and today.
  

22            Firstly, I'll note we have maintained an active
  

23   public website for -- throughout development.  So here we
  

24   talk about establishing a website, we established a CEC
  

25   Arizona Corporation Commission section on our existing
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 1   website, but we've been publicizing the project for a
  

 2   number of years on our website with points of contact so
  

 3   that interested parties could get in touch with our
  

 4   development team.  And these are managed actively, so
  

 5   that's an email address, a telephone line, and a mailing
  

 6   address that people can submit information to.
  

 7            We added additional information relating to all
  

 8   of the filings and information that we provided at public
  

 9   meetings this year onto the website.  We ran -- we
  

10   implemented a kind of comprehensive newspaper, social
  

11   media, and mailing exercise for the notifications
  

12   relating to the project, the public meetings, and this
  

13   hearing.  And then we also installed a virtual open house
  

14   on the website that could be accessed at any time, and
  

15   we've left it open so that folks didn't have like a
  

16   limited period of time in which they could access it.
  

17            Of note, we've also published all the
  

18   information that you could get at the public open houses,
  

19   the in-person and virtual open houses, online and
  

20   accessible and downloadable by the community.  So we
  

21   don't have any restrictions on their use of that info and
  

22   that's all on our website.  And I will talk through the
  

23   public open houses that we performed in 2025 shortly, but
  

24   just a few photos on slide 180 of the open houses.  We've
  

25   got, on the left-hand side -- excuse me, this is the Red
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 1   Barn Event Center in the city of Benson.  This is the
  

 2   Pima County Fairgrounds, where we held a meeting.  And
  

 3   this is the Willcox Community Center, in the town of
  

 4   Willcox.
  

 5            I mentioned this previously, but we have
  

 6   dedicated project-specific email address and points of
  

 7   contact with an Arizona phone number for folks to secure
  

 8   additional information, ask questions, and provide public
  

 9   comment.  We have an Arizona-based mailing address, and
  

10   we have maintained these and will continue to maintain
  

11   them throughout development, so we're not closing
  

12   anything off.  We -- honestly, while we've been sitting
  

13   here we've gotten two phone calls requesting information
  

14   that our team's been managing, so this is a continually
  

15   managed process and something that our team takes
  

16   seriously and also works to provide answers to all the
  

17   questions that come in.
  

18            I have here the project email address,
  

19   Connect@Southlinetransmission.com, our telephone line and
  

20   our mailing address.  And then also our website -- or
  

21   invitation to the Southline Transmission open house, an
  

22   example of the invitation to the open houses.  The
  

23   project website that I mentioned that we've maintained
  

24   for years is Southlinetransmission.com.  We keep it up to
  

25   date as new information becomes available.  It is for the
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 1   comprehensive line, so the full 270-mile line.  It
  

 2   contains all of our links to our full docket, a
  

 3   permitting history, news about the project, information
  

 4   that we have up to date about the project, and we have
  

 5   supplemented it this year with a CEC-focused, the Apache
  

 6   to Vail upgrade route- focused segment, so that people
  

 7   can get additional information, more detailed information
  

 8   about this segment specifically.  It has project team and
  

 9   contact information.  And, as I mentioned, we keep our
  

10   virtual tour -- virtual open house and our open house
  

11   details published on it as well.  And we have made key
  

12   documents available for download and viewing on that
  

13   website.
  

14            Since we've been kind of in this process and
  

15   filed our application for amendment, we've received over
  

16   9,500 site visits to the site between October and
  

17   December of 2025, associated with the timing of our
  

18   public meetings and application.  And we have a few
  

19   screenshots on slide 187 of the website and the
  

20   information that you can find on it.
  

21            To support our open houses -- well, first, I'll
  

22   start with the project outreach.  So we compiled a
  

23   mailing list for project communications in the Apache to
  

24   Vail upgrade segment with a mailing list for landowners
  

25   and residents within one mile of the requested CEC
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 1   corridor, and that's everyone that was in the public
  

 2   record, so that's over 4,500 individuals.  And then an
  

 3   additional 127 relevant stakeholders, and this includes
  

 4   jurisdictions, federal and state agencies, County
  

 5   officials and departments, and tribe entities as well, to
  

 6   ensure that relevant stakeholders, in addition to just
  

 7   those within a mile, but I think we also included
  

 8   everyone within -- all jurisdictions within five miles or
  

 9   other relevant stakeholders that had been identified
  

10   through our previous permitting processes or through any
  

11   additional outreach were included on that as well.
  

12            So that was development of a mailing list for us
  

13   to effectively advertise for open houses and for
  

14   information related to the project, so that's how we set
  

15   up our initial list.  We then send an informational
  

16   letter with, you know, comprehensive information about
  

17   the upgrade route, the description and the map of the
  

18   project and what we're proposing.  The in-person open
  

19   house event details, contact information and a web
  

20   address so folks could find additional information.  Our
  

21   virtual open house website link, so they could
  

22   immediately get on the virtual open house.  And then also
  

23   requests for comments and deadlines to be included in our
  

24   CEC application.
  

25            In addition, we published in three newspapers,

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 324

  

 1   the Vail Voice, The Herald Review, and The Arizona Daily
  

 2   Star prior to the meeting.  And these are all provided in
  

 3   Exhibit J.  And these -- these mailings -- or, excuse me,
  

 4   these newspaper postings which we have an example of on
  

 5   slide 188, the newspaper advertisement invited folks to
  

 6   the open house event and provided the details for them to
  

 7   participate.  And that was for our November open house.
  

 8            We also underwent a relatively comprehensive
  

 9   Facebook marketing campaign where we pushed open house
  

10   event details to a number of zip codes that -- under
  

11   which the project kind of crosses -- over which the
  

12   project crosses.  So from October 22nd to November 13th,
  

13   we boosted advertisements on Facebook to three zip codes
  

14   that intersect the study area.  And very interestingly,
  

15   we had a number of attendees at the public meetings, that
  

16   specifically note that they were outside of the mailing
  

17   corridor, but they heard about this project for the first
  

18   time via Facebook.  And we had 16,000 accounts reached
  

19   via social media, 1,600 engagements, including 24 shares
  

20   as well.  And we're boosted on a number of local
  

21   jurisdictional pages and I think a fire department page
  

22   as well, to ensure that the news got to the community
  

23   about the public meetings.  And then I have on slide 188
  

24   in the middle the social media advertisement for that
  

25   that was boosted on Facebook.  So the same information
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 1   provided in the newspaper mailings -- postings and the
  

 2   mailings.
  

 3            So on November 10th we held a public meeting at
  

 4   the Red Barn Event Center in Benson, Arizona.  On
  

 5   November 12th, we held a meeting at the Pima County
  

 6   Fairgrounds near Vail.  On November 13th, we held a
  

 7   meeting at the Willcox Community Center in Willcox.
  

 8   These were open house format, so we had, I think
  

 9   something like 12 of our team members from our
  

10   development team, lands team, engineering team,
  

11   construction team, and environmental team.  So members
  

12   from all of our subject matter experts attend to support
  

13   any questions from locals.
  

14            We had a -- something like 30 poster boards with
  

15   information, and all of this is available on our website
  

16   as well, with maps, overview, impact information, visual
  

17   simulations, descriptions of the 230/345 design and the
  

18   potential impacts, height descriptions, et cetera -- and
  

19   then we also had sign-in sheets, comment forms, and
  

20   take-away informational fliers, so folks could take
  

21   information with them.  And we did keep a comment box as
  

22   well, so folks could submit written comments directly to
  

23   our team, in addition to just the questions that we
  

24   answered live.
  

25            We had approximately 100 to 150 individuals
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 1   attend, hard to get a final count, because we did have a
  

 2   sign-in sheet with 72 sign-ins, but we can't force people
  

 3   to sign in, and couples would come in and one would sign
  

 4   and one wouldn't, so our informal count was 100 to 150
  

 5   over the three events.  72 individuals signed in and we
  

 6   received seven comments -- written comments.  I will say
  

 7   that we answered an uncountable number of questions live
  

 8   to the attendees, and I'll provide a brief summary of
  

 9   some of the questions we received.
  

10            Generally, the majority of the questions were
  

11   where is this line in relation to my home?  And so a lot
  

12   of the follow-ups that our team took on and the
  

13   information that we provided to landowners live was
  

14   helping them to locate where they live in relation to the
  

15   existing WAPA line.  We followed up with a number of
  

16   landowners with specific maps we created for the
  

17   landowner.  We took their address, mapped the WAPA line,
  

18   provided a measurement and sent them either an email or
  

19   paper copy to their requested address, so they could see
  

20   exactly the distance of the project to their line.  And
  

21   generally answered that question.  And I would say that
  

22   was 75 percent of what we received.
  

23            We, additionally, had folks that already have
  

24   the WAPA line on their property request, and I mentioned
  

25   this earlier, for folks that are interested in where the
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 1   final footprint will be of poles or roads, request that
  

 2   we follow up with them once we have detail design
  

 3   complete, which we said we would, to provide more detail
  

 4   on the specific impacts on their property.  So that was
  

 5   the kind of second tier request.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 8                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, sir.
  

 9                 Question, Mr. Phillips, going back the 75
  

10   or so years when WAPA started all of this, was there cash
  

11   that passed from somebody to the landowners?  Were there
  

12   contracts signed on all of these things?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I can't speak specifically
  

14   to the contractual arrangement besides to say that
  

15   there's a combination of old public land grants, private
  

16   easements, and other forms of site control agreements, so
  

17   I think the landscape looked significantly different than
  

18   it does today, from an ownership perspective.  Typically,
  

19   for any private easements there's some sort of cash, you
  

20   know, agreement, but I can't speak specifically to the
  

21   terms.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  I understand that
  

23   records get lost and et cetera.  What I was getting at
  

24   was your earlier comment where people -- the primary
  

25   question was where's the pole next to -- where's the pole
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 1   in relation to my house?  And if these houses were built
  

 2   post-WAPA, as I think in virtually every case would be
  

 3   the situation, somebody signed a document somewhere, and
  

 4   it ought to be, you know, if the house was built 15 years
  

 5   ago by the current owners, there should be some
  

 6   recollection that, yes, I signed for it and I got 200
  

 7   bucks, or whatever the number is.
  

 8                 I just wondered if your answers went toward
  

 9   those sorts of things to say to me as a homeowner, oh,
  

10   yeah, take a look at your records, you know, in 2011, you
  

11   signed on this, and you took a check home.
  

12                 MR. PATTERSON:  Member Kryder, it's a good
  

13   question, but I think in virtually all, probably all
  

14   cases, the easement predated any of the home, you know,
  

15   building.  And so WAPA has -- what WAPA's told us is that
  

16   they have perpetual easements that were signed that -- so
  

17   really it predates, and we have some visuals which -- or
  

18   we've looked at where you can clearly see, go back to
  

19   2000, look at satellite imagery of the Sonoita Hills
  

20   area, for example, where there's been comments, there's
  

21   no homes there.  The WAPA line is there.  Same thing in
  

22   Mescal, which is the other relatively populated area.
  

23                 And so WAPA has these easements --
  

24   perpetual easements that they obtained back in the 1950s,
  

25   that really enable them or entitle WAPA to -- to
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 1   build -- to construct, own, operate and replace a
  

 2   transmission line, and furthermore, WAPA has done a legal
  

 3   review of those easements, which they did, by the way,
  

 4   prior to the Vail-Tortolita construction happening, so
  

 5   they did it for the whole upgrade section of all their
  

 6   easements and their legal opinion, you know, was that
  

 7   WAPA has the current land rights to upgrade it from wood
  

 8   pole to steel pole and from single-circuit to
  

 9   double-circuit and to increase the voltage, all within
  

10   the existing rights that they have.
  

11                 And so really any of the building that
  

12   happened around the WAPA transmission line really should
  

13   have -- should have been in coordination with WAPA, and
  

14   we're not privy to all of those details, but whoever the
  

15   homebuilders were who built -- you know, it wasn't, for
  

16   example, that the line was built through the front yards
  

17   of these homes, it was that the homes were built, you
  

18   know, potentially into the line's easement or up abutting
  

19   it.  And so that's really the kind of, you know, you put
  

20   your finger on one of the kind of, you know, most
  

21   interesting points of this.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  You used the word three
  

23   times "perpetual," and you really mean these are
  

24   perpetual?
  

25                 MR. PATTERSON:  That's what we've been told
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 1   and from the easements we've seen.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  That's such a long time.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So, Member Kryder, were you
  

 4   asking if the current landowners got compensated for the
  

 5   easement?
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  If somebody got
  

 7   compensated, yeah.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Whoever the owner was back
  

 9   in the '50s when they originally built the line, they got
  

10   the easements and all the new property -- well, I guess
  

11   the new owners of the property that they built on, they
  

12   bought those properties subject to the easement or
  

13   adjacent to the easement or whatever the case may be.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  That was where my question
  

15   was leading, yes.  It's a whole different landscape when
  

16   you look at it from that perspective than many of the
  

17   CECs that we've looked at where the current applicant has
  

18   to go hat in hand, so to speak, and a checkbook in his
  

19   pocket.  It's a whole different deal.  And I thank you
  

20   for fishing -- fleshing that out for us -- not fishing it
  

21   out, fleshing it out -- it helps me understand perhaps
  

22   some of the constrictions that Mr. Phillips and I were
  

23   talking about in his job a few minutes ago.
  

24                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And I'll note, from an
  

25   outreach perspective, I think from my perspective it's --
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 1   it's still very fair for underlying landowners to request
  

 2   additional detail on what this will look like.  And so we
  

 3   do our best, even in this event where, you know, we're
  

 4   working within a WAPA easement, you know, it is a fair
  

 5   request to get detailed information on pole spotting and
  

 6   specific impacts, and so this is something that, you
  

 7   know, when the folks ask can we get some information
  

 8   about the proximity, we're happy to provide.
  

 9                 And as we get toward more detail design,
  

10   you know, take in additional feedback, like we did with
  

11   Windmill Ridge, you know, we can get into some
  

12   discussions on pole spotting, et cetera, and micro-siting
  

13   to help potentially improve impacts on existing
  

14   landowners through coordination with them.
  

15                 And that's part of the purpose of these
  

16   public meetings is not just notifying about a project,
  

17   but also trying to secure the contact and feedback for
  

18   where can we best micro-site and avoid impact?  So
  

19   regardless of underlying ownership and payment, et
  

20   cetera, I think it's still something that we prioritize
  

21   as taking those comments and seeing if we can minimize.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yeah, it was just that it
  

23   appeared to me, with this additional information,
  

24   "perpetual" really relieves you in some degree.  You
  

25   can't get away from perpetual.  That's a big hammer over
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 1   the head.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's the federal
  

 3   government for you.
  

 4                 MS. GRABEL:  That's what I was going to
  

 5   say.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Death and taxes, huh?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And easements, too,
  

 8   apparently.
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So in addition to the
  

10   comments about location, we did receive, you know,
  

11   comments, I think, will be reflected in the record as
  

12   well, you know, some concern related to potential impacts
  

13   from noise and EMF, which we do our best to be very clear
  

14   about and provide information that's in our application
  

15   to those landowners and give certainty that we are
  

16   adhering to relevant industry standards to as well.  And,
  

17   generally, I think the other item would be we did get a
  

18   lot of feedback on opportunities for us to get more
  

19   engagement with the community from a donation and
  

20   sponsorship perspective, so folks giving us feedback on
  

21   that front.
  

22                 One item -- two items that we adjusted our
  

23   outreach plan to address.  So the first was we had a
  

24   handful of folks indicate they were not able to attend
  

25   these meetings due to other restrictions or work.  We
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 1   also had individuals asking for more granular detail, as
  

 2   I mentioned, these maps, can we locate where our house
  

 3   is, can we measure, et cetera, live at the meeting, and
  

 4   we had maps, but we didn't have, you know, very, very
  

 5   zoomed in.
  

 6                 And so taking that feedback, we immediately
  

 7   scheduled a second round, so a second round of meetings
  

 8   in December, in order to give folks that were not able to
  

 9   attend the first round of three meetings an additional
  

10   opportunity to meet our team, see the information, it was
  

11   available on our website, but get their questions
  

12   answered live.  And so we held the meetings on December
  

13   8th, 9th, and 10th, again, at the Red Barn Event Center
  

14   in Benson, the Willcox Community Center in Willcox, and
  

15   the Pima County Fairgrounds near Vail.
  

16                 In that meeting, we had the same poster
  

17   board information, project-specific maps, come with the
  

18   information, sign-in sheet, comment form, et cetera.  We
  

19   did include map books, so in that meeting we printed very
  

20   detailed binders full of maps, where you could go
  

21   effectively mile by mile and look at the route and it
  

22   helped, live, folks that attended those meetings identify
  

23   their homes, because you could zoom -- you know, it was
  

24   zoomed in enough you could see your roof, say this is my
  

25   house, and okay, here's the measurement.
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 1                 So a little bit of what we were doing in
  

 2   the background as follow-ups for folks where we were
  

 3   going and prepping a map for them and mailing it to them,
  

 4   we were doing it live at those meetings.  We had
  

 5   approximately 50 individuals attend those three sessions.
  

 6   Across those three sessions, 36 signed in and three
  

 7   comments received.  Again, of the similar vein from the
  

 8   original round of meetings.
  

 9                 Our virtual open house was hosted at
  

10   Southlineopenhouse.com, additionally links available on
  

11   our main website, provided the same information,
  

12   applicant overview, CEC, upgraded route description and
  

13   location, land use maps, visual simulations, permitting
  

14   requirements and a sign-in sheet and comment form.  We
  

15   had 808 virtual open house visits, 12 individuals
  

16   sign-in, but we did not receive any comments on the
  

17   virtual open house.
  

18                 And then on slide 194, we have some
  

19   screenshots -- oops, excuse me -- some screenshots from
  

20   the virtual open house, so this is the virtual
  

21   environment that could be navigated by folks on the
  

22   website.  We also just have this information free to
  

23   download, so you don't have to actually go into the
  

24   virtual environment you can just download a PDF with all
  

25   the boards and slides, you know, if you don't want to
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 1   navigate through this.
  

 2                 So across these public engagement
  

 3   activities we had 28 comments received, 10 via phone, 10
  

 4   via open house comment form, and 8 via email.  I walked
  

 5   through these already, but generally, focused on the
  

 6   proximity of the project to the property boundaries.  We
  

 7   had a number of folks -- there's a lot of transmission
  

 8   and pipeline in this area, so we actually did have a
  

 9   number of folks thinking it was a pipeline getting
  

10   upgraded or another line getting upgraded, so just
  

11   clarifying what exact line is getting upgraded.  And then
  

12   I did overview some of the concerns or opposition we
  

13   noted, specifically related to EMF and then visual
  

14   impacts, which are really the most common comments that
  

15   we receive across the country on transmission
  

16   development.
  

17                 And all of those were addressed, you know,
  

18   live with the information that we provided.  We had
  

19   comprehensive, all of our visual simulations available on
  

20   big boards so folks could walk through.  We had our
  

21   engineering diagram comparing the existing line to the
  

22   new line, all of that available live to answer questions
  

23   about those -- about those comments.
  

24                 And then taking that information, for
  

25   instance, the Windmill Ridge folks provided additional
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 1   information and requested some adjustments, which we
  

 2   worked to reach agreement on with them.  And continued to
  

 3   be open to receiving feedback, work with landowners and
  

 4   community members to try to minimize and mitigate
  

 5   potential impacts and continue to answer questions,
  

 6   frankly, and they continued to come in, I think there
  

 7   were four or five attendees yesterday during the day, all
  

 8   of which were here and asked questions about proximity of
  

 9   the line to their home, so our team was taking contact
  

10   information, creating maps and sending them off live in
  

11   the background here.  And so we will continue to do that
  

12   until we reach construction, frankly.
  

13                 We have also received numerous letters of
  

14   support from stakeholders in the project area through our
  

15   development.  Some of these are a few years old, some of
  

16   these are new for this specific CEC amendment hearing.  I
  

17   will just highlight a few of these.  So some of the ones
  

18   that were a few years old but associated with the project
  

19   include Arizona G&T Cooperatives -- thank you -- Gail
  

20   Griffin, Arizona State Representative District 19,
  

21   Senator David Gowan, Vicki Vivian, who is the City of
  

22   Benson City Manager, Peggy Judd, Cochise County
  

23   Supervisor District 3.
  

24                 THE REPORTER:  Could you slow down?
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Excuse me, sorry.  Peggy
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 1   Judd, Cochise County Supervisor District 3, TEP, and the
  

 2   City of Willcox mayor -- manager -- City manager, excuse
  

 3   me.
  

 4   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 5       Q.   Before you move on, Mr. Phillips, can you turn
  

 6   to Exhibit SL-18, which is one of the late-filed exhibits
  

 7   that should be kind of loose before you?
  

 8       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yes, I have it.
  

 9       Q.   Have you seen Exhibit SL-18 before?
  

10       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yes, I have.
  

11       Q.   What is Exhibit SL-18?
  

12       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) It is additional letters of
  

13   support that we received following the application that
  

14   we're submitting into evidence.
  

15       Q.   And who did we receive additional letters of
  

16   support from since filing?
  

17       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) We have a letter from the City of
  

18   Benson, the mayor, Joseph Conrad, from the City of
  

19   Benson, Fire Chief Ed Nied from Mescal J-6 Fire District,
  

20   Fire Chief Jim Tucker from the Rincon Valley Fire
  

21   District, Arizona State Rep Gail Griffin, Arizona State
  

22   Senator David Gowan, and the City of Willcox Mayor, Greg
  

23   Hancock.
  

24       Q.   Thank you.
  

25            So you -- we received two letters of support
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 1   from Representative Griffin and Senator Gowan; is that
  

 2   right?
  

 3       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) That is correct.
  

 4       Q.   Thank you.  Please continue.
  

 5       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Generally, these letters of
  

 6   support highlight and minimize environmental and
  

 7   community impacts, no additional cost to taxpayers for a
  

 8   relatively significant increase in transmission,
  

 9   community resilience and improvements in the transmission
  

10   system, and then economic benefits and local investment.
  

11   And on -- on slide 198, we have some examples from the
  

12   late-filed in the application.
  

13                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Mercer.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Thank you for all that
  

16   information, and it looks like you've done lots and lots
  

17   of outreach and open -- you know, be open to the public
  

18   and they share their concerns.  But I want to note a
  

19   recurring concern that we hear from the public, that
  

20   while notice may meet statutory requirements, many
  

21   affected residents are still learning about the projects
  

22   a little late and they complain about it.  And that's not
  

23   just particular to your -- to your case or this
  

24   amendment, we hear it over and over again from other
  

25   cases.  I don't know what we can do about that.  Maybe
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 1   it's just two or three people, but still it's a concern.
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, thank you for that.
  

 3   It's a challenge, you know, for instance, the open
  

 4   houses, we held six open house meetings with 10 to 12, 10
  

 5   to 15 members of our team available to answer questions,
  

 6   with mailings going out, newspaper postings, et cetera,
  

 7   it's a challenge to engage communities.  And I think one
  

 8   thing we're seeing work really well is the social media
  

 9   advertising was, from my perspective, a huge success and
  

10   something that really we were very pleased with the
  

11   number of folks that identified this was the first
  

12   time -- a lot of them outside the mailing corridor, but
  

13   folks identified this was a great way to get in touch
  

14   with them.
  

15                 Additionally, this is part of the reason we
  

16   held a second round of meetings, so six meetings in
  

17   total, was just trying to give folks additional
  

18   opportunity to -- to attend.  And, you know, I think
  

19   moving forward we just have to keep lines of
  

20   communication open, have our team available for in-person
  

21   meetings, you know, we have folks on the ground almost
  

22   every week.  We have local land agents in Arizona meeting
  

23   with landowners constantly, and it's just when folks can
  

24   reach out and we can get in touch and get in front of
  

25   them, the more the better.
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 1                 But it is a kind of ongoing challenge, just
  

 2   making sure that we're getting the news out there.  So I
  

 3   think we have made a really good effort here and there's
  

 4   always areas for improvement, but we hope that the
  

 5   mailers and everything got out to as many people as we
  

 6   possibly could.
  

 7                 MEMBER MERCER:  Thank you.  I did notice
  

 8   that you engaged with the public that were here giving
  

 9   testimony, and that shows that, you know, you're willing
  

10   to work with people and try to meet their needs.
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And definitely at least one
  

12   of them I met at the public meeting, so I knew her
  

13   already and, you know, we've already had correspondence
  

14   so it's just a continuation of those relationships.
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Thank you.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

18                 I would like to, along the same lines of
  

19   what Member Mercer shared, I think that you guys have
  

20   done a very good job with your public outreach.  I think
  

21   that what I have heard in this particular hearing is that
  

22   the frustration that the homeowners have is that lack of
  

23   communication between 2011 and now and over which you had
  

24   very little control.
  

25                 I sympathize with their frustration.  I
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 1   know that I have not checked to see what the easement
  

 2   that goes across the corner of my acre out here allows
  

 3   them to ultimately do.  I don't think most homeowners do.
  

 4   And so I think that, you know, in some other cases where
  

 5   the applicant is the one who has not informed the public
  

 6   until they are required to do so for the CEC process,
  

 7   then I think that, you know, they -- the applicant in
  

 8   that case is -- is culpable there.
  

 9                 But I think that you guys have done a good
  

10   job and I would encourage you to continue to do that as
  

11   you progress in this process.  Thank you.
  

12                 MR. PATTERSON:  Thank you, Member Little.
  

13   And you raise a number of very good points.  You know,
  

14   well, first of all you can never do enough outreach, I
  

15   think from our perspective, and we feel like we've done
  

16   what we could.  We, you know, it's not an excuse, but an
  

17   explanation to your point, you know, one of the
  

18   challenging things for us has been navigating different
  

19   jurisdictions that we had to -- or not jurisdictions, but
  

20   just different entities and WAPA had its own process and
  

21   until really it was clear that we were going to go down a
  

22   path where really Southline would construct and own part
  

23   of the line, that was really the only -- at that point
  

24   that WAPA was really comfortable with us going directly
  

25   out to the landowners, because until that time period
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 1   it's really, you know, WAPA's line, WAPA's ownership,
  

 2   and, you know, if they weren't certain that we were going
  

 3   to go down this path they weren't, you know, we didn't
  

 4   really have the ability to do that.  So were caught kind
  

 5   of in between.
  

 6                 Again, not an excuse, and we completely
  

 7   sympathize with the landowners as, you know, as well who
  

 8   have raised these concerns.  And fully intend to, you
  

 9   know, continue the outreach and engagement all the way
  

10   through construction, as Mr. Phillips mentioned.  And
  

11   so, I don't know, Isaac, do you have anything to add to
  

12   that?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I think you covered it well.
  

14   And I think Doug, Mr. Patterson, also did a good job of
  

15   kind of summarizing the work that was done in the kind of
  

16   intervening years and leading up to the NEPA side, and I
  

17   think a lot of good work and comments were solicited from
  

18   the community, but as the member mentioned, we can always
  

19   do better and always attempt to enhance communication
  

20   with the community.  So I think that's the continuing
  

21   goal.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

24                 I do think you've been in a difficult spot.
  

25   I think you've done the best that you've had with the
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 1   timeline that you had -- have had.  I also think that
  

 2   you've done a really good job of maintaining contact with
  

 3   a lot of community leaders, so that -- and I think we
  

 4   don't always talk about that in this hearing, because we
  

 5   tend to talk -- focus on the public piece.  But I just
  

 6   want to say, you know, the -- I think it was two or three
  

 7   years ago the City of Willcox staff -- I was at a League
  

 8   of Cities Conference, you know, my day job is at the
  

 9   Nature Conservancy, everyone thinks I do biodiversity
  

10   stuff, but I do energy stuff, so -- but they were coming
  

11   up to me talking about all the work that they were doing,
  

12   the grants that they were pursuing at the time, the grant
  

13   they got, all of that stuff, knowing that you guys were
  

14   still trying to work with some of the communities and
  

15   stay in contact with the community leaders, so that when
  

16   you needed to do the public outreach, you already had a
  

17   little bit of a support system, I think was strategic and
  

18   thoughtful.
  

19                 And so I just want to compliment you on you
  

20   couldn't take full ownership of the project, right,
  

21   because of the complications with WAPA.  But you were
  

22   present and participating and contributing in ways that I
  

23   don't think everyone sees.  So I appreciate that.
  

24                 MR. PATTERSON:  Thank you very much.
  

25                 MS. GRABEL:  Should we continue, Mr. Chair?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please.
  

 2   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 3       Q.   Okay.  Before we move on to the legal compliance
  

 4   items, which I think is next, Mr. Phillips, you provided
  

 5   a nice segue to this question when you talked about the
  

 6   efficacy of our social media outreach, and one thing we
  

 7   have not yet put in the record is the social media
  

 8   outreach that we did with respect to the Notice of
  

 9   Hearing.  So I don't know if you or Mr. Agner have
  

10   updated social media metrics as to who received or
  

11   however you quantify social media metrics the Notice of
  

12   Hearing outreach?
  

13       A.   (MR. AGNER) Yes.
  

14            So, as Ms. Grabel just mentioned, the metrics
  

15   for the Notice of Hearing social media advertisement are
  

16   not in the record yet, but for the committee's benefit,
  

17   as of the Friday before the start of this hearing, that
  

18   social media advertisement has had approximately 262,000
  

19   views, has reached approximately 31,831 accounts, and has
  

20   had approximately 4,349 engagements with that post,
  

21   including it 4,156 clicks to the link associated with
  

22   that social media advertisement.
  

23       Q.   That's pretty incredible.
  

24            Is there anything further this panel would like
  

25   to say before we move on to legal compliance or any
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 1   further questions?  Okay.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 4                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I do have one question, and
  

 5   that is, I'm wondering if Southline were not doing this
  

 6   construction, if it was originally planned, WAPA was
  

 7   doing the upgrade, what contact with the public would
  

 8   WAPA have been required to do?  Would they have just been
  

 9   allowed to go out and start digging up poles and planting
  

10   poles and taking down lines without any further contact
  

11   with the public?
  

12                 MR. PATTERSON:  Member Little, I don't know
  

13   what they're required to do.  My understanding of WAPA's
  

14   processes, though, is that they would have communication,
  

15   I can't tell you exactly what, but I know from talking to
  

16   them on other projects that, you know, their process is
  

17   to, when they know their timing of what they're going to
  

18   do to send out notifications to landowners and affected
  

19   entities, but I can't give you the specifics of what they
  

20   do or what they're required to do, but they definitely
  

21   have some notification procedures that I'm familiar with.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that outside the NEPA
  

23   process?
  

24                 MR. PATTERSON:  I think it -- I think it
  

25   is.  But -- Mr. Chairman, I probably, I don't know the
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 1   answer to that.
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I do think it's safe to say
  

 3   that their requirements are significantly less than --
  

 4   the requirements are significantly less than the scope of
  

 5   engagement that was completed for this process with the
  

 6   mailings within one mile, additional notifications to
  

 7   jurisdictions, multiple public hearings -- or public
  

 8   meetings and now the public hearing as well.
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's my -- was my
  

10   thought.  Thank you.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

12                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

13                 I'm going to offer two bits here.  Western
  

14   has plans -- they have a Hoover Dam-related plant and a
  

15   Parker Davis system, and the third one, I forgot the name
  

16   of it, goes up to the four substations in Las Vegas, but
  

17   they have that annual plan and they have an environmental
  

18   section, and they do work -- environmental work, et
  

19   cetera, based upon the plan they put together annually.
  

20                 It's not quite as thorough or it's
  

21   definitely not as thorough as a federal NEPA-type
  

22   situation, but they do do some work environmentally,
  

23   based on in this case would the Parker-Davis plant.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

25                 MS. GRABEL:  Shall we continue?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, I believe we have a
  

 2   few exhibits left to cover.
  

 3                 MS. GRABEL:  That is correct.  So rather
  

 4   than going through the legal compliance slides, just in
  

 5   the interest of time, I thought I would run through the
  

 6   remainder of the exhibits that we have, beginning with
  

 7   SL-12, which is -- consists of SL-12 part A through C,
  

 8   and these are Southline Transmission's Ten-Year Plans
  

 9   from the years 2023 through 2025.  We do have plans
  

10   dating back to 2015, but we started with the most recent
  

11   ones just in the interest of saving trees.
  

12                 If you will then turn to Exhibit SL-13,
  

13   these are various exhibits regarding the Notice of
  

14   Hearing requirements.  SL-13A is the actual Notice of
  

15   Hearing.  SL-13B is the proof of publication in the Daily
  

16   Territorial, which is a newspaper of general circulation
  

17   in Pima County, where we published on November 25th and
  

18   28th, within 10 days after the application was filed.
  

19                 SL-13C is a proof of publication in the
  

20   Herald Review, which is a newspaper of general
  

21   circulation in Cochise County.  We published there on
  

22   November 30th and December 7th, which is more than
  

23   30 days prior to the hearing in this matter.  SL-13D is a
  

24   proof of publication in the Arizona Business Gazette,
  

25   another newspaper of general circulation in the area,
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 1   where we published on December 6th.
  

 2                 SL-13E is a proof of publication in the
  

 3   Arizona Bilingual, where we published -- it's a monthly
  

 4   publication, we published in their December version on
  

 5   the 1st.  That was done as a courtesy, given the
  

 6   bilingual nature of the residents in this area.  SL-13F
  

 7   is proof that copies of the application were delivered
  

 8   for public viewing in various locations discussed with
  

 9   the Chairman in the prefiling conference, including
  

10   libraries in Willcox, Benson, and Pima County, as well as
  

11   the Arizona Corporation Commission and on the project
  

12   website.
  

13                 SL-13G is the map of the Notice of Hearing
  

14   sign locations that we discussed with the Chairman in the
  

15   prefiling conference.  SL-13H are pictures confirming
  

16   that the Notice of Hearing signs were posted in the
  

17   locations described on the map, as required by the
  

18   Chairman's procedural order.
  

19                 SL-13I is an illustration of the contents
  

20   of the Notice of Hearing signs.  And SL-13J is proof that
  

21   Southline mailed the Notice of Hearing to the affected
  

22   jurisdictions, which, as you may recall, are Pima County,
  

23   Cochise County, the City of Benson, the City of Tucson,
  

24   and the Arizona State Land Department.
  

25                 Moving on to SL-14, that is the receipt of
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 1   the filing fee that was paid to the Arizona Corporation
  

 2   Commission in the amount of $2,500, which is the
  

 3   statutory amount required for a transmission line of this
  

 4   length.  And we already did SL-15, which brings us to
  

 5   SL-16, which is the proposed form of CEC.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And the one we didn't talk
  

 7   about is SL-10, that was the route tour itinerary that we
  

 8   did not elect to take.  Do you want to offer that or
  

 9   withdraw it?
  

10                 MS. GRABEL:  At your discretion,
  

11   Mr. Chairman.  I didn't think we needed to offer it since
  

12   we didn't take the tour, but if you want it in the
  

13   record, we can put it there.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, because that way we
  

15   can look back and, oh, that's another reason why they
  

16   didn't do a tour.
  

17                 MS. GRABEL:  That's right.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, with
  

19   that, Hearing Exhibits SL-1 through SL-18 are admitted.
  

20                 (Exhibits SL-1 through SL-18 were admitted
  

21        into evidence.)
  

22                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you.  And I guess at
  

23   this point I'd just like to turn it to panel number three
  

24   for any conclusory remarks they might like to make, if
  

25   that's all right.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Certainly.  And if there's
  

 2   any additional questions by members.
  

 3                 MR. PATTERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

 4                 Some conclusory -- conclusionary remarks.
  

 5   Hopefully our team's been able to provide you with a
  

 6   comprehensive review of the Apache to Vail segment of the
  

 7   Southline project, giving an overview of the technical,
  

 8   engineering, land use, environmental, and other aspects.
  

 9                 We've tried to convey the importance of our
  

10   goal of the reason of why we're pursuing upgrading
  

11   existing lines in general to minimize the impacts and the
  

12   specific WAPA line and why we're upgrading that.
  

13                 We talked -- we hopefully hit on the
  

14   current situation of WAPA's easement and how it really
  

15   predates other development that has grown up around it.
  

16   And hopefully we were able to give you a good
  

17   understanding of the 15-plus years of public engagement
  

18   and emphasize to you that we are committed to continuing
  

19   that type of engagement and coordination, you know,
  

20   through the life of the project and into its service.
  

21                 The impacts of this project were
  

22   comprehensively studied in a full Environmental Impact
  

23   Statement and it has been before the public and the
  

24   committee three times, as facts have changed and needed
  

25   amendments.  And, you know, hopefully you've seen the
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 1   level of diligence that we've brought to really treating
  

 2   this amendment, you know, frankly as if it's a brand-new
  

 3   CEC in our minds.
  

 4                 You know, fifth, the alternatives really to
  

 5   upgrading the WAPA line, actually there were alternatives
  

 6   that had been considered, but they were determined to
  

 7   either increase impacts or to shift impacts on others,
  

 8   which is really why upgrading the WAPA line is the least
  

 9   way -- least impact path forward.
  

10                 And, finally, that Arizona really stands to
  

11   benefit from potential increase of up to ten times
  

12   capacity if we are able to upgrade this line with
  

13   relatively minimal impacts.
  

14                 And just, in conclusion, a few points, the
  

15   CEC upgrade Apache to Vail route really would aid the
  

16   state and the Southwest region in meeting the need for an
  

17   adequate, economical, and reliable supply of electric
  

18   power.
  

19                 Second, that the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

20   route aids the state in preserving a safe and reliable
  

21   electric transmission system.
  

22                 Third, the conditions placed on the CEC
  

23   Apache to Vail upgrade route in this CEC, as amended,
  

24   effectively minimized the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

25   route's impact on the environment and ecology of the
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 1   state.
  

 2                 Fourth, the conditions placed on the CEC
  

 3   Apache to Vail upgrade route in the CEC resolve matters
  

 4   concerning balancing the need for the project with the
  

 5   CEC route's impact on the environment and ecology of the
  

 6   state, arising to the -- arising during the course of the
  

 7   proceedings and, as such, serve as findings and
  

 8   conclusions.
  

 9                 Fifth, the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route
  

10   is in the public interest because the project's
  

11   contribution to meeting the need for an adequate,
  

12   economical, and reliable supply of electric power
  

13   outweighs the minimized impact of the CEC Apache to Vail
  

14   upgrade route on the environment and ecology of the
  

15   state.
  

16                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Would you like to give a
  

18   closing or was that it?
  

19                 MS. GRABEL:  I think I'll waive my closing,
  

20   per Mr. Patterson's remarks.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

22                 All right.  I guess that brings us now to
  

23   the Recommended Opinion and Order Certificate.  I think
  

24   this time since this is a different situation than we
  

25   normally find ourselves in, I think what I propose to
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 1   do -- and I think we should probably take a short break
  

 2   before we come back and start addressing the Certificate.
  

 3   Hearing Exhibit SL-16 is the proposed order making the
  

 4   changes to the CEC -- my thought is that we would just
  

 5   vote the entire order -- well, move it and then make some
  

 6   changes to it, because I know there's, like, a couple of
  

 7   typos.
  

 8                 I think there are some things we kind of
  

 9   need to talk about, but I think the way it's laid out, I
  

10   had to look at it a couple of times, but I think now it's
  

11   pretty clear what the changes are, because in the
  

12   Decision that sent it to us, the Commission made three
  

13   changes, which are already in here.  I think I'd like to
  

14   call those out in the redline version, so it's clear what
  

15   changes were made, and then there's the additional
  

16   changes that we're going to vote on today, to make -- to
  

17   amend the CEC to include this section.
  

18                 So any thoughts, comments before we take a
  

19   brief recess?
  

20                 (No response.)
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's take a
  

22   10-minute recess.
  

23                 (Recessed from 2:08 p.m. until 2:28 p.m.)
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's go back
  

25   on the record.  I think we're now ready to consider --
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 1   we'll be starting with Hearing Exhibit SL-16, which is
  

 2   the Proposed Order and CEC from the applicant.
  

 3                 We'll be starting with that instead of
  

 4   typically the Chairman's 1.  In this case the Chairman's
  

 5   1 will be the Word document that we end up with at the
  

 6   end of the day.  And so if members would get to their
  

 7   Exhibit 16, there's a number of components, the first is
  

 8   the Recommended Order from the Commission, the vote, and
  

 9   it describes the changes that we're making to the CEC.
  

10                 And then the second part is the clean copy
  

11   of what the Certificate looks like now, after having been
  

12   amended previously and again today.  And there's actually
  

13   two amendments being incorporated into this, there's the
  

14   changes that the Commission made when they issued
  

15   Decision -- I have it here -- 81551, there was five
  

16   changes requested by the applicant, that order granted
  

17   three, but it didn't provide an amendment to the CEC, and
  

18   so they've been incorporated into the clean and the
  

19   redline version, which is the last section is the redline
  

20   version.
  

21                 Wait, no, it's not.  Then there's the new
  

22   Exhibit D which has the maps of this portion of the line.
  

23   So there's the order, there's the clean version of the
  

24   CEC, there's the redlined CEC, and then there's the new
  

25   Exhibit D, which is the maps.
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 1                 And so my proposal is that we just move
  

 2   this entire exhibit and then go through and make changes
  

 3   to it to reflect some things to make it more clear.  And
  

 4   then my intention of how we can file this is that we can
  

 5   have -- because, like, the original order has Exhibits A,
  

 6   B and C, A and C are maps, B is the agreement with Game
  

 7   and Fish.  Now when they had originally did it, that had
  

 8   yet to be executed.
  

 9                 Has that been executed I guess is my
  

10   question to the applicant?
  

11                 MS. GRABEL:  Yes, it has.
  

12                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Hill.
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  I guess in order to move this
  

15   forward, I'll move your motion.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Exhibit SL-16 to adopt the
  

17   Recommended Opinion and Order and amended Certificate?
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  Correct.  So moved.
  

19                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Was that second from Member
  

21   Mercer?
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.
  

24                 MEMBER HILL:  Now we can discuss?
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, so --
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  I have a question, that's
  

 2   all.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Hill?
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  So the document that's on the
  

 5   screen is the one that starts on page 34 in SL-16 on the
  

 6   tablets, is that correct, it's the redline version
  

 7   that --
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No, we're working -- we're
  

 9   starting at the very beginning, page 1.
  

10                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  So I guess that was my
  

11   question.  Are we actually going to go through the Order
  

12   language from the Commission or are we just going to
  

13   focus on the Certificate of Environmental compliance --
  

14   or Compatibility for review?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We're just going to go
  

16   through the whole thing.
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I'm looking at -- some
  

19   of this stuff I don't think we need to vote on.  I think,
  

20   for example, like, on page 4, the hearing dates, I think
  

21   the motion at the end to allow me correct errors and fill
  

22   in the vote count and that sort of thing will cover it,
  

23   and removing Members Comstock and Fontes from the list of
  

24   members that participated in the hearing.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I also noticed that the
  

 3   digits in 77980 or 890, whichever is the correct way of
  

 4   doing it, are reversed.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Where?  What page?
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Well, off and on.  Here and
  

 7   there.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Which --
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  On all the pages.  I would
  

10   just suggest that we allow you to go through and make
  

11   sure that it's correct.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What are you -- I'm not
  

13   sure what you're talking about.  I missed that.
  

14                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It is the Decision Number
  

15   77 -- is it 980 or 890 is the --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, there's four
  

17   decisions total.  The first one that granted the CEC is
  

18   79 -- no, 75978.  And then there was a Decision 77755
  

19   that remanded it back to the committee that we
  

20   don't -- that one's not really relevant to this.  The
  

21   next one is 77890, which is the Order amending the
  

22   Certificate from January of 2021.  And then there is the
  

23   81551 from November of 2000 -- of 2025 that made
  

24   several -- three changes and sent it to us.
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair?
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  It's the 77980 or 77890 that
  

 3   is inconsistent in the document, and so I think that's
  

 4   what we're trying to say is that you need to review the
  

 5   notations around that Decision, because here I'm looking
  

 6   at it and it's 77980.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, I see your point.
  

 8   There it is.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you.
  

10                 MS. GRABEL:  And that error, as I'm looking
  

11   through it is in several locations.  I think that's right
  

12   once, so our apologies.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think that counts as a
  

14   scrivener's error that we don't need to go through the
  

15   document.  I just need to make sure when I finalize it I
  

16   change it.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That was my whole point
  

18   that I was trying to say when I was muted.  Thank you.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then on page 6, I'll
  

20   need to fill in the vote count and then put the date when
  

21   it gets filed, which should be the date of the
  

22   Recommended Opinion and Order.  So those are all just
  

23   technical changes that I think are covered with the
  

24   motion at the end.
  

25                 The next one is down at the footnote of
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 1   page 7.  Now, the Decision 77890, they didn't provide a
  

 2   clean copy, it's the redlined version.  But they -- the
  

 3   redlined version made revisions to the original
  

 4   Certificate.  But looking at this one, it appears to me
  

 5   that the redline -- the description in the Order of the
  

 6   changes to the Certificate are based on the redline
  

 7   attached to 77890; is that correct?
  

 8                 MS. GRABEL:  I do not think that is
  

 9   correct.  We did provide a clean copy.  It's the document
  

10   immediately following the proposed Recommended Opinion
  

11   and Order.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right, but I'm looking at
  

13   page 7, it says, CEC-173, as follows, and it goes to
  

14   page 3, lines 16 to 21.
  

15                 MS. GRABEL:  Right.  So that page 3,
  

16   line 16 to 21 would refer to the clean version.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The clean version of what?
  

18                 MS. GRABEL:  The clean version of the CEC.
  

19   So that you've got the proposed Recommended Opinion and
  

20   Order and following that is the clean version of the CEC,
  

21   and following that is a redline that would incorporate
  

22   the requests that we've made in this proceeding, and
  

23   so --
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  That's my confusion,
  

25   because the amendments in that portion are referring to a
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 1   document with changes that are already made in it,
  

 2   correct?
  

 3                 MS. GRABEL:  Correct.  So we put together a
  

 4   clean version that attempted to incorporate all of the
  

 5   amendments that had been approved to the date of this
  

 6   proceeding.  So that included all of the changes that
  

 7   were approved for the Vail to Tortolita proceeding and
  

 8   all the changes that have been approved by the Commission
  

 9   already in our motion to amend prior to the remand.
  

10                 And so that is what is reflected in the
  

11   clean version.  So then when you look at, for example,
  

12   page 3, line 16 to 21, if you go to our clean version
  

13   there you'll see the portion that we are attempting to
  

14   amend with this ordering paragraph.  Although it looks
  

15   like it should be 17 to 22, not 16 to 21.  But that's --
  

16   it's the same document.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Hmm.  Yes, but if
  

18   you -- so the numbers are all on it, but if you look at
  

19   the redline version attached to 77890, the page and line
  

20   numbers line up.  That's -- hence my confusion.  Because
  

21   if you go to page 3, lines 22 and 23, 22 is --
  

22                 MS. GRABEL:  I see what you're saying.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- over 370 miles, that's
  

24   why I thought you were making the change -- because this
  

25   is -- this has the prior changes to it except for the
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 1   ones made by Decision 81551 and the committee today.
  

 2                 MS. GRABEL:  No, you're correct.  You
  

 3   actually are correct now that I'm looking at it, although
  

 4   that shouldn't be the way it is.  Do you want me to go
  

 5   through and modify it quickly, take a 10-minute break and
  

 6   come back, or do you want to just refer to it against the
  

 7   redline?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think the faster, easier
  

 9   way is just to amend the footnote on page 7 of the
  

10   Recommended Opinion and Order saying that the reference
  

11   to line numbers in the ordering paragraphs tie to the
  

12   redlined CEC attached to Decision Number 77890, in the
  

13   footnote, because that seems -- that's what it lines up
  

14   with.
  

15                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

16                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

18                 (No response.)
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

20                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

21                 MR. SABO:  So tied to the redline in --
  

22                 MS. GRABEL:  Just delete it.
  

23                 MS. HILL:  Order.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We're on page 7 of the
  

25   order on Footnote 1.
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 1                 MR. SABO:  Yes.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So I think don't do it
  

 3   redline for this one, because we're going to add redline
  

 4   stuff to the redline version.
  

 5                 MR. SABO:  What -- what do you want it to
  

 6   say?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, okay.  Let's see, I
  

 8   can't see it.  Okay.  Here we go.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  It's up there.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I can see it.  I would move
  

11   that "tied to the redline" in to after, take that out, so
  

12   the sentence would be "The references to line numbers in
  

13   the ordering paragraphs tie to the redlined CEC attached
  

14   to Decision Number 77890."
  

15                 MEMBER HILL:  That was my amendment.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's been moved and
  

17   seconded.  Wait, we passed it, didn't we?
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  We passed it.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Now we just can see it on
  

20   the screen, okay, that's what I thought.
  

21                 All right.  Okay.  Then I believe on the
  

22   next page 8, line 8, where it says the 136-mile, I
  

23   believe that should be 193; is that correct,
  

24   Ms. Grabel?
  

25                 MS. GRABEL:  That is correct.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Can I get a motion?
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 6                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

10   is adopted.
  

11                 All right.  Are there any other needed
  

12   revisions to the Order portion?  I'm looking to the
  

13   applicant.
  

14                 MS. GRABEL:  No, sir.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  I think that
  

16   covers it.
  

17                 All right.  And then, let's see, moving on
  

18   to the clean version of the CEC, starting on, well, I
  

19   guess it's -- or is it a PDF?  Page 13 of the PDF.  Or
  

20   the numbered, since it's a prior one, you don't need to
  

21   worry about the -- these are the actual members who heard
  

22   the case originally.  But I believe on page 3, line 19,
  

23   because there's a double-circuit 230-kV, and then a
  

24   double-circuit 230/345-kV, depending on where along the
  

25   entire route because you have -- it's the Vail to --
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 1                 MS. GRABEL:  Vail to Tortolita --
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- Tortolita.
  

 3                 MS. GRABEL:  -- is a double-circuit 230-kV.
  

 4                 Would it be easier to make these changes,
  

 5   though, in the redlined because the redline will already
  

 6   reflect the changes that are being made at this
  

 7   proceeding?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's a good idea.  We can
  

 9   just go -- we might as well just go -- we can skip past
  

10   this and go to the redline and then incorporate the
  

11   changes that we make to the redline into the clean
  

12   version so that's clean.  Excellent.  So that will take
  

13   us to page 3 of the redline.
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  And page 34 for those of us
  

15   who are working off of a tablet.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Are you sure it's 34?
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  35, sorry.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  36.
  

19                 MEMBER HILL:  How do you make the pages
  

20   show up?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, here it is.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  Oh, okay.  Page 35.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  35.  Page 3 of the redlined
  

24   Certificate, looking to line 18.
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair, are you looking
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 1   for a motion for each individual edit or do you want me
  

 2   to do it by the paragraph?
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I don't think we need
  

 4   to -- because we have the -- these are the edits that
  

 5   show in this redline are the ones that are being changed
  

 6   according to either our decision today or Decision Number
  

 7   81551.  For example, the addition of the 345-kV, because
  

 8   the 230/345-kV that's the section today.  And then
  

 9   there's the double-circuit 230-kV, which is the one
  

10   Tortolita to Vail.
  

11                 MS. GRABEL:  Vail to Tortolita, correct.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So how would -- do you want
  

13   to -- have you got a suggestion to add --
  

14                 MS. GRABEL:  Yes, I think because we
  

15   describe the Vail to Tortolita section separately from
  

16   the Apache to Vail section later in this CEC, we can just
  

17   say the 121 miles of two existing WAPA 115-k
  

18   line segments to double-circuit 230-kV and 230-kV/345-kV
  

19   line segments.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So that would
  

21   say, starting at line 16, number 2, "The upgrade of
  

22   approximately 121 miles of two existing Western Area
  

23   Power Administration 115-kV line segments, two
  

24   double-circuit 230-kV, and 230-kV/345-kV line segments
  

25   located in Cochise, Pima and Pinal counties."

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME II    01/13/2026 366

  

 1                 Can I get a motion?
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 3                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 7                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

11   passes.
  

12                 All right.  So we leave it -- okay.  And
  

13   then, like, they have to add the cities of Tucson and
  

14   Benson, because they're impacted by this segment, but not
  

15   the other segments.  And then we have -- that's it for
  

16   this page.  On the next page, line 6, the 136 at the end
  

17   should be 193.
  

18                 Is there anything else on this page that
  

19   needs to be corrected?  I'm looking to you, Meghan.
  

20                 MS. GRABEL:  Pardon me?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Anything else on this page
  

22   that needs to get changed?
  

23                 MS. GRABEL:  Not that I know of, no.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

25                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  The next page has the
  

 2   redlines that are made due to the issues before the
  

 3   committee today.  It references Exhibit D, which is the
  

 4   five pages of maps at the end of Exhibit SL-16.
  

 5                 MS. GRABEL:  Correct.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then on page 7 it
  

 7   references the Exhibit D again.  And another conforming
  

 8   change I would make is to bold every time it refers to
  

 9   Exhibit A, B, C, or D, because it's easier to find the
  

10   references.
  

11                 Okay.  And then on page 9, that's
  

12   from -- that change is partially from the committee and
  

13   partially from the number two request, because to change
  

14   this section to 345, that was what the Commission already
  

15   approved before they sent it to the committee.
  

16                 MS. GRABEL:  That was true for the
  

17   new-build route, Mr. Chairman.  We -- this committee is
  

18   authorizing the change to 345 within the CEC --
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

20                 MS. GRABEL:  -- for this section of the
  

21   upgrade, Apache to Vail section.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So they changed --
  

23   it was the new-build route from New Mexico to Vail, or
  

24   no, to Apache?
  

25                 MS. GRABEL:  Correct.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  And the rest of
  

 2   these are just adding "Benson" until we get to page 14.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes.
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  I just -- this says something
  

 6   a little bit different than I remember from testimony, so
  

 7   on page 9, we understood who would own and operate the
  

 8   circuits, but there was a discussion about not being
  

 9   clear about the structures, but this here says
  

10   specifically that the ownership of the structures
  

11   supporting the circuits will be shared.  Is that -- do
  

12   you want that language in there?  Is it relevant?  Or is
  

13   that something that's still being negotiated?
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, the last sentence,
  

15   you're talking about?
  

16                 MEMBER HILL:  Yeah.
  

17                 MS. GRABEL:  That is what was reflected in
  

18   our application, and it wasn't intended to be hard stone,
  

19   what was necessarily going to be shared, but we're
  

20   comfortable with deleting it.  I think that's a good
  

21   call.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that your motion?
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  To delete the last sentence
  

25   on page 9 of the redline?
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 6                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, that
  

10   amendment is adopted.
  

11                 Okay.  Back to page 14.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Now that we've amended
  

15   that, do we have to receive the amended piece?
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We've moved the entire
  

17   exhibit as our Recommended Opinion and Order, the clean
  

18   version of the CEC, and the redline version of the CEC
  

19   and Exhibit D.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so once -- so now we're
  

22   just going to make individual amendments and then at the
  

23   end we'll move them all as amended and then do a roll
  

24   call vote on that.
  

25                 Okay.  Moving to page 14, line 17, the
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 1   public or private in parentheses, that was a change
  

 2   authorized by the Commission in Decision 81551, correct?
  

 3                 MS. GRABEL:  That is correct.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  I'll just show
  

 5   it in redline right here.
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  One more time.  I'm having
  

 7   trouble following along, page what?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Page 14 of the redline,
  

 9   line 17, the very first words are "private or public" in
  

10   parentheses.
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Great.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And my other thought was
  

13   that the first line is "Applicant shall pursue reasonable
  

14   efforts to work with private landowners on whose property
  

15   the CEC route or right-of-way will be located to mitigate
  

16   the impacts."
  

17                 Do you want to just remove the "private"
  

18   there, because I remember there was a discussion about
  

19   that at the Commission when they made the change.
  

20                 MS. GRABEL:  So the way when I went back
  

21   and read the transcript of the original proceedings is
  

22   the intent of 14 was to protect the rights of private
  

23   landowners, which is why we left that word there intact.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

25                 MS. GRABEL:  But then the solution to
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 1   accommodate private landowners was to enable us to change
  

 2   the route on private or public lands, and that's why we
  

 3   addressed it on line 17.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 5                 MS. GRABEL:  But if you want to remove
  

 6   "private," I don't have a problem with that.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That's fine.  I'll leave
  

 8   it.  I'm fine leaving it.  I just -- for the -- where it
  

 9   shows here it needs to be, it should just be added and
  

10   not stricken for the redline.
  

11                 MS. GRABEL:  Correct.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So accept the deletion.
  

13   Oh, I think you accepted something else.  The cursor was
  

14   in a different spot, I think.  Just right click on it.
  

15   There you go.  Accept deletion.  Bingo.  There we go.
  

16                 All right.  Now, for this one, and then --
  

17   we've already made this amendment, correct?
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  So this shows
  

20   the redline that that's added because of the Commission's
  

21   decision.  And then I think we get to page 17, Condition
  

22   27.  It says 20 years instead of 10 years like in the
  

23   original.  And that was a change that the Commission
  

24   authorized in the Decision 81551, so we can -- can I get
  

25   a motion to make that as a redline change?
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 2                 MEMBER MERCER:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 6                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

 8                 (No response.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the amendment
  

10   is adopted.
  

11                 And then we strike 31 and renumber.  I
  

12   think that's all I have other than grammatical and then,
  

13   of course, making sure that the -- all the redline
  

14   versions show up and the changes show up in the clean
  

15   copy, which I think they already do.  The only thing is
  

16   we need to make the changes or the typos, like the wrong
  

17   numbers, the numbers for the decisions, make sure they're
  

18   the right ones.
  

19                 MS GRABEL:  Okay.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then so we -- we've
  

21   already -- this is Exhibit D is the new maps.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  Do we need to look at those?
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  By all means.  I don't
  

24   think we need to -- I think they cover the widths of the
  

25   rights-of-way.  I mean, they're pretty constrained
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 1   because it's all the WAPA right-of-way.  But my
  

 2   understanding where it's wider than the actual WAPA
  

 3   right-of-way, it's you probably wouldn't be constructing
  

 4   the line outside of the WAPA right-of-way, but if you're
  

 5   close to the edge, you need that additional width to --
  

 6   for sway.
  

 7                 MS. GRABEL:  Correct.  That's true, isn't
  

 8   it?  Yes.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  All right.  So I
  

10   think now when they put this together to file, I think we
  

11   should have -- it will be the Recommended Opinion and
  

12   Order, the clean copy of the CEC with all the changes to
  

13   date.  And then I think the order might be better to have
  

14   Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C, and Exhibit D
  

15   sequentially after the Certificate, so you can --
  

16                 MS. GRABEL:  All in one place.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in one place and then
  

18   have the redline at the end in case people want to go
  

19   look and see what specifically was changed.
  

20                 MS. GRABEL:  That makes sense to me.  And
  

21   one thing that our team is considering doing is revising
  

22   map 5 to the proposed Exhibit D to kind of close that gap
  

23   that Member Little noted when we were talking about the
  

24   corridor maps, you know, there was that box and then the
  

25   gap.  I don't know that our team feels very strongly
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 1   about it, but we can modify it and send you a revised
  

 2   version when we put the whole packet together.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And what specific change --
  

 4   I'm looking at page 5 of 5 of Exhibit D.
  

 5                 MS. GRABEL:  Page 5, correct.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  What would the proposed
  

 7   change be?
  

 8                 MR. BECK:  It's on the screen.
  

 9                 MS. GRABEL:  It would be to add a corridor
  

10   that would allow us -- part of that is within Vail to
  

11   Tortolita, as I understand it.
  

12                 Mr. Agner, do you want to discuss?
  

13                 MR. AGNER:  Yeah, that's why I came over
  

14   here is to just provide a little bit of context to it.
  

15   So, as Member Little noted during her discussion with us,
  

16   there is a slight gap between that blue box and where the
  

17   TEP Vail to Tortolita CEC corridor ends.  And so what we
  

18   would like to propose to do to address what Member Little
  

19   saw to close that gap is we would extend the 800-foot box
  

20   to be a little bit longer along the north to south
  

21   segment to be able to connect the CEC corridor from the
  

22   Vail to Tortolita amendment to this -- to that blue box.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I think -- can I get a
  

24   motion to amend page 5 of Exhibit D to make that -- to
  

25   reflect that change?
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 1                 MEMBER HILL:  Sure.  So moved.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 4                 (No response.)
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  I just wanted to make sure
  

 6   Member Little got a chance to weigh in on whether or not
  

 7   that satisfied her needs.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

 9                 MEMBER LITTLE:  This map and -- this map I
  

10   think is fine, it doesn't -- at least the version I'm
  

11   looking at on the exhibits, it doesn't look like there's
  

12   a gap there.  It was only obvious when we were looking at
  

13   the real close-in area.  What do others think about this?
  

14   I don't see a gap here.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Where was the map that
  

16   showed the gap?
  

17                 MS. GRABEL:  It was Exhibit A-1 to the
  

18   application.  Honestly, I'm comfortable with this as it
  

19   is and I believe Mr. Phillips is as well, so I don't know
  

20   that we need the revision.
  

21                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I think it's fine.
  

22                 MEMBER HILL:  I withdraw my motion.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Excellent.
  

24                 All right.  Well, with that, can I get a
  

25   motion to adopt the Recommended Opinion and Order and
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 1   Certificate and exhibits --
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  So moved.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- as amended?
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes, so moved.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 7                 (No response.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  We'll do a roll call vote.
  

 9                 Member Kryder?
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Mercer?
  

12                 MEMBER MERCER:  Yes.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  Yes.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Drago?
  

16                 MEMBER DRAGO:  Aye.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member French?
  

18                 MEMBER FRENCH:  Aye.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little?
  

20                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman, may I make a
  

21   short statement?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I would just like to say
  

24   that I, in reading the original CEC, there are two
  

25   conditions in that CEC that require the applicant to work
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 1   closely with homeowners, landowners in siting the final
  

 2   design of exactly where the line is.  In addition, I have
  

 3   become convinced over the period of this hearing that the
  

 4   applicant intends to do that anyway.  And I would like to
  

 5   thank the applicant for being patient with my frustration
  

 6   in this whole process.  This has been very different than
  

 7   anything we've dealt with before.  And I appreciate their
  

 8   understanding.
  

 9                 And with that, I vote aye.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant?
  

11                 MEMBER FANT:  Yes.  May I make a short
  

12   statement, Mr. Chair?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please.
  

14                 MEMBER FANT:  I just want to thank the
  

15   applicants for the presentation and also for committing
  

16   capital to help build the infrastructure here in the
  

17   state of Arizona.
  

18                 I vote aye.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member DiCiccio?
  

20                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Yes.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And I vote aye.
  

22                 By a vote of 9 ayes and 0 nays, Certificate
  

23   173 is amended again.
  

24                 Can I get a motion to finalize the
  

25   Recommended Opinion and Order, Certificate, and exhibits,
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 1   to correct scrivener's errors, numbers of decisions,
  

 2   grammatical?
  

 3                 MEMBER FANT:  So moved.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Second.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Further discussion?
  

 6                 (No response.)
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All in favor say aye.
  

 8                 (A chorus of "ayes.")
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Opposed?
  

10                 (No response.)
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Hearing none, the motion
  

12   passes.
  

13                 All right.  Thank you very much.  This is
  

14   the third time this committee has heard this Certificate,
  

15   hopefully third time is the charm.
  

16                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you all for your time.
  

17   I really appreciate it.  The whole team does.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you very much.
  

19                 With that, we are adjourned.
  

20                 (The hearing concluded at 3:03 p.m.)
  

21
  

22
  

23
  

24
  

25
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